

139 East Fourth Street, R. 25 At II P.O. Box 960 Cincinnati, Ohio 45201-0960 Tel: 513-419-1837 Fax: 513-419-1846

> Dianne B. Kuhnell. Senior Paralegal

VIA OVERNIGHT DELIVERY

May 22, 2009

Mr. Jeff Derouen Executive Director Kentucky Public Service Commission 211 Sower Boulevard Frankfort, Kentucky 40602-0615

RECEIVED

dianne.kuhnelll@duke-energy.com

MAY 26 2009

PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

Re: In the Matter of the Joint Application of Duke Energy Corporation, Duke Energy Holding Corp., Deer Acquisition Corp., Cougar Acquisition Corp., Cinergy Corp., The Cincinnati Gas & Electric Company and The Union Light, Heat and Power Company for Approval of a Transfer and Acquisition of Control, Case No. 2005-00228.

Dear Mr. Derouen:

In the Settlement Agreement in the above-referenced case, Duke Energy Kentucky, Inc. (Duke Energy Kentucky) made several merger commitments. Attached herein are:

- 1. An original and ten copies of the Public version of the Final Report Audit of Merger-Related Agreements-Duke Energy Kentucky in response to Merger Commitment No. 12;
- 2. A Confidential version of the Report is enclosed under seal with an original and ten copies of the Petition Of Duke Energy Kentucky, Inc. For Confidential Treatment Of Information Contained In The Liberty Consulting Group's Final Report Audit Of Merger-Related Agreements Dated May 19, 2009.

Please file stamp the two copies of this letter and the Petition enclosed herein and return in the enclosed return-addressed envelope.

Very truly yours, Lefrel

Dianne B. Kuhnell Senior Paralegal

cc: Hon. Dennis G. Howard, II Hon. David E. Spenard Hon. Michael L. Kurtz

COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY

BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

In the Matter of:

Joint Application of Duke Energy Corporation, Duke Energy Holding Corp., Deer Acquisition Corp., Cougar Acquisition Corp., Cinergy Corp., The Cincinnati Gas & Electric Company, and The Union Light, Heat and Power Company for Approval of a Transfer and Acquisition of Control

Case No. 2005-00228

PETITION OF DUKE ENERGY KENTUCKY, INC. FOR CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT OF INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE LIBERTY CONSULTING GROUP'S FINAL REPORT AUDIT OF MERGER-RELATED AGREEMENTS DATED MAY 19, 2009.

Duke Energy Kentucky, Inc. (Duke Energy Kentucky or Company), pursuant to 807 KAR 5:001, Section 7, respectfully requests the Commission to classify and protect certain information provided in Liberty Consulting Group's Final Report Audit of Merger Related Agreements Duke Energy Kentucky (Audit Report). The Audit Report was required by Merger Commitment No. 12 as set forth in the Order issued by the Commission in Case No. 2005-00228. The information Duke Energy Kentucky seeks confidential treatment (Confidential Information) includes but is not limited to: (1) a summary of 2007 affiliate transactions across the Duke Energy Corporation holding Company structure (Duke Energy); (2) overall governance and labor charges, including labor to and from affiliates across Duke Energy; (3) Corporate allocation percentages from various departments to Duke Energy Kentucky; (4) inter-company charges to affiliates and detailed requests for service to affiliates. All of the above-described Confidential Information contains sensitive business

RECEIVED

MAY 26 2009

PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION and financial information, the disclosure of which would injure Duke Energy Kentucky, and its affiliates, and compromise the companies' respective competitive positions and business interests.

In support of this Petition, Duke Energy Kentucky states:

1. The Kentucky Open Records Act exempts from disclosure certain commercial information. KRS 61.878 (1)(c). To qualify for this exemption and, therefore, maintain the confidentiality of the information, a party must establish that disclosure of the commercial information would permit an unfair advantage to competitors of that party. Public disclosure of the information identified herein would, in fact, prompt such a result for the reasons set forth below.

2. The Commission approved the merger of Duke Energy and Cinergy Corp. in Case No. 2005-00228. As part of its merger commitments, Duke Energy Kentucky agreed to have an independent audit of the various service agreements approved as part of the merger. The first Audit Report was recently completed by Liberty Consulting Group and the Audit Report was developed. The Audit Report details a comprehensive audit of the various agreements and by necessity the Audit Report describes sensitive financial information and other business operations of Duke Energy Kentucky as well as the other parties to the various agreements. Duke Energy Kentucky on its own behalf, as well as on behalf of the other entities whose financial and business operation information is described in the Audit Report, respectfully request that certain limited information described in this petition be withheld from public disclosure and be maintained under seal.

3. The Confidential Information contained in pages 7-8 and 24 depicts summaries of affiliate transactions including costs. Disclosure would make public the operating costs of

not only Duke Energy Kentucky, but also of its affiliated regulated utilities and affiliated non-regulated companies under the Duke Energy Holding Company structure, which are permitted to provide one another goods and services under Commission- approved agreements. Disclosing this information would provide Duke Energy Kentucky's competitors, as well as competitors of its sister utilities and non-regulated affiliated companies with insight into how the utilities in the Duke Energy Holding Company structure operate. This information could provide a distinct competitive advantage to vendors in bidding for and securing new contracts for services to Duke Energy Kentucky, not to mention its affiliates. It could also provide a competitive advantage to a competitor of Duke Energy Kentucky, its sister utilities mentioned in the Audit Report, and the affiliated nonregulated companies listed.

3. Pages 49, 51-64 and 72-73, 102 of the Audit Report list and describe information regarding overall charges from Duke Energy Business Services (DEBS) to Duke Energy Kentucky, its sister utilities, and its non-regulated affiliates. The information includes, but is not limited to, labor charges for the individual business units, corporate governance allocations, Duke Energy Kentucky's allocated costs for various departments, and costs for the various utility operating companies and non-utility affiliates in Duke Energy. Public disclosure would afford vendors a distinct competitive advantage in bidding for and securing new contracts for services provided to Duke Energy Kentucky and its affiliates. Disclosure would also afford an obvious advantage to competitors of Duke Energy Kentucky or any of its listed affiliates, in any contractual negotiations and would necessarily impair Duke Energy Kentucky's or its affiliates ability to negotiate with prospective contractors and vendors.

4. The Confidential Information contained in tables and charts on pages 80-99 details the charges, for loaded labor, materials, vehicle expense, outside services, and journal entries by and between the regulated utilities and non regulated affiliates in Duke Energy. The information also includes descriptions and estimated and actual costs of specific services that were requested during the audit period by and between the various companies in Duke Energy. These services were performed according to the various Commission –approved service agreements. The information would afford competitors of any of the named companies, a distinct competitive advantage in bidding for and securing new contracts for services. It would give competitors keen insight on how the various named entities operate and what the exact costs include. Further, public disclosure would afford an obvious advantage to competitors in any contractual negotiations and would necessarily impair Duke Energy Kentucky's ability to negotiate with prospective contractors and vendors.

5. The Confidential Information contained in pages 105-106 pertains to the Commission-approved Utility Money Pool Agreement. The Money Pool Agreement allows the parties to more efficiently use cash by pooling daily excess and deficits of funds. The Confidential Information details the participation levels of all of the parties to the agreement, including Duke Energy Kentucky. It also includes Duke Energy Kentucky's monthly borrowing under this agreement. This information is maintained internally by Duke Energy Kentucky personnel, is not on file with any public agency, and is not available from any commercial or other source outside Duke Energy Kentucky. Releasing the information will give potential creditors and lendors insight into sensitive and confidential financial operations of Duke Energy Kentucky.

6. The aforementioned Confidential Information in all pages listed is distributed within Duke Energy and Duke Energy Kentucky only to those employees who must have access for business reasons, and is generally recognized as confidential and proprietary in the energy industry.

7. The information for which Duke Energy Kentucky is seeking confidential treatment is not known outside of Duke Energy.

8. Duke Energy Kentucky does not object to limited disclosure of the confidential information described herein, pursuant to an acceptable protective agreement, to the Attorney General or other stakeholders with a legitimate interest in reviewing the same.

9. In accordance with the provisions of 807 KAR 5:001 Section 7, the Company is providing the Commission one copy of the Confidential Material highlighted and ten copies without the confidential information. Duke Energy Kentucky has taken steps to only seek confidential treatment of the sensitive information contained in the responses, and in the interest of disclosure is only seeking confidential treatment of specifically identified information.

WHEREFORE, Duke Energy Kentucky, Inc. respectfully requests that the Commission classify and protect as confidential the specific information described herein.

Respectfully submitted,

DUKE ENERGY KENTUCKY nus ABILON

Rocco D'Ascenzo (92796) Senior Counsel Amy B. Spiller (853009) Associate General Counsel 139 E. Fourth Street, 25 AT II P.O. Box 960 Cincinnati, OH 4520 (513) 419-1852 (telephone) (513) 419-1846 (facsimile) e-mail: rocco.d'ascenzo@duke-energy.com

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that a copy of Duke Energy Kentucky, Inc.'s Petition for Confidential Treatment of Information Contained in The Liberty Consulting Group's Final Report Audit of Merger-Related Agreements dated May 19, 2009 was served on the following by overnight mail, this 22^{-4} day of May 2009.

Amy B. Spiller

Honorable Dennis G. Howard, II Honorable David E. Spenard Assistant Attorneys General 1024 Capital Center Drive, Suite 200 Frankfort, Kentucky 40601

RECEIVED

MAY 26 2009 PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

Final Report Audit of Merger-Related Agreements Duke Energy Kentucky

Public Version

Presented to:

The Kentucky Public Service Commission



65 Main Street Quentin, Pennsylvania 17083

(717) 270-4500 (voice) (717) 270-0555 (facsimile) admin@LibertyConsultingGroup.com (e-mail)

May 19, 2009

Table of Contents

I. Introduction	1
A. Purpose of This Report	1
B. Scope	
C. Report Structure	2
II. Service Agreements and Commission Reporting Requirements	
A. Background	3
B. Findings	3
1. Service Agreements	
2. Commission Reporting Requirements	
C. Conclusions	8
D. Recommendations	9
III. Accounting Systems and Processes	10
A. Introduction	10
B. Findings	
1. Accounting Systems	
2. Time Reporting, Payroll. and Labor Charges	
3. Billing	
4. Documentation of Affiliate Transaction Accounting Methods	
5. Internal Audits	17
C. Conclusions	19
D. Recommendations	22
IV. Service Company Overview and Cost Allocation Methods	24
A. Background	24
B. Findings	25
1. Service Company Functions	25
2. Service Company Organization	27
3. Training and Experience of Service Company Personnel	28
4. Service Company Cost Allocation Ratios	
5. Three-Factor Formula Ratio	
6. Extent of Three-Factor Ratio Use	
7. Other Allocation Factors	
8. Number-of-Employees Ratio Calculation	34
9. Effect of the Service Company "Spreading" Approach on Other Ratios	36
10. Allocation Ratios for "Utility-Only" Costs	38
11. Service Company "Overhead"	40
C. Conclusions	
D. Recommendations	47
V. Service Company Charges	49
A. Introduction	49

Final Report Public Version

B. Findings	
1. Charges Not Addressed by the Service Agreement	
2. Correlation between Functions and Responsibility Centers	
3. DEBS Direct and Allocated Charges	
4. DESS Direct and Allocated Charges	
5. Direct and Allocated Charges for Traditional Business Functions	
6. Direct and Allocated Charges for Utility-Related Shared Services	
7. Service Company Cost of Capital	
8. Facilities Rate of Return Allocation Pool	
9. Spectra Transition Agreement	
10. Gas Company Spin-off Costs.	
11. Examination of Senior Executive Labor Charge Distribution	
12. Examination of Service Company Employee Time Reporting	
13. Examination of Service Company Accounts Payable Charges	
C. Conclusions	
D. Recommendations	
VI. Operating Agreements	
A. Introduction	
B. Findings	
1. Inter-company Charges involving DE-Kentucky	
2. Service Request Process	
3. Overhead	
4. DE-Carolinas Code of Conduct	
C. Conclusions	
D. Recommendations	
VII. Transaction Testing	
A. Background	
B. Findings	
1. Service Company Charges	
2. Direct Charges	
3. Allocated Charges	
4. Operating Agreement and Non-utility Agreement Transactions	
C. Conclusions	
D. Recommendations	
VIII. Utility Money Pool Agreement	
A. Background	
B. Findings	
1. 2007 Money Pool Borrowing and Investing	
2. DE-Indiana and DE-Kentucky Monthly Money Pool Activity	
3. Liberty's Testing of Money Pool Operations	
4. Liberty's Testing of Other Agreement Requirements	
C. Conclusions	
D. Recommendations	

Final Report Public Version	Table of Contents	Audit of Merger-Related Agreements Duke Energy-Kentucky
IX. Income Tax Agreement		
A. Background		
0		
3. Tax Return Amendme	ents and Adjustments	
D. Recommendations		

I. Introduction

A. Purpose of This Report

On November 29, 2005, the Kentucky Public Service Commission (KyPSC) issued its Order in Case No. 2005-0028 approving the acquisition and transfer of controls of Union Light, Heat and Power Company (ULH&P), later renamed Duke Energy Kentucky, Inc. (DE-Kentucky), as part of the merger between Cinergy Corp. (Cinergy) and Duke Energy Corporation (Duke Energy). The KPSC approved five merger-related agreements among UHL&P and affiliates:

- Service Company Utility Service Agreement
- Operating Companies Service Agreement
- Operating Company/Non-utility Companies Service Agreement
- Utility Money Pool Agreement
- Agreement for Filing Consolidated Income Tax Returns and for Allocation of Consolidated Income Tax Liabilities and Benefits.

The KPSC also approved an Agreed Stipulation that contains 46 merger commitments. Merger Condition No. 12 has particular relevance to this audit. This condition states as follows:

Applicants commit to implement and maintain cost allocation procedures that will accomplish the objective of preventing cross-subsidization, and be prepared to fully disclose all allocated costs, the portion allocated to ULH&P, complete details of the allocation methods, and justification for the amount and the method.

Under the Condition, DE-Kentucky committed to periodic comprehensive independent thirdparty audits, conducted no less often than every two years, of affiliate transactions under the agreements.

Duke Energy selected The Liberty Consulting Group (Liberty) to perform the audit work. This report addresses the results of Liberty's audit of the five merger-related agreements affecting DE-Kentucky.

B. Scope

The scope of the audit includes a review of:

- Determining DE-Kentucky's compliance with the five merger-related affiliate agreements
- Examining DE-Kentucky's affiliate transactions between January 1, 2007 and December 31, 2007 undertaken pursuant to the merger-related agreements
- Reviewing cost allocation factors in the Service Company Utility Service Agreement
- Assessing the adequacy of cost allocation manuals, policies, procedures, and activities associated with affiliate transactions and cost allocation and assignment
- Verifying through sampling that affiliate transactions are conducted in compliance with applicable requirements and that they are supported by the required documentation.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	I. Introduction	Duke Energy-Kentucky

C. Report Structure

This report has nine chapters. Chapter I provides an introduction. Chapter II provides a brief overview of the three merger-related agreements that apply to services provided among affiliates: the Service Company Utility Service Agreement, the Operating Companies Service Agreement, and the Operating Company/Non-utility Companies Service Agreement. The second chapter also outlines commission reporting requirements for affiliate transactions. Chapter III addresses the accounting-related issues relevant to the service agreements.

The Service Company Utility Service Agreement is complex. This report addresses the issues it raises in two separate chapters. Chapter IV addresses service company cost allocation methods; Chapter V addresses service company charges.

Chapter VI presents the results of Liberty's review of the Operating Companies Service Agreement and the Operating Company/Non-utility Companies Service Agreement. Chapter VII describes the results of Liberty's testing to determine how effectively the company has implemented its methods to price, account for, and report affiliate transactions.

Two merger-related agreements address financial matters. First is the Utility Money Pool Agreement, which Chapter VIII of this report addresses. Second is the Agreement for Filing Consolidated Income Tax Returns and for Allocation of Consolidated Income Tax Liabilities and Benefits, which Chapter IX of this report addresses.



II. Service Agreements and Commission Reporting Requirements

A. Background

Three of the merger-related agreements are service agreements that cover certain transactions between DE-Kentucky and its affiliates. These agreements are:

- Service Company Utility Service Agreement
- Operating Companies Service Agreement
- Operating Company/Non-utility Companies Service Agreement.

The parties to these agreements include, among others, the following subsidiaries, for which Duke Energy Corporation is the ultimate parent:

- The former Cinergy utilities
 - The Cincinnati Gas & Electric Company (CG&E), later renamed Duke Energy Ohio, Inc. (DE-Ohio)
 - o PSI Energy, Inc. (PSI), later renamed Duke Energy Indiana, Inc. (DE-Indiana)
 - Union Light, Heat and Power Company (ULH&P), later renamed Duke Energy Kentucky, Inc. (DE-Kentucky)
 - Miami Power Corporation (Miami Power)
- The former Duke Power utility, later renamed Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC (DE-Carolinas).

DE-Ohio provides electric and gas service in southwestern Ohio, and also owns and operates non-regulated generation assets. DE-Kentucky is a wholly-owned subsidiary of DE-Ohio; DE-Kentucky purchases, sells, stores, and transports natural gas, and generates, sells, and distributes electricity, in several counties in Kentucky. DE-Indiana generates, sells, and distributes electricity in portions of Indiana.

DE-Kentucky filed final versions of the agreements dated April 3, 2006 with the KyPSC in early 2006. The company filed agreement amendments dated January 2, 2007 as part of its recent Annual Report and Cost Allocation Manual filings. The revisions reflected party name and other administrative changes.

The following portions of this report chapter: (a) discuss the results of Liberty's examination of the reasonableness of the language and terms of these three agreements, and (b) provide an overview of commission reporting requirements relevant to this audit.

B. Findings

1. Service Agreements

There are two main categories of services provided among DE-Kentucky and its affiliates under the three service agreements:

• Shared services provided to DE-Kentucky and other affiliates by Duke Energy Business Services (DEBS) and Duke Energy Shared Services (DESS)

Final Report	Audit o	f Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	II. Service Agreements/Reporting	Duke Energy-Kentucky

• Utility-related services provided among DE-Kentucky and its utility and non-utility affiliates.

a. Service Company Utility Service Agreement

The parties on the one side of the Service Company Utility Service Agreement (Service Company Agreement) are DE-Carolinas, DE-Indiana, DE-Kentucky, DE-Ohio, and Miami Power. The parties on the other side are DEBS and DESS, which collectively form the Service Company. The agreement addresses the Service Company's provision of the 23 business functions listed in the following table.

Information Systems	Human Resources	Accounting
Finance	Public Affairs	Legal
Internal Auditing	Investor Relations	Planning
Executive	Transportation	Rates
Meters	Materials Management	Facilities
Fuels	Rights of Way	Marketing/Customer Relations
Power Engineering/Construction	Power Planning/Operations	Environmental, Health and Safety
Electric System Maintenance	T&D Engineering/Construction	

Service	Company	y Functions
---------	---------	-------------

Appendix A to the Service Company Agreement describes the services and the methods for determining charges for these services. There is a separate agreement between the Service Company and non-utility affiliates. The terms, *i.e.*, services, cost assignment, and allocation methods, are essentially the same in both agreements. Appendix A briefly describes each of the functions, and indicates the method of cost allocation applicable for each function. Fully embedded costs form the basis for the pricing of services under the agreement. The agreement defines these costs as the sum of direct costs, indirect costs, and costs of capital. The Appendix to the Service Company Agreement sets forth certain accounting requirements. The Service Company must maintain records of employee-related expenses and other indirect costs for each functional group within the Service Company. Charges for salaries are to be based on time records, computed on the basis of employee labor costs plus fringe benefits, indirect labor costs, and payroll taxes. Indirect costs for each functional group are to be directly assigned when identifiable to a particular activity, process. project, responsibility center, or work order. When not specifically identifiable, the indirect costs of a functional group are to be distributed "in relationship to the directly assigned costs of the Function."

The Service Company should directly assign charges for services that it performed for a single company. Work often applies to two or more companies, a class of companies, or all companies, however. In those cases, the Service Company may allocate the charges among the companies. Appendix A specifies which allocation ratio is used for each Service Company function; the next table lists these ratios.

Service Company Allocation Ratios		
Sales	Electric peak load	Number of customers
Number of employees	Construction expenditures	Number of CPU seconds
Revenues	Inventory	Procurement spending
Square footage	Gross margin	Labor dollars
Number of PC workstations	Net plant, property, and equipment	Generating unit MW capability
Transmission circuit miles	Distribution circuit miles	Number of IS servers

Service Company Allocation Ratios

Appendix A provides a brief definition for each of these allocation ratios. The Appendix also defines a general allocator; *i.e.*, the "three-factor formula" ratio. This allocator is the weighted average of three other defined ratios; *i.e.*, the gross margin ratio, labor dollars ratio, and plant, property, and equipment (PP&E) ratio. The Service Company Agreement defines gross margin as revenues as defined by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), less cost of sales, including but not limited to fuel, purchased power, emission allowances, and other cost of sales.

The Service Company Agreement obligates the Service Company to render to each client company served a monthly statement containing the billing information necessary to identify the costs charged for that month. The client company must remit all charges to the Service Company by the end of the month in which it received the bill.

The agreement requires the Service Company to allow access to its accounts and records, including the computation of allocations, necessary for a state commission or consumer representative to review a utility's operating results. The Service Company received no such requests for such a review during the audit period.

b. Operating Companies Service Agreement

Duke Energy's operating public utilities (DE-Carolinas, DE-Indiana, DE-Kentucky, DE-Ohio, and Miami Power) comprise the parties to the Operating Companies Service Agreement (Operating Agreement). The Operating Agreement authorizes the utility parties to perform services for one another in areas such as engineering and construction, operation and maintenance, installation, equipment testing, generation technical support, environmental, health and safety, and procurement. A utility party may also lend employees to another, provided that such loans do not interfere with the providing utility's business operations or utility responsibilities.

The parties should perform services in accordance with formal Service Requests. Utilities must directly charge for all provided services at fully embedded cost, which includes direct costs, indirect costs, and costs of capital.

The Operating Agreement obligates the service provider to render to each client company a monthly statement reflecting the billing information necessary to identify the costs charged for that month. The client company must remit all charges to the provider by the end of the month in which it received the bill.

Final Report	Audit	of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	II. Service Agreements/Reporting	Duke Energy-Kentucky

The agreement contains language regarding amendments, termination, liability, and indemnification. It also incorporates by reference "DE-Carolinas Conditions," which state that for transactions involving DE-Carolinas priced at anything other than fully embedded cost, DE-Kentucky must provide, 30 days prior to entering into the transactions, written notice to the state commission staff and consumer representative explaining the nature and benefits of the proposed transaction.

c. Operating Company/Non-utility Companies Service Agreement

The parties to the Operating Company/Non-utility Companies Service Agreement (Non-utility Agreement) comprise DE-Kentucky, on the one hand, and non-utility affiliates who execute the agreement, on the other hand. The terms of the Non-utility Agreement largely follow those in the agreement among the operating companies. The Non-utility Agreement, however, includes more detailed liability and indemnification language.

Parties must perform service in accordance with formal Service Requests, and pricing must be based on fully embedded costs. DE-Kentucky may perform the same services (*e.g.*, engineering and construction and equipment testing) for a non-utility affiliate as it does for other utilities. Non-utility affiliates may provide services in such areas as information technology (IT) services; monitoring, surveying, inspecting, constructing, locating, and marking of overhead and underground utility facilities; meter reading; materials management; vegetation management; and marketing and customer relations. The parties may also lend employees to one another, provided that such loans do not interfere with the utility's responsibilities or business operations.

The Non-utility Agreement obligates the service provider to render to each client company a monthly statement reflecting the billing information necessary to identify the costs charged for that month. The client company must remit all charges to the provider by the end of the month in which it received the bill.

2. Commission Reporting Requirements

Liberty reviewed the DE-Kentucky annual reporting requirements for affiliate transactions in general and transactions under the five merger-related agreements covered by this audit in particular.

Title 807 of the Kentucky Administrative Regulations sets forth the requirements for the Annual Report that DE-Kentucky must file with the KyPSC. The report contains, among other things, a description of incidental and non-regulated activities of DE-Kentucky, a list of non-regulated affiliates and a brief description of their activities, and copies of service agreements. It also contains a description of any changes to the Cost Allocation Manual and an updated manual as appropriate.

Kentucky Revised Statute (KRS) 278.2205 specifies that any utility engaging in a non-regulated activity whose revenue exceeds the amount provided for incidental non-regulated activities under KRS 278.2203(4)(a) must develop and maintain a Cost Allocation Manual. By this statute, the Cost Allocation Manual must include the following:

• A list of regulated and non-regulated divisions within the utility

Final Report	Audit	of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	II. Service Agreements/Reporting	Duke Energy-Kentucky

- A list of all regulated and non-regulated affiliates to which the utility provides services or products and where the affiliates provide non-regulated activities
- A list of the services and products provided by the utility, an identification of each as regulated or non-regulated, and the cost allocation method generally applicable to each category
- A list of incidental, non-regulated activities subject to the statute provisions
- A description of the nature of transactions between the utility and the affiliate
- For each Uniform System of Accounts (USoA) account and sub-account, a report that identifies:
 - Whether the account contains costs attributable to regulated operations and non-regulated operations
 - o Whether the costs are joint costs that cannot be directly identified
 - A description of the method used to apportion each of these costs.

The statute requires the Cost Allocation Manual to be updated within sixty days of a material change. DE-Kentucky, in addition to this updating requirement, reviews its CAM and voluntarily provides a CAM update as part of its Annual Report. Overall responsibility for filing the Cost Allocation Manual lies with the Legal Group; however, various departments are responsible for maintaining and providing information, including:

- The Corporate Secretary: maintains the list of regulated and non-regulated affiliates
- The Products and Services Department: tracks services offered by DE-Kentucky in the service territory
- The Accounting Department: tracks affiliate transactions and incidental non-regulated activities
- The Legal Group/Corporate Secretary: maintain copies of affiliate service agreements
- The Rate Department: tracks USoA accounts.

Under KRS 278.2205, DE-Kentucky is not required to quantify and report its annual affiliate transactions. However, for informational purposes, DE-Kentucky includes as an attachment in its Cost Allocation Manual a summary level listing of "products and services provided by DE-Kentucky for its affiliates, and services provided by the affiliates to DE-Kentucky," excluding those with the Service Company. The listing groups the products and services in relatively broad categories for which it provides total dollar amounts. The following table summarizes that listing.

起於計劃展開的



The Cost Allocation Manual listing does not indicate which products and services relate specifically to the Operating Agreement and to the Non-utility Agreement. The largest volume of transactions involves services provided by DE-Ohio to DE-Kentucky, a large portion of which is governed by other agreements. Accounting personnel estimated that approximately \$18 million of the \$62 million of services provided by DE-Ohio related to agreements other than the Operating and Non-utility Agreements. DE-Kentucky receives certain products and services from DE-Ohio related to the transfer of Miami Fort Unit 6 and the Woodsdale and East Bend generation stations. For example, the Facilities Operating Agreement allows DE-Kentucky to use certain equipment owned and operated by DE-Ohio necessary to provide service. This equipment includes certain step-up transformer banks at the three generating stations. The Miami Fort 6 Operating Agreement requires DE-Ohio to operate Unit 6 on DE-Kentucky's behalf, and to provide materials, fuel, equipment, and services as needed.

Accounting personnel use data on inter-company charges, along with selected inter-company sub-ledger account data, to prepare the summary level listing of affiliate transactions. Liberty's testing work found that the dollar amounts include charges that are not truly affiliate transactions, such as inventory transfers or invoices paid on behalf of an affiliate. Accounting personnel include sub-ledger charges that it believes relate to affiliate transactions (such as transmission revenues), but the process for identifying such charges is not exhaustive. Liberty therefore observed that the listing includes some amounts that it should not, and may miss others.

C. Conclusions

1. The three merger-related service agreements contain sufficiently comprehensive and appropriate terms and conditions to provide baselines for measuring compliance effectiveness and to prevent inappropriate cross-subsidization.

The three merger-related service agreements provide information adequate to describe the relationships between the parties, the nature of the services provided, and the method of charging for services. The contract provisions that price corporate and utility-related services at fully embedded cost are reasonable, and consistent with practice within the industry. Such pricing provisions, if implemented appropriately, provide adequate protections against cross-subsidization. The Service Company Agreement also makes clear the preference for direct charging over less direct allocation methods. The use of direct charging should help to minimize

Final Report	Au	dit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	II. Service Agreements/Reporting	Duke Energy-Kentucky

the opportunities for one affiliate to subsidize another through the charges it pays for individual corporate services.

2. DE-Kentucky is not required to report to the Commission the quantity and dollar value of transactions under the merger-related agreements.

DE-Kentucky operates under general reporting requirements related to affiliate relationships, but is not required to identify and quantify its affiliate transactions in general and its transactions under the merger-related agreements in particular.

D. Recommendations

Liberty has no recommendations regarding the service agreements or reporting requirements.

III. Accounting Systems and Processes

A. Introduction

This chapter provides an overview of the accounting systems used to record affiliate transactions under the three merger-related service agreements. Liberty also discusses the company's approach to time reporting, payroll, and the calculation of labor charges.

The former Cinergy organization and former Duke Power organization had separate accounting systems during the audit period. This separation required common accounting procedures and programming to allow financial data to flow between the systems in a comprehensive, accurate, and reliable fashion. It was also important that the systems treat similarly the material components of fully allocated costs, which include labor expenses and labor loaders such as payroll taxes, fringe benefits, unproductive time, and incentives.

The methods for determining costs directly charged or allocated among affiliates under the three merger-related service agreements needed to be well defined and understood by relevant personnel. This chapter discusses Liberty's review of available documentation in this area, and addresses compliance with contract billing requirements.

B. Findings

1. Accounting Systems

The Business Data Management System (BDMS) operates as Cinergy's legacy accounting system. BDMS functions as the general ledger. Various feeder applications include accounts payable, fixed assets, transportation, and work management applications, plus a journal entry tool. These applications post to BDMS throughout the month. The BDMS system processes charges to and from DESS. DE-Kentucky, and other legacy Cinergy affiliates.

The Financial Management Information System (FMIS) operates as the legacy Duke Power accounting system. FMIS is a PeopleSoft system with general ledger, accounts receivable, accounts payable, asset management, project costing, contract, and billing applications. The FMIS system processes charges to and from DEBS, DE-Carolinas, and other legacy Duke Power affiliates.

Each legacy system has its own general ledger and account numbering approach. The parent uses Hyperion Financial Management (HFM) to report consolidated financial results. Data from the legacy Cinergy BDMS general ledger and the legacy Duke FMIS general ledger flow to a Finance Information Hub, which Duke Energy uses to generate certain financial reports. The corporation converted the entire company to PeopleSoft effective July 2008.

Each legacy system has its own terminology and method of operation, and each uses a code block (BDMS) or chart field (FMIS) that comprises a set of elements that classify financial information. The code block/chart field contains multiple elements that describe five aspects of a financial transaction:

• When: defines the timing of the work performed

Final Report Public Version	III. Accounting Issues	Audit of Merger-Related Agreements Duke Energy-Kentucky
		85

- Who: identifies who performed the work on whose behalf
- What: defines the nature of the work performed
- How: defines the resource(s) used to perform the work
- Where: identifies the location(s) the work was performed or performed for.

The corporate organization consists of thousands of responsibility centers (RCs), which roll up into other higher level responsibility centers based on reporting responsibility. FMIS records an accounting entry for a direct charge transaction by designating: (a) an RC code representing the work group performing the service, and (b) an operating unit (OU) code representing the group for which the work was performed. The OU code can be specific or not; for example, it can designate a particular plant or just fossil/hydro plants in general. The business unit receiving the charge designates the OU code to which the amount should be charged. The accounting entry also includes an account/process/project number, resource type (*e.g.*, labor, materials, outside contractor), and amount; the FERC account number is usually embedded in the accounting code block numbering. For allocated charges, the OU code represents an allocation pool, such as governance or enterprise accounting. The FMIS system processes allocation pools at month-end, distributing the charges according to the appropriate allocation pool percentages.

Transactions that BDMS captures produce an accounting entry that typically includes a responsibility center similar to an RC code, a line of business (LOB) code that is similar to an OU code, resource type, account/work code, amount, and corporate/business unit designation. The LOB indicates whether the amount is to be directly charged or allocated. BDMS creates journal entries each time it records an event, *e.g.*, when it processes accounts payable, inventory, or payroll. For pool-type charges, BDMS charges the amount to an allocable LOB, and the BDMS system creates separate entries that automatically distribute the charge using the same percentages that FMIS uses to process the particular allocation pool. There exist therefore huge volumes of journal entries on the BDMS side, because, unlike FMIS, it does not accumulate charges in a pool and then allocate the pool at month-end. Instead, BDMS allocates them as they are incurred.

Prior to the merger (in the September to October 2005 timeframe), the companies started developing a method for putting together an ETL (extract, translate, and load) interface for the BDMS and FMIS systems. The purpose of the ETL is to translate data from FMIS to BDMS and from BDMS to FMIS. The ETL procedures translate one or more account numbers in one system into the corresponding account number in the other system. The companies were in the designand-build stage through December 2005, and conducted eight to twelve weeks of system testing, beginning in January 2006. The companies started using the ETL logic to transfer actual data for April 2006.

The system executes the ETL logic daily. The ETL programs essentially comprise an account mapping logic. Teams from both the legacy Duke Power and Cinergy organizations worked together to establish the mapping structure and set up known, defined translations. There is not a one-to-one match between the account numbers in BDMS and those in FMIS. For example, BDMS may have ten separate accounts that all map to one account number on the FMIS side. In another case, FMIS may have an account number with no match on the BDMS side. In this last

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	III. Accounting Issues	Duke Energy-Kentucky

case, accounting personnel must create a new account number in BDMS. In the case of a new project or work order that is not already defined in the translation tables, the parties complete a form to set up specific accounting for both sides. Accounting chart fields include the Cinergy LOB, the Duke Power operating unit, and Cinergy and Duke Power RC codes, the Cinergy and Duke Power account numbers, the Cinergy work code, and the Duke Power project number.

Liberty asked for a description of any audits performed by either internal or external auditors of the ETL logic that the accounting systems use to transfer and translate accounting and transaction data. The internal auditing group performed an April and May 2006 integrated financial and IT audit of the processes and controls for translating accounting information between the FMIS and BDMS systems. The purpose of the audit was to evaluate the design and implementation of the detailed translation tables and the controls over financial data mapping. The audit also evaluated the IT infrastructure that supports these processes. The scope of the audit was sufficiently broad. Some of the topics of the audit included reviews of:

- Set-up phase of financial mapping
- Controls and processes for handling exceptions
- New project/activity set-up
- Translation table change process
- ETL access controls, change management, and version controls
- IT infrastructure associated with ETL.
- Data processing, error management, backup, and recovery
- End user support.

There have been no subsequent audits of the ETL. Liberty did not perform any independent testing of the ETL logic.

2. Time Reporting, Payroll, and Labor Charges

Payrolls for the legacy Cinergy organization and the legacy Duke Power organization are processed separately. Legacy Cinergy's payroll was processed in house; Hewitt began processing legacy Cinergy payroll in January 2008. Non-exempt personnel are paid either on a weekly or biweekly basis. Generally such employees must submit a time sheet in order to get paid. Exempt employees are paid on a semi-monthly basis; they submit time sheets each pay period to record exceptions and additional pay.

Hewitt Associates processes payroll for the legacy Duke Power companies. Non-exempt personnel are paid on a bi-weekly basis; these employees must submit a time sheet in order to get paid. Exempt employees are paid on a monthly basis; some of them submit time monthly to record exceptions to their fixed labor distributions.

Legacy Cinergy uses the Labor Data Capture System (LDCS) as its time reporting tool. An LDCS manual provides general guidelines for reporting exception and non-exception time, and provides instructions about the on-line time reporting system. Employees submit time sheets weekly, or, if labor documents are system-generated, sign copies of the exception labor documents that are kept on file. Legacy Duke Power uses Workbrain as a time reporting tool. All

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	III. Accounting Issues	Duke Energy-Kentucky

bi-weekly time must be authorized either electronically or manually. Regardless of method, each Duke Energy employee is responsible for reporting time to a timekeeper, consistent with corporate policy and business unit requirements.

Overall, the Service Company has no formal written guidelines for where an employee should charge time, *i.e.*, direct charging or charging time into specific utility-, enterprise-, or governance-level allocation pools. The IT department, however, does maintain a brief document that provides assistance to its employees in determining which of the five main types of IT allocation pools (*e.g.*, mainframe services, PC support) cover specific work activities. When an employee performs work for affiliates, the business unit(s) requesting the charge indicates how and where the employee should charge time, *i.e.*, as direct charges to specific OU codes or into specific allocation pools. Charges from the same employee for the same type of service can therefore be handled in different ways in different circumstances.

Both legacy organizations set up a fixed salary distribution for each exempt employee. The fixed distribution can consist of any combination of business units or allocation pools. Some exempt employees use time sheets to record time charges to entities other than those on the fixed labor distribution, as well as to record any unproductive paid hours such as holidays, vacations, and sick days. In some cases, the companies also set up non-exempt or union employees with fixed labor distributions.

The Cinergy time reporting system, LDCS, distributes the labor, which is then posted to BDMS. The legacy Duke Power organization outsources its payroll to a provider that uses a PeopleSoft system to process payroll. The vendor provides summary-level information to the Duke Power Labor Distribution System (LDS), which sends the information on to FMIS. Both payroll systems maintain detailed information, which can be used by business units to trace data back to the individual employee level if needed.

The FMIS accounting system automatically applies labor loaders for fringe benefits, payroll taxes, unproductive time, and incentives. Accounting personnel enter into FMIS the percentage for each labor loader item each month. These rates typically remain constant for most of the year. Accounting personnel record actual costs for these four labor-related costs in separate accounts that they monitor to make sure that the rates it has been applying are staying in line with actual costs. Accounting personnel typically adjust loader rates in the fourth quarter to clear any residuals compared to actual costs.

For DE-Carolinas, the fringe benefit and payroll tax percentages are consistent, but the incentives and unproductive time percentages may differ by department. The percentages for unproductive time are consistent, however, across all employees in a given department and function. In some cases, a department may decide that it wants to apply to labor the costs associated with actual unproductive time in lieu of using a specific fixed rate, in which case the rate applied to labor charges for unproductive labor will fluctuate each month.

Final Report	Audit of Merger-	Related Agreements
Public Version III. A	ccounting Issues Dul	ke Energy-Kentucky

Accounting executes a separate procedure to true up exempt labor charges to actual time sheet data.¹ For example, assume that an employee's default labor distribution is 50 percent to entity A and 50 percent to entity B. Assume further that the total number of hours in a particular month is 160. After payroll has been processed, LDS creates journal entries to record the fully-loaded labor dollar amounts associated with 80 hours to both entities A and B. If the employee actually worked 10 hours for entity C during the pay period, and reports it on an exception time sheet, then LDS during the true-up process creates additional journal entries. The system will book the dollar amount associated with the 10 hours to entity C, and credit both entities A and B with the dollar amounts associated with five hours each. The system uses the default distribution to determine how to assign the credits. If in this example the employee actually worked the 10 hours for entity C in lieu of 10 hours for entity A, the employee would have to submit a more detailed exception time sheet to specify work of 70 hours for entity A, 80 hours for entity B, and 10 hours for entity C in order for FMIS to create the correct journal entries. Some employees find that they must submit an exception report every month because their labor distributions are so variable.

After the legacy Cinergy organization processes payroll, BDMS creates journal entries to record labor charges. BDMS applies to labor charges pre-determined loader rates for fringe benefits, payroll taxes, and unproductive time. The BDMS loader rates differ from those used in FMIS. Fringe benefit rates for the legacy Cinergy organization, for example, are significantly higher than those of the legacy Duke Power organization. Accounting personnel perform annual studies during the budgeting process to calculate the applicable loading rates for payroll taxes, unproductive labor, and fringe benefits.

Accounting monitors how closely the rates that BDMS applies for benefits, payroll taxes, and unproductive time follow actual costs during the year. Accounting personnel typically perform a true-up at year-end, using journal entries to make corrections. Accounting spreads correcting entries to business entities based on their share of direct and allocated labor costs. However, accounting personnel record any correcting entries at a high level, and as such the corrections are not traceable to specific transactions. The Cinergy organization does not allow its departments the option of using actual unproductive time in a given month versus a flat rate, as does DE-Carolinas, because BDMS cannot accommodate this approach.

Throughout 2007, the accounting group began making monthly entries to record incentives. Accounting records incentives at a high level; incentives are not directly associated with individual labor charges, and may even flow from a different responsibility center than labor. With the conversion of BDMS to PeopleSoft in July 2008, incentives are now loaded on individual labor charges.

On the legacy Cinergy side, there is no set rule for when it processes exception time reports. In some cases, an exception time report may get processed during the payroll process as actual time, depending upon when it was submitted in relation to when the payroll is processed. In other cases, the system processes exception time sheets after regular payroll has been run. Some groups require their employees to complete time sheets every week.

¹ No true-up is needed for non-exempt and union employees that submit time sheets with actual labor distributions.

During the prior audit of DE-Carolinas, Liberty reviewed examples of FMIS and BDMS exempt and non-exempt labor charge calculations. The personnel provided printouts from the time sheet reporting systems, showing default labor distributions, base salaries, and actual hours worked, and supporting time sheets. They also demonstrated how each system calculated hourly labor charges, as well as how it calculated the amounts for fringe benefits, taxes, unproductive time, and, in the case of DE-Carolinas, incentives. Liberty concluded that the processes for calculating labor charges were reliable. Liberty reviewed several additional examples during this audit and was satisfied that the process remained reliable.

DE-Carolinas has a cost allocation manual that contains guidelines for transactions between it and affiliates. The manual states that overtime worked by non-exempt employees should first be applied to work performed for affiliates, unless there is a documented reason not to do so. There is no official corporate policy to that affect, however. The treatment of overtime by DE-Kentucky and DE-Carolinas differs, in part driven by how each legacy utility calculates the labor charges in overtime situations.

BDMS calculates direct labor charges by using an average hourly rate method. FMIS, on the other hand, prices overtime and regular time hours separately. A simple example involving 80 hours of regular time and eight hours of overtime illustrates the result of this difference. The following table summarizes how each system would price labor, assuming a regular time hourly rate of \$20 and an overtime rate of \$30.

	FMIS	BDMS ²
Regular hourly rate	\$20.00	\$20.91
Overtime hourly rate	\$30.00	\$20.91

FMIS would charge \$30 per hour, or \$240.00, in base labor costs to the affiliate for eight hours of work. This result conforms to DE-Carolina's policy of charging overtime by utility employees to affiliates. BDMS would charge \$20.91 per hour, or \$167.28. BDMS does not charge affiliates the full cost associated with the overtime. Instead, it spreads the cost of overtime over all hours worked. As a result, any overtime is averaged out so that it is spread across all work activities performed (and entities supported) by the employee during the pay period. During 2007, if a Cinergy utility employee worked regular hours for his or her home organization and overtime for an affiliate, the utility would subsidize the cost of overtime. If a DE-Carolinas utility employee worked regular hours at his or her home organization and overtime hours for an affiliate, the utility would not subsidize the cost of overtime. Accounting indicated that it ceased calculating overtime in BDMS this way beginning in 2008. BDMS now calculates separate regular and overtime rates, and charges the overtime rate to the business unit responsible for the overtime.

Labor rates for legacy exempt Duke Power employees are calculated by taking the monthly salary divided by 173.33 hours. On the FMIS side, the hourly rates remain constant over the year. Employees do not charge overtime, but normalize hours worked to represent the standard hours per pay period. The labor rates for legacy exempt Cinergy employees will fluctuate, because BDMS calculates an average hourly rate using semi-monthly salary divided by actual

² Derived by adding 80 hours (\hat{a} \$20 per hour and 8 hours (\hat{a} \$30 per hour, and dividing the total by 88.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	III. Accounting Issues	Duke Energy-Kentucky

hours charged, which would include overtime. The BDMS and FMIS approaches differ in how they calculate hourly rates for exempt employees; nevertheless, they should yield the same charges for time worked. The BDMS hourly rate will be lower, but the number of hours charged will be higher than would be the case under FMIS, because BDMS has not normalized hours worked to represent standard hours per pay period.

The process for calculating exempt labor rates changed beginning in January 2008. BDMS no longer calculates an average rate; it calculates rates in the same fashion as FMIS. The rates for all exempt employees are now calculated on a semi-monthly basis that uses 86.66 hours.

The BDMS and FMIS systems handle overtime by non-exempt Service Company employees in the same way that they handle overtime by utility employees. During 2007, overtime hours worked by DEBS non-exempt employees were charged at overtime rates; overtime hours worked by DESS non-exempt employees were charged at an average hourly rate.

Both accounting systems have the ability to track fully loaded labor charges. FMIS can track these charges down to the individual transaction level, because it fully loads individual labor charges to business units. BDMS can track loaded labor charges to the individual transaction level, but it cannot capture the actual incentive portion of these charges to the individual transaction level.

3. Billing

The Service Company Agreement, Operating Agreement, and Non-utility Agreement all require the service provider to render a monthly statement to each client company reflecting "the billing information necessary to identify the costs charged for that month." None of these agreements defines the informational requirements more fully. The agreements also state that the client company must remit all charges to the provider by the end of the month in which it receives the bill.

The Service Company does not issue inter-company bills or invoices for affiliate transactions. Business units can run system queries to view the charges allocated to them, but the Service Company provides no routine reports to the business units. Service Company monthly reports for the Treasury Group detail outstanding inter-company balances related to its services for the prior month. Charges between DESS and Midwest affiliates are settled monthly. There was no routine settlement for inter-company charges involving DEBS through the end of 2007 and the corporation did not move cash among companies on a monthly basis. Beginning in 2008, DEBS settled accounts payable charges with DE-Carolinas several times a month. Service Company governance charges to utilities are settled periodically at Treasury's discretion.

Affiliates other than the Service Company also do not issue inter-company bills or invoices. The Service Company provides monthly reports to the Treasury Group on outstanding inter-company balances involving these affiliates. The Treasury Group monitors the inter-company positions, and periodically settles the balances at its discretion or when the balances are outside certain parameters.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	III. Accounting Issues	Duke Energy-Kentucky

4. Documentation of Affiliate Transaction Accounting Methods

Corporations generally maintain documentation of their accounting, financial reporting, and related controls and policies; however, they are sometimes written at a relatively high level, and typically do not provide thorough guidance on how to process individual affiliate transactions. Affiliate transaction documentation should be sufficient to establish clear rules for pricing all services, should provide for clear and consistent methods for price determinations, and should be in accordance with requirements established by regulatory standards.

During the prior audit of DE-Carolinas, Liberty reviewed with accounting personnel the corporation's on-line documentation of accounting, financial reporting, and related controls and policies. Liberty found that internal controls and financial controls policies were written at a very high level. The corporation's written policy regarding accounting for affiliate transactions consisted of a few general statements, specifically: (a) all inter-company transactions will be recorded, (b) inter-company account balances will be reconciled, and (c) discrepancies will be resolved. The documentation set out roles and responsibilities in general terms, but provided no real detail on how to process individual affiliate transactions.

Utility corporations with a service company typically maintain a formal accounting manual that expresses the definitive statement of a company's policies and procedures on distributing costs among subsidiaries, provides a reference on the subject for employees, and serves as a repository of information as to why particular kinds of costs are distributed in specific ways. Liberty normally reviews a company's manual to determine if it is reasonably complete, and whether it would provide sufficient guidance in pricing services. In particular, the company's methods for directly charging, directly assigning, or allocating charges should be clear and adequately documented.

DE-Kentucky's affiliate utility DE-Carolinas maintains such a manual, which provides a description of the treatment of Service Company costs and defines "fully distributed cost." It also sets forth a priority for how Service Company costs should be distributed to business units, in decreasing order of preference:

- Direct charged to the extent possible
- Distributed to the applicable business units using specific percentages if known
- Allocated to the business units receiving the benefit using reasonable allocation methods.

The DE-Carolinas manual contains a listing of the allocation percentages used to distribute Service Company governance-, enterprise-, and utility-level pools during the audit period. It also contains guidelines for affiliate transactions other than those involving the Service Company, including cost allocation. overhead, and transfer pricing rules. Liberty was able to use the DE-Carolinas manual as a reference document regarding Service Company charges. DE-Kentucky is not required by the KyPSC to have a similar affiliate transaction accounting manual and does not have one.

5. Internal Audits

Company internal audits offer an opportunity to evaluate how effectively the corporation controls its affiliate transaction procedures and policies. Liberty requested copies of reports of

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	III. Accounting Issues	Duke Energy-Kentucky

audits conducted by Duke Energy's internal audit group during 2007 that addressed: (1) Service Company allocations, (2) services provided between DE-Kentucky and its utility affiliates, or (3) services provided between DE-Kentucky and its non-utility affiliates.

Internal auditing provided a May 18, 2007 report titled "U.S. Franchised Electric & Gas (FE&G) State Affiliate Code of Conduct (Kentucky) Audit." The audit reviewed compliance with Kentucky law related to transactions between DE-Kentucky and non-Service Company affiliates during 2006.

The internal audit group found that the roles and responsibilities for producing the annual Cost Allocation Manual portion of the Annual Report filing were not clearly defined, and recommended that DE-Kentucky find ways to improve by July 2007 the process for pulling together the information needed for the report. DE-Kentucky implemented a new process for the purposes of generating the 2007 report.

The corporation maintains a Service Request Database that keeps track of Service Request Forms. These forms are used to formalize the affiliate transaction approval and accounting processes. In 2007, the utility affiliates were not consistently using the forms. The internal audit report indicated that the process to monitor affiliate transactions was not fully defined. Specifically, responsibilities and procedures were not clear regarding: (1) verifying that direct charges had been authorized, and (2) verifying that services were priced at fully embedded cost. The report noted that DE-Kentucky rates, accounting, and similar groups would meet to discuss the procedures for ensuring that proper pricing was put in place, including the DE-Carolinas requirement for asymmetrical pricing. It also noted that regulatory accounting would develop a process and documentation, which would include confirming that transactions were authorized, and that these would be in place by the end of 2007. The latest version of this documentation, dated March 2008, sets forth a process for a review performed at least quarterly of Service Request Forms and affiliate transactions that includes:

- Confirming that a Service Request Form is in place, and if not, creating one
- Verifying that accounting information, such as responsibility center, is correct
- Reviewing charges above a given dollar threshold level, and spot checking others
- Confirming that pricing is consistent with the service agreements, affiliate guidelines, and codes of conduct, including DE-Carolinas asymmetrical pricing requirements
- Tracking charges to Service Request Forms and investigating charges not tied to a specific Service Request Form.

The sporadic use of Service Request Forms created a problem for DE-Kentucky, which uses the Service Request Database as the basis for generating the list of transactions it voluntarily includes in its Cost Allocation Manual filing. The audit group found that certain affiliate transactions had been recorded manually in the general ledger via journal entries, and had not undergone the formal Service Request Form process. Internal audit stated that, even if someone recorded an affiliate transaction directly in the general ledger, he or she still had to get formal approval before making the journal entries. The accounting system did not prevent the use of manual journal entries to record affiliate transactions, but the accounting group used training to educate personnel not to use this approach in the future.

The internal report also indicated that training programs were needed to educate personnel in how to charge time directly assignable to a utility or non-utility company, and that this finding applied to both utility personnel and Service Company personnel. The report indicated that a training program would be developed by year-end 2007. Liberty inquired about the current status of this effort. Accounting personnel indicated that, while a training plan and schedule had been developed by the end of 2007, development of the training program was suspending pending resolution of a system for time reporting. The delay was intended to allow the company to incorporate the conversion from BDMS to FMIS into the training program for legacy Cinergy employees.

The report also noted that billing statements were not being produced for affiliate transactions as required by the service agreements. It stated that management deemed appropriate the process by which the Treasury group managed inter-company balances. Liberty discussed this issue in a previous section of this chapter.

C. Conclusions

1. The legacy Duke organization and the legacy Cinergy organization maintain separate accounting systems, which complicates recordkeeping for affiliate transactions.

Both the FMIS and BDMS accounting systems have their own unique terminology and methods of operation. The organizations have put into place an ETL interface, which is essentially account number mapping logic, to translate data from FMIS to BDMS and from BDMS to FMIS. The ETL interface aggregates data. As a result, some of the transaction detail in BDMS does not carry over to the FMIS system, which the corporation uses to report consolidated financial results. The FMIS and BDMS systems also do not perform the accounting associated with affiliate transactions in the same way. For example, FMIS has the ability to accumulate charges into a particular cost pool and allocate the pool to business units at month's end. The BDMS system cannot accommodate cost pools and must distribute each pool-type cost as it is recorded. The system creates separate accounting entries to distribute the charge to business units in the same percentages that FMIS uses to process the corresponding allocation pool.

The corporation moved to one accounting system in July 2008, which should eliminate these complications.

2. The legacy Duke and Cinergy organizations process payroll separately and apply labor loaders in different but not inconsistent ways.

Both companies process their payrolls similarly, generally setting up default labor distributions and performing true-ups to actual time sheet data as needed. The methods by which the FMIS and BDMS systems record data after the payroll process are different, however. The FMIS system automatically applies to labor costs specific loader rates for payroll taxes, fringe benefits, and incentives; it also typically applies an unproductive time loader, although departments have the option to use actual costs rather than a set rate. Accounting personnel monitor the difference between the loader rates and actual costs, and adjust the rates as needed to eliminate any differences.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	III. Accounting Issues	Duke Energy-Kentucky

The BDMS system automatically applies to labor costs specific loader rates for payroll taxes, fringe benefits, and unproductive time. Departments do not have the option to use actual costs for unproductive time. Accounting monitors the difference between the loader rates and actual costs; it does not modify the rates but instead uses high level journal entries to routinely record adjustments. BDMS does not apply an incentive loader; accounting personnel use high level journal entries to record them.

Both companies apply the appropriate loaders to labor costs. However, Cinergy cannot trace fully loaded labor charges to the individual affiliate transaction level, as FMIS can, because it uses high level journal entries to record incentives and to record true-up adjustments. Company plans to consolidate payroll processing and accounting systems in 2008 would eliminate these differences.

3. Labor directly charged to affiliates by legacy Cinergy companies, including DE-Kentucky, does not reflect fully embedded cost.

BDMS does not use a specific labor loader for incentives, which are instead recorded by journal entry at a high level. As a result, labor directly charged from DE-Kentucky does not contain a cost component for incentives, which results in charges at less than fully distributed cost. Company plans to consolidate payroll processing and accounting systems in 2008 will eliminate this problem.

4. The legacy Duke and Cinergy organizations calculated the hourly labor rates differently for employees working overtime in a given pay period.

The FMIS and BDMS systems derive hourly labor charges for non-exempt or union labor differently for cases in which overtime is involved. BDMS derives one average hourly rate for both regular and overtime worked. FMIS derives two different rates, one for regular time and a higher one for overtime. During the audit period, BDMS charged an average rate for both regular and overtime hours, which means that overtime work is partially subsidized by regular work. The approach to pricing overtime should be the same across the organizations. The legacy Cinergy organization ceased calculating overtime in this fashion beginning in 2008, and now calculates separate regular and overtime rates, which corrects the problem.

It is not clear, however, that the policy regarding the entity to which overtime should be charged is the same for the legacy Duke Power and legacy Cinergy organizations. DE-Carolina's policy is that overtime worked by non-exempt employees should first be applied to work performed for affiliates, unless there is a documented reason not to do so. Its calculation and application of separate overtime rates is consistent with the policy. The current policy for DE-Kentucky is to charge overtime hours worked during a pay period to the business unit causing the need for overtime. The application of these two policies may or may not yield the same results in similar circumstances. The applicable method should be consistent across the corporation and it should be formally documented.

5. Affiliates do not follow the procedures set out in the Service Agreements regarding monthly bills and payments. (Recommendation #1)

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	III. Accounting Issues	Duke Energy-Kentucky

The Service Company Agreement, Operating Agreement, and Non-utility Agreement all require that the service provider render a monthly statement to each client company reflecting the billing information necessary to identify the costs charged for that month. A client company must remit all charges to the provider by the end of the month in which it received the bill.

The corporation conducted no routine settlements for inter-company charges under the Operating Agreement and Non-utility Agreement. The Treasury Group monitors the inter-company positions and settles balances periodically at its discretion or when balances are outside certain parameters.

Charges between DESS and Midwest affiliates under the Service Company Agreement are settled monthly. Through the end of 2007, there was no routine settlement for inter-company charges under the Service Company Agreement involving DEBS, and the corporation did not move cash among companies on a monthly basis.

6. DE-Kentucky does not maintain a formal affiliate transaction accounting manual. (Recommendation #2)

Liberty considers it to be best practice for any utility with a service company, or with service agreements among utility and non-utility affiliates, to maintain a formal affiliate transaction accounting manual. Such a manual should provide a general description of Service Company functions and definitions of the allocation ratios used to distribute costs not otherwise directly charged or assigned, and should list the allocation percentages for each functional cost allocation pool. The manual should provide guidelines for transactions involving the utility to assist employees in implementing the accounting requirements regarding affiliate transactions. It should also describe the appropriate method to derive Service Company direct charge rates and to derive direct billing rates that reflect fully distributed cost for charges between utility and non-utility affiliates.

Best practice for a formal affiliate transaction accounting manual includes more than mere compilations of policies and procedures. Examples of supplemental material that is very useful include copies of memoranda, analyses, and invoices that serve as models, documentation, examples, and instructions on how to distribute costs among affiliated businesses, a meaningful introduction, and an explanation of its contents.

DE-Kentucky does not have a formal affiliate transaction accounting manual as described by Liberty. Its affiliate, DE-Carolinas, does have such a manual; it provides a description of the treatment of Service Company costs, defines "fully distributed cost," and sets forth a priority for how Service Company costs should be distributed to business units. The DE-Carolinas manual also contains guidelines for affiliate transactions other than those involving the Service Company, including cost allocation and transfer pricing rules.

7. Major recommendations of an internal audit report identifying shortcomings in the affiliate transaction approval and accounting process have been implemented, but the provision of training has been unduly delayed. (Recommendation #3)

The internal auditing group reported that utility affiliates were not consistently using Service Request Forms, which the company uses to formalize the affiliate transaction approval and

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	III. Accounting Issues	Duke Energy-Kentucky

accounting process under the Operating Agreement and Non-utility Agreement. The internal audit report indicates that responsibilities and procedures to verify that charges have been authorized, and that services are priced at fully embedded cost, are not clear. Regulatory accounting intended to develop a process and documentation to address these issues by the end of 2007. Liberty reviewed the latest version of this documentation, dated March 2008, and found it adequate.

Internal auditing found that certain affiliate transactions had been recorded manually in the general ledger via journal entries, and had not undergone the formal Service Request Form process, although accounting personnel did secure proper approvals before making the entries. BDMS does not block the use of manual journal entries to record affiliate transactions, but the accounting group used training to educate personnel not to use this approach in the future.

The internal audit group found that the roles and responsibilities for producing the annual Cost Allocation Manual portion of the Annual Report filing were not clearly defined, and DE-Kentucky subsequently implemented a new process for generating the 2007 report.

The internal report indicated that training programs were needed to educate utility and Service Company personnel in how to charge time directly assignable to a utility or non-utility company, and that such a training program would be developed by year-end 2007. The company developed a training plan and schedule, but suspended development of an actual training program, ostensibly because it had not yet decided upon a system for time reporting.

The report also states that management deemed the process whereby the Treasury group manages inter-company balances as appropriate to settle affiliate transactions. Liberty discusses this issue in a separate conclusion.

D. Recommendations

1. Conform billing and settlement procedures to the language of the Service Agreements. (Conclusion #5)

Liberty disagrees with management's opinion, as reflected in a recent internal audit report, that the Treasury Group's management of inter-company balances as needed is an appropriate method to settle affiliate transactions. Failure to settle inter-company balances in a timely fashion is equivalent to a "free loan" between affiliates. The parties to the Operating Agreement and Non-utility Agreement should render invoices and make settlements monthly.

During the audit period, DEBS did not settle charges monthly; however. starting in 2008 the corporation settles at least monthly both DEBS and DESS charges under the Service Company Agreement. The Service Company still does not render invoices, and the parties should do so or amend the wording in the agreement.

2. Develop and maintain a formal affiliate transaction accounting manual. (Conclusion #6)

While DE-Carolinas has a formal cost allocation manual, DE-Kentucky does not. The Midwest conversion to the FMIS accounting system in mid-2008 provides a good opportunity for the

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	III. Accounting Issues	Duke Energy-Kentucky

Service Company and utilities to develop a new affiliate transactions accounting manual applicable to all affiliates, including DE-Kentucky.

3. Complete time reporting training for all relevant employees by the end of the year. *(Conclusion #7)*

The corporation's internal audit report indicated that training programs were needed to educate utility and Service Company personnel in how to charge time directly assignable to a utility or non-utility company. The corporation should finalize its choice of a time reporting system, develop an appropriate training program, and complete training of its employees by the end of this year.



IV. Service Company Overview and Cost Allocation Methods

A. Background

The Service Company is composed of two separate entities DEBS (Carolinas) and DESS (Midwest). Charging under the Service Company Agreement, however, essentially treats both DEBS and DESS as one. Duke Energy consolidated the two service companies into one entity as of July 1, 2008. The next table summarizes the direct, allocated, and total charges from DEBS and DESS to individual business units for the year 2007.

	和研究的研究			加强网络游客
於非影響而國國	國家會議部的			和社会社会社会社
	新企业资料			
		社会的基本部分		國家國家的基礎
		民族沿海传		
		使国际和国际		
	能的产品。 我们的意义。	编制合成	中華新聞教育	
		建物的和高速的		

			。 建設的現代的現代的 建設。	
同時的時候	新建和表达			
			以 现的新闻	的原始的建立的
的影響。其他的			族自动的学	如同就希望
a, Kalina Manag Din Sang District				Statistics of the
1000 110 1 12 11 12 18		7.4.7.2.4.		1850,404,404
	新华生业 过度。		節時設定認知	

B. Findings

1. Service Company Functions

The next table lists the 23 functions that the Service Company provides.³

Information Systems	Human Resources	Accounting		
Finance	Public Affairs	Legal		
Internal Auditing	Investor Relations	Planning		
Executive	Transportation	Rates		
Meters	Materials Management	Facilities		
Fuels	Rights of Way	Marketing/Customer Relations		
Power Engineering/Construction	Power Planning and Operations	Environmental, Health and Safety		
Electric System Maintenance	T&D Engineering and Construction			

Service Company Agreement Functions

Although not specified in the agreement, the Service Company separately distinguishes many of the business functions it provides into three service levels: governance-level, enterprise-level, and utility-level services. Governance-level service functions generally relate to the highest level activities necessary for an entity to exist and operate as a corporation, such as preparation of financial statements and U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) reports. Enterprise-level services typically involve a business function that the Service Company performs for all entities. Utility-level services are those provided only to the operating utilities within the holding company structure. A specific Service Company cost allocation pool applies to each function and service level.

The following table identifies the service levels at which each function may be provided.

Function	Service Level			
runcuon	Governance	Enterprise	Utility	
Information Systems		Y	Y	
Finance	Y	Y	Y	
Internal Auditing	Y		Y	
Executive	Y	Y	Y	
Human Resources	Y	Y	Y	
Public Affairs	Y	Y	Y	
Public Policy	Y			
Investor Relations	Y			
Corporate Development	Y		_	

Service (Company	Functions
-----------	---------	-----------

³ The Service Company has defined additional areas such as corporate development and public policy as subfunctions within these functions.
Accounting	Y	Y	Y
Legal	Y		Y
Planning	Y	Y	Y
Transportation	Y	Y	Y
Materials Management		Y	Y
Environmental, Health and Safety	Y	Y	Y
Facilities	Y	Y	Y

Some functions consist only of utility-level services specific to regulated utility companies; the next table lists them.

Meters	Electric System Maintenance
Fuels	Rights of Way
Rates	Power Planning and Operations
Power Engineering and Construction	T&D Engineering and Construction
Marketing/Customer Relations	

Utility-Only Functions

The Service Company accumulates the costs that it cannot directly charge or assign into various functional cost pools, and then allocates them to the business units. The DE-Carolinas affiliate transaction accounting manual contains a detailed cost distribution chart listing the applicable sub-functions of each Service Company function. For example, the information systems function contains five sub-functions: mainframe support, PC support, server support, communications systems, and management support. The chart also lists the service-level allocation pools for each function and sub-function. The Service Company has separate enterprise-level and utility-level allocation pools for its PC support sub-function, for example. The chart also lists for each pool the percentage of the pool that the Service Company allocates to each major business unit. For example, the human resources function uses separate governance, enterprise, and utility cost pools, of which DE-Kentucky receives 2.11 percent, 2.13 percent, and 2.42 percent, respectively. As noted earlier, DE-Kentucky does not have an affiliate transaction accounting manual, and Liberty used the allocation percentages shown in the DE-Carolinas manual for this audit.

The 2007 DE-Carolinas manual lists 75 separate functional cost allocation pools, although the Service Company does not necessarily use them all. There remain, however, about 50 additional allocation pools from before the merger of Cinergy and Duke Power. These additional allocation pools pertain specifically and are only charged to Midwest business units, including DE-Kentucky. The DE-Carolinas manual therefore does not list them. Although it has defined nearly 80 Midwest-only pools, DESS currently uses only 40-50 of them. These pools are a carryover from the legacy Cinergy organization, and reflect the way in which legacy DESS provided services to legacy Cinergy affiliates. Some of these pools pertain only to DE-Ohio and its subsidiary DE-Kentucky, and arise because of the organizational and staffing relationship between the two utilities. DESS has been working to reduce the number of Midwest-only allocation pools since the merger. The Service Company expects that the number will decrease to

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	IV. Service Company Overview	Duke Energy-Kentucky

perhaps 20-25 pools as the legacy Cinergy organization converts its accounting system to FMIS in mid-2008.

Client companies are not required to utilize all Service Company functions. During the annual budget cycle, client companies have an opportunity to review projected costs from the Service Company. They may address any concerns or questions about charges for a particular service function at that time. There is otherwise no process in place to amend, alter, or rescind a service as discussed in Section 1.3 of the agreement.

2. Service Company Organization

DEBS provided traditional corporate support services (*e.g.*, accounting and human resources) to Duke Power and its affiliates prior to the merger. Cinergy's service company (renamed DESS), by contrast, provided a broader range of services. Cinergy centralized many utility support functions, such as engineering and construction, fuels, and power planning, in its service company in order to provide them commonly to its utilities, DE-Indiana, DE-Kentucky, and DE-Ohio. Duke Energy adopted a similar approach with DEBS after the merger, beginning a process of moving to DEBS utility-related functions previously performed in the Duke Power utility organization. It also decided to centralize other functions at DEBS. Those functions include human resources and IT, which had previously been performed on a decentralized basis. These changes required moving to DEBS many utility employees; DE-Carolinas officially transferred approximately 2,000-2,100 employees to DEBS as of January 1, 2007.

The following table indicates the number of employees in DEBS and DESS before and after the merger.

our nee comp	any cmployees	
	DEBS	DESS
Septem	ber 2005	
Corporate Governance	619	286
Shared Services	934	2,866
Total	1,553	3,152
Marc	h 2007	
Corporate Governance	n/a	161
Shared Services	n/a	2,399
Total	3,449	2,560

Service Company Employees

The figures for DESS for March 2007 reflect the movement of some corporate departments to DEBS and the acceptance by some DESS employees of early severance and retirement. In addition to the influx of DE-Carolinas employees, the figures for DEBS for 2007 reflect a net movement of approximately 70 employees to Spectra as part of the spin-off of the Duke Energy gas business in January 2007. Accounting personnel stated that this net movement resulted from the transfer of 92 DEBS employees to Spectra, and 21 Spectra employees to DEBS. Liberty asked in its prior audit of DE-Carolinas if and how headcount will be affected when the Service Company stops supporting the gas business. The Service Company indicated that it did not anticipate additional changes when it ceased supporting the gas business. Given the significant level of effort supplied by the Service Company to Duke Energy Field Services (Field Services)

and Duke Energy Gas Transmission (DEGT), approximately \$130 million in the last half of 2006, it is difficult to understand how Service Company resources would remain effective at the same level and composition.

The Service Company categorizes its employees as either corporate governance or shared service (*i.e.*, enterprise-level and utility-level service) employees. The distinction does not, however, relate to the type of work a given employee can perform. As a general matter, a Service Company employee can charge time into any type of cost pool. The distinction is important in the Service Company's calculation of allocation percentages, and in its calculation of employee non-labor overhead, which Liberty discusses in later sections of this report.

Under the terms of its agreement, the Service Company is required to maintain a suitably trained and experienced staff. Liberty discusses this issue in the next section of this chapter.

3. Training and Experience of Service Company Personnel

Article I, Section 1.4 of the Service Company Utility Service Agreement states: "The Service Company shall maintain a staff trained and experienced in the design, construction, operation, maintenance and management of public utility properties." Liberty used several broad and comprehensive data requests in an attempt to elicit information that would permit the formation of a judgment as to how the Service Company establishes its compliance with this part of the agreement.

Liberty asked for a full description of any significant organization and staffing changes made in 2007 involving the service companies DEBS and DESS or DE-Kentucky, and all studies performed in 2007 about any significant staffing, reorganization, function changes, and resizing involving any department or work group in DE-Kentucky and the service companies. The responses stated that there were no organization changes and no studies. Liberty also asked for business plans or documents describing the work programs of the service companies and their planned expenditures. The response was that there were none. There are reportedly some business plans at the department level.

To reduce the possibility of miscommunication, Liberty rephrased the questions. Liberty also inquired about discrete changes known to have occurred and potentially significant to organization and staff changes; *e.g.*, the transfer of DE-Carolinas employees to DEBS and the spin-off of Spectra. The response stated that no such studies were performed and confirmed that in 2007 none of Duke Energy's service companies or any of their segments prepared business plans or documents with other titles that described the work programs of the service companies or their components.

Company-provided information during Liberty's audit of DE-Carolinas indicated a transfer of about 2,000 employees from DE-Carolinas to DEBS in 2007. The response in this audit that there had been no significant staffing. reorganization, function changes, or resizing thus required reconciliation with the information gained in the North Carolina audit. Liberty asked for clarification of that apparent conflict: the response stated that "only 45 employees transferred between DEBS and the Carolinas." The Company has since reported that about 2,000 employees transferred from DEBS to DE Carolinas in 2006 (but effective in 2007).

Finally, Liberty asked the company to refer to the previous data requests and requested any other documents that show how Duke Energy complied with the requirement of Section 1.4 of the agreement. The response to that request indicated that there were none.

Liberty asked for the budgets and actual spending for all departments of the service companies for 2007. The company was unable to provide that information. It did provide expense budget and actual figures for a subset of the departments that make up the service companies, which were the "corporate center" groups that consisted of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), chief strategy and policy officer, chief legal officer, and chief administrative officer. The budget and actual figures that the Service Company provided showed that actual spending was 98 percent of budgeted spending, excluding employee and executive benefits and rewards, for which actual spending exceeded the budgeted amount by 21 percent. The budget and actual figures provided excluded those Service Company units forming part of the U.S. Franchised Electric & Gas (FE&G) and non-utility businesses. The information provided to Liberty also excluded the budget and actual information for support provided to Spectra.

Liberty also asked for:

- Policies and procedures on hiring (including minimum experience/education requirements)
- New-hire orientation, continuing education, and training opportunities (both internallyand externally-offered materials/courses)
- Regular employee reviews and evaluations
- A list of Service Company positions filled (whether from internal or external sources) during the audit period
- How to undertake testing of each employee's educational background and past experience
- How the position/department was involved in the hiring decision
- Whether externally-hired employees completed new-hire orientation
- Whether these employees received regular evaluations in accordance with Duke Energy policy and training.

The response came too late to permit the contemplated testing. The response provided procedures for hires into internship and co-op programs and for pre-employment screening. It noted that "training is very diverse," and provided a brief narrative of the role of performance evaluation. The response also included data in spreadsheet format on "workforce activity." This data showed that in 2007 Duke Energy's hiring-activity rate was low. Excluding interns and co-op students, Duke Energy in total (not just the Service Company) in 2007 hired less than 80 employees, about half of whom were customer-service representatives.

4. Service Company Cost Allocation Ratios

The service agreement calls for the Service Company to charge or assign directly as much of its costs as possible. To the extent that it does not, the Service Company collects any residual costs in one of many functional cost allocation pools. A group of six accounting employees manages allocations from these pools for both DEBS and DESS. They have responsibility for calculating

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	IV. Service Company Overview	Duke Energy-Kentucky

the allocation percentages that will apply each year. The group typically reviews allocations monthly to determine if the cost pools have cleared, and examines actual versus budgeted costs.

Accounting personnel review allocation ratios and percentages each year during the budgeting cycle, which typically runs from July to November. The Service Company considers allocation percentages to be final for the year when its budgets are finalized. However, any major organizational change (*e.g.*, resulting from a merger, acquisition, or divestiture) will generate a review of the allocation percentages. An adjustment to the pools affected will be made if the change is material.

Most Service Company functions use more than one cost allocation pool. For example, the finance function has separate governance, enterprise, and utility cost allocation pools. The service agreement calls for the use of one of a set of prescribed allocation ratios to distribute costs for each pool. The next table lists these ratios.

Sales	Electric peak load	Number of customers
Number of employees	Construction expenditures	Number of CPU seconds
Revenues	Inventory	Procurement spending
Square footage	Gross margin	Labor dollars
Number of PC workstations	Net plant, property, and equipment	Generating unit MW capability
Transmission circuit miles	Distribution circuit miles	Number of IS servers
	Three-Factor Formula	

Service Company Alle	ocation Ratios
----------------------	----------------

5. Three-Factor Formula Ratio

The Service Company calculates the three-factor formula ratio as the weighted average of three other ratios: the gross margin ratio, labor dollar ratio, and net PP&E ratio. The Service Company has defined the underlying factors of these three ratios:

- Gross margin equals total operating revenues less cost of sales including purchased gas, purchased power, fuel used in generation, and other costs of goods sold
- Total labor dollars are those that have been charged to a given business unit, which includes charges made to it by the Service Company or other affiliates
- Total labor dollars include labor, unproductive time, and incentives
- Net PP&E is book value of assets less accumulated depreciation.

The ratio most frequently used by the Service Company is the three-factor formula ratio. The Service Company uses the three-factor formula ratio to allocate all governance pools, except human resources, and also uses it for a large portion of enterprise and utility functional cost pools. There was a significant change in the governance and enterprise three-factor formula percentages from 2006 to 2007, primarily resulting from the spin-off of Spectra. The next table summarizes the 2006 and 2007 allocations under the three-factor formula for each major business entity. These major business entities include Field Services, DEGT, Crescent

Final Report Public Version

IV. Service Company Overview Duk

Audit of Merger-Related Agreements Duke Energy-Kentucky

Resources, North American Non-regulated Generation (NANRG), and Duke Energy International.

	DEO	DEK	DEI	DEC	NP&L	DEGT	Field	NANRG	Inter'l	Cres	Other
Governance 2006	6.50%	1.52%	11.01%	36.55%		24.94%	3.91%	9.11%	3.50%	2.46%	0.50%
Governance 2007	9.66%	2.81%	16.07%	52.86%	0.69%			11.67%	5.64%		0.60%
Enterprise 2006	8.12%	1.88%	13.71%	45.54%		15.40%		11.29%	0.29%	3.14%	0.63%
Enterprise 2007	10.25%	2.99%	17.09%	56.17%	0.74%			12.46%	0.19%		0.11%
Utility 2006	11.66%	2.76%	19.86%	65.72%							
Utility 2007	11.73%	3.44%	19.66%	64.32%	0.85%						

Three-Factor Formula Percentages⁴

The Service Company's calculation of the three-factor formula ratio differs depending upon whether the functional cost pool is for governance-, enterprise-, or utility-level service costs. Calculation of the governance three-factor percentages includes both domestic and international assets, labor dollars, and gross margin. The enterprise three-factor formula percentage calculations, however, include only U.S.-based assets, labor, and gross margin. Consequently, the enterprise percentage calculations for 2006 excluded: (a) non-U.S Duke Energy International personnel, (b) DEGT Canada assets and personnel, and (c) gross margin associated with Duke Energy International and DEGT Canada. It also excluded Field Services. The Service Company justifies the exclusions on the basis that it does not support non-U.S. Duke Energy International personnel, and because it charged DEGT Canada and Field Services for enterprise-level services under a separate agreement in 2006. The Service Company deducted enterprise service revenues that it received under these agreements from its costs before allocating the remainder to the other business units.

When calculating the three-factor formula ratios for 2007. the Service Company removed DEGT (U.S. and Canada) and Field Services from all calculations, because these businesses were spunoff as of January 1, 2007. It also removed Crescent Resources, because that business is now accounted for as an equity investment, and effective January 1, 2007, does not use any governance or shared services. Such changes caused DE-Kentucky's governance and enterprise three-factor allocation percentages for 2007 to become notably higher than they were in 2006. The following table summarizes the components of DE-Kentucky's three-factor formula allocation percentages. Service Company personnel confirmed that the supporting documentation for the allocation percentages it provided in a prior audit were still valid.

	Governance %		Enterprise %		Utility %	
	2006	2007	2006	2007	2006	2007
Gross margin	1.00	2.11	1.32	2.29	1.89	2.56

DE-Kentucky Three-Factor Component Percentages

⁴ In 2007, the Service Company began to calculate the allocation percentages for Nantahala Power & Light (NP&L) separately from those of DE-Carolinas.

Final Re Public V	-	IV. Service Company Overview			0,		
	Labor dollars	1.48	3.35	1.77	3.46	2.39	3.81
	PP&E	2.07	2.98	2.55	3.20	3.95	3.93
	Three-factor formula	1.52	2.81	1.88	2.99	2.76	3,44

Utility three-factor allocation percentages remained relatively constant, because their calculation is unaffected by the gas spin-off. There was, however, a more noticeable impact on the utility three-factor allocation percentage for DE-Kentucky, which experienced significant increases in gross margin and labor over the prior year. The increase in gross margin was mainly attributable to a gas rate increase that went into effect in late 2005 and to weather conditions that increased gas and electric revenues. The increase in labor was due to the transfer of generation units to DE-Kentucky from DE-Ohio effective January 1, 2006.

There were also other changes in the Service Company's method for calculating the three-factor formula percentages. The Service Company changed its approach to deriving the total labor dollars for three-factor percentage calculations from 2006 to 2007. Instead of using data for a prior twelve-month period, the Service Company annualized the labor dollars for a four-month period (April 30 to July 31, 2006). The Service Company's rationale was to provide a better reflection of relative labor dollars among the companies post-merger. This approach is atypical, but responsive to the change in baseline conditions brought about by the combination of Duke Power and Cinergy. The Service Company also began deducting Asset Retirement Obligation (ARO) Net Asset Balance, which is typically composed of environmental obligations, from net PP&E.

Liberty reviewed the Service Company's calculations of three-factor allocation percentages. The Service Company relied upon data from financial reports to derive net PP&E and gross margin figures and on accounting system reports to derive total labor dollars.

6. Extent of Three-Factor Ratio Use

Whenever practical, costs should be accounted for and charged on a direct basis. Indirect allocation should be limited to cases where it is necessary. In those cases, the allocation factor, *i.e.*, the unit upon which a ratio is based, should correspond as nearly as possible to the measurable benefits and beneficiaries of the service or, said another way, to the causer of the costs. The use of general allocators, such as the three-factor formula, should be minimized. The Service Company, however, uses the three-factor formula ratio to allocate all but one of its governance-level functional cost pools and a large number of its enterprise- and utility-level pools.

There is no universally accepted way to allocate governance-level costs, and no method is perfect. What is clear, however, is that a company should directly charge or directly assign as much of these costs as possible, in an effort to minimize the amounts that must be allocated. One possible alternative to using the three-factor formula ratio for allocating governance pools would be to charge functional governance pools to business units in proportion to their use of enterprise- and utility-level services for the same function. As an example, the Service Company could calculate the ratio of a business unit's monthly direct and allocated charges for enterprise and utility accounting services to the Service Company's total monthly charges for these

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	IV. Service Company Overview	Duke Energy-Kentucky

services. The Service Company could then charge the business unit that same percentage of accounting governance costs. This approach would link a business unit's responsibility for accounting governance costs to its use of demand-driven accounting services, not its gross revenues, total labor, or net PP&E. This approach is appropriate for most governance functions; exceptions would include investor relations and internal auditing, which have no related enterprise- or utility-level cost pools. By adopting this approach, or one that accomplished the same result, the Service Company could limit its use of a general allocator for governance costs.

Similarly, there is no one correct way to allocate enterprise- and utility-level functional costs. However, using a general allocator for services that are "demand driven" is an oversimplification. Liberty has reviewed cost allocation methods and affiliate transactions at many utilities, and has found different approaches. What is atypical here, however, is the use of general allocators to distribute such a large proportion of service company demand-driven functional costs. DEBS and DESS allocate approximately \$200 million of governance-level costs and \$200 million of enterprise-level costs per year using the three-factor formula ratio. This is too large an amount to be distributed by generalized or imprecise methods.

7. Other Allocation Factors

Liberty examined a subset of allocation ratios that the Service Company uses for its cost pools for functions with both enterprise- and utility-level services. The next table summarizes this group of enterprise- and utility-level allocation factors.

Function	Enterprise	Utility
IT - Mainframe	CPU seconds	CPU seconds
IT - PC Support	# of PCs	# of PCs
IT - Server Support	# of Servers	# of Servers
IT - Communications	# of Employees	# of Employees
IT - Mgmt./Support	Three-factor	Three-factor
Finance	Three-factor	Three-factor
Internal Auditing	n/a	Three-factor
Executive	Three-factor	Three-factor
Human Resources	# of Employees	# of Employees
Public Affairs	Three-factor	Wt. avg. # of Customers and # of Employees
Accounting	Three-factor	Three-factor
Legal	n/a	Three-factor
Planning	Three-factor	Three-factor
Facilities Services	Three-factor	Three-factor
Facilities Locations	Square footage	Square footage
Environmental, Health and Safety *	Three-factor	Sales

Allocation Factors for Functions with Enterprise- and Utility-Level Services

Final Report Public Version	IV. Service Company Overview	Audit of Merger-Related Agreements Duke Energy-Kentucky

Materials Mgmt - Procurement *	Procurement spending	Procurement spending
Transport Aviation	Three-factor	n/a
Transport Vehicles	n/a	# of Employees

* Denotes that the utility-level service is also provided to NANRG

With the exception of the three-factor formula, the factors listed above are specific. They also generally correlate more closely with cost causers and beneficiaries. Liberty's examination of them included a review of the methods for calculating the ratios that apply these factors. Liberty found many of them to be appropriate. Some raised questions that merited closer examination, as discussed in the next sections of this report.

8. Number-of-Employees Ratio Calculation

The Service Company uses the number-of-employees ratio to allocate the costs of several enterprise- and utility-level functional cost pools, and to allocate governance-level human resources costs. The next table summarizes the DE-Kentucky number-of-employees allocation percentages for 2006 and 2007.

Governance %		Enterprise %		Utili	ty %
2006	2007	2006	2007	2006	2007
1.42	2.11	1.85	2.13	2.58	2.42

DE-Kentucky Number-of-Employees Allocation Percentages

DE-Kentucky's governance and enterprise number-of-employee allocation percentages for 2007 were higher than those for 2006. In addition to the spin-off of the gas business, one reason for the change is the relatively large reduction in NANRG employees used for purposes of the 2007 allocation. The Service Company identified several factors that caused the reduction of NANRG employees from 2,574 to 1,439:

- Wind down of Duke Energy Americas and the sale of Duke Energy North America (DENA) plants
- Sale of the marketing and trading function
- Reduction of Duke Energy Generation Services employees
- Differences in how DEBS and DESS service company employees were allocated in 2007.

Liberty examined the general approach the Service Company used to develop its three separate governance, enterprise, and utility number-of-employees ratios. The Service Company derives for each business unit two different adjusted employee headcount numbers. One drives the calculation of allocation percentages for utility- and enterprise-level cost pools; the other does the same for governance-level cost pools. Essentially, the Service Company adds a prorated share of its employees to each business unit's headcount figures, in order to spread to other business units the costs that would otherwise be associated with Service Company employees.

The Service Company uses the enterprise-level number-of-employees ratio to spread certain demand-driven (*i.e.*, enterprise) costs to all business units except for DEBS and DESS shared

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	IV. Service Company Overview	Duke Energy-Kentucky

services. In practice, the Service Company treats the corporate governance group like any other business unit, and allocates to it a portion of enterprise-level functional pool costs based on its adjusted number of employees. The Service Company uses the governance-level number-ofemployees ratio to spread certain corporate governance costs to all business units except for DEBS and DESS shared service and governance.

To calculate the 2007 ratios, the Service Company first began with the base headcount of each business unit as of June 30, 2006. The Service Company used headcount figures as of September 30, 2005, to calculate the 2006 percentages. It then adjusted these figures by spreading its shared service employees over all other business units, including the corporate governance group. The Service Company examined where both DEBS and DESS shared service personnel charged their time during the prior period, and assigned them to a business unit headcount accordingly. It also examined where DE-Carolinas employees charged time, in order to recognize that some DE-Carolinas employees would be moving to DEBS in 2007. For DE-Kentucky, the Service Company adjusted the utility's base headcount number of 208 to 390, in order to reflect its "share" of shared service personnel. The Service Company then used this revised number to calculate enterprise- and utility-level allocation percentages.

To calculate the "utility" number-of-employees percentage, the Service Company divides DE-Kentucky's adjusted number of employees by the total adjusted employees for all utilities (16,159), to yield 2.42 percent. To calculate the "enterprise" number-of-employees percentage, the Service Company divided DE-Kentucky's adjusted number of employees by the total adjusted number of enterprise employees (18,289), to yield 2.13 percent. Total enterprise employees consist of all Duke Energy employees excluding non-U.S. Duke Energy International employees, as well as DEBS and DESS employees designated as shared service employees. The Service Company does not provide shared services to the non-U.S. portion of Duke Energy International, but it does provide governance services.

The Service Company calculates a second adjusted headcount figure for each business unit, whereby it also spreads its governance employees over all non-Service Company business units. The Service Company further adjusted the DE-Kentucky headcount figure to 405, which reflects the addition of its share of governance employees. To derive the governance allocation percentage, it divided this figure by the total adjusted employees (19,197), yielding 2.11 percent.

The Service Company's approach for calculating the number-of-employees percentages changed from 2006 to 2007. For the purposes of 2006 percentages, the Service Company simply spread DEBS employees in a prorated fashion to all legacy Duke Power business units. It allocated DESS employees based on how the respective centers had mainly charged their time in the prior year, which meant that many of the DESS employees had been allocated across only the legacy Cinergy enterprise. For 2007 percentages, the Service Company grouped DEBS and DESS employees based on function; accounting personnel reviewed how these functions charged their time, and then allocated employees to business units on that basis.

Liberty's review of the calculation of the 2006 number-of-employees percentages revealed that the Service Company did not include DESS governance employees in its corporate governance group headcount. It included only the DEBS governance employees. Under the 2006 allocation,

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	IV. Service Company Overview	Duke Energy-Kentucky

therefore, the governance group received a slightly lower percentage of enterprise costs than it otherwise would have. The other business units received correspondingly more. Notably, the Service Company in turn allocates the governance group's costs to these same other business units. This second allocation causes the net effect of the error to be minimal. The Service Company indicated that it had not corrected the error for its 2007 calculations, and that the error in method may have affected other allocation ratios, such as number of PCs or servers.

The Service Company's "spreading" approach for determining the enterprise and governance number-of-employees ratios operates by adding a prorated share of its employees to business unit headcount figures, in order to spread costs that would otherwise be associated with Service Company employees. The approach involves a considerable degree of judgment and is at best an approximation. In simplest terms, the Service Company is attempting to assign each DEBS or DESS employee, or portion of each employee, to the business unit(s) he or she supports.

The Service Company indicated that it planned to eliminate the distinction between shared service and governance employees in the future, which means that it would have to develop a different approach for calculating this ratio.

9. Effect of the Service Company "Spreading" Approach on Other Ratios

Liberty examined the effects of the Service Company's "spreading" approach on the calculation of other allocation ratios. The next table summarizes the DE-Kentucky percentages for ratios used to allocate both enterprise- and utility-level costs.

Allocation Ratio		Enterprise %		Utility %	
	2006	2007	2006	2007	
Number of CPU seconds	0.16	0.19	0.28	0.28	
Number of PCs	1.43	1.78	1.81	1.97	
Number of servers	2.24	3.50	5.18	6.91	
Procurement spending	0.95	1.06	1.50	1.51	
Wt. avg. # of customers/employees			3.87	3.82	

DE-Kentucky Selected Allocation Percentages

The Service Company uses a spreading approach when calculating these five ratios similar to the one it used to calculate the number-of-employees percentages. The following example illustrates this approach. In order to calculate the number-of-servers allocation percentages, the Service Company had to first calculate adjusted server totals for each business unit. In the case of DESS, the Service Company conducted an analysis to determine which business units the DESS shared service employees supported, and spread the servers accordingly. In the case of DEBS, the Service Company simply prorated servers associated with DEBS shared service employees to the other legacy Duke Power business units, as well as to the DEBS corporate group, as summarized on the next table.

Associated with DEBS Shared Service Employees					
Entity	# of Servers	% of Total	% of Total w/o DEBS	Adj. # of Servers	
Corporate	121	14.85%	18.14%	148	
International	13	1.60%	1.95%	16	
DENA	280	34.36%	41.98%	342	
DukeNet	4	0.49%	0.60%	5	
DEC-Carolinas	249	30.55%	37.33%	304	
DEBS	148	18.16%			
Total	815	100.00%	100.00%	815	

Reallocation of Servers Associated with DEBS Shared Service Employees

The Service Company grossed up the number of servers for each supported business unit based on each unit's relative percentage of total servers. For example, DE-Carolinas had 249 servers, or 30.55 percent of the total of 815 servers, and had 37.33 percent of the 667 non-DEBS servers (815 less 148). DE-Carolinas was therefore assigned an allocation percentage for server support of 37.33 percent. DE-Carolinas, like the other business units, absorbs a portion of the cost of server support associated with DEBS employees. In this case, DE-Carolinas absorbs the cost for 55 of the 148 DEBS servers.

The Service Company used the adjusted total number of servers for each business unit, which included each unit's share of DEBS and DESS servers, to calculate the enterprise- and utility-level allocation percentages that it used to distribute, in this case, IT server support costs.

The Service Company made some modifications when it calculated some of these allocation percentages for 2007. For example, in some cases it used three-factor formula percentages to spread some enterprise allocation units (such as CPU seconds used by DESS), rather than conducting an analysis to determine which business units an employee supported (as it did for assigning PCs). As a general matter, DESS and DEBS each used slightly different methods to develop allocation factor units for 2006 allocation percentages, and have attempted to better align the methods for the 2007 calculations. Like the number-of-employees ratios, the Service Company's spreading approach for determining these percentages involves a certain degree of judgment and is at best an approximation.

The Service Company's approach to calculating these allocation percentages has implications for the cost of overhead. A portion of the cost for shared service functions that would otherwise be associated with providing that shared service, for example, a portion of human resource or IT costs, is not reflected in either the direct or allocated charges for a shared service function. As an example, the IT overhead costs associated with an employee performing enterprise-level accounting services are distributed to a business unit in proportion to how that business unit uses IT services, not how it uses accounting services. The business unit's allocation percentage for IT services incorporates the unit's share of the accounting group's IT costs.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	IV. Service Company Overview	Duke Energy-Kentucky

10. Allocation Ratios for "Utility-Only" Costs

Liberty examined the allocation ratios that the Service Company uses to allocate functions that it provides only to the regulated utilities, or that it provides to regulated utilities and NANRG, *i.e.*, that have no corresponding enterprise pool. The next table summarizes the allocation factors that the Service Company uses for these functions.

Utility Cost Allocation Pool Allocation Factor	
Meters	# of Customers
Rates	Sales
Fuels	Sales
Power Engineering/Construction *	Production plant construction expenditures
Rights of Way	Circuit miles of trans lines
Materials Mgmt. – inventory	Inventory
Electric System Maintenance	
Transmission System	Circuit miles of transmission lines
Distribution System	Circuit miles of distribution lines
Power Planning and Operations	
Generation Planning *	Electric peak load
Transmission Planning	Electric peak load
Distribution Planning	Wt. average of electric peak load and circuit miles of distribution lines
Generation Dispatch	Sales
Transmission Operations	Wt. average of electric peak load and circuit miles of transmission lines
Distribution Operations	Wt. average of electric peak load and circuit miles of distribution lines
Power Operations *	Generating unit MW capability
Wholesale power operations *	Sales
T&D Engineering/ Construction	
Transmission	Trans plant construction expenditures
Distribution	Dist plant construction expenditures
Marketing/Customer Relations	
Sales and DSM	Sales
Meter Read/Billing/Payment	# of Customers
Customer Service	# of Customers

Allocation Ratios for Utility-Only Service Company Functions

* Denotes that the service is also provided to NANRG

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	IV. Service Company Overview	Duke Energy-Kentucky

The preceding allocation factors used for utility-only cost pools bear a reasonable relationship to cost causers, beneficiaries, and benefits. The Service Company uses a weighted average of two ratios (circuit miles and electric peak load) to allocate costs for certain power planning and operations functions. The Service Company stated that it adopted this approach to take into account the specific aspects of a system, and noted that using both circuit miles and peak load better represented the usage and physical aspects of the system. The next table summarizes DE-Kentucky's allocation percentages for the listed utility-specific ratios.

Allocation Ratio	2007 %
Number of employees	2.42
Sales (sales/DSM, rates, env.)	4.96
Sales (gen. dispatch, fuels)	4.04
Sales (wholesale power)	n/a
Inventory	0.56
Construction expend Trans.	0.58
Construction expend Dist.	2.80
Construction expend Power	1.00
Number of customers	5.23
Electric peak load - Gen.	3.08
Electric peak load - Trans.	2.34
Circuit miles - Trans.	0.52
Circuit miles - Dist.	1.99
Wt. avg peak load/circuit - T	1.43
Wt. avg peak load/circuit - D	2.17
Gen. unit MW capability - Utility	4.59
Gen. unit MW capability - Reg.	6.47

DE-Kentucky Utility-level Service Allocation Percentages

The 2007 utility-level service allocation percentages generally changed very little from those of the prior year. Liberty's examination of the supporting documentation confirmed the Service Company's calculation of these utility-specific allocation ratios. The spreading issue addressed earlier does not apply here.

The Service Company uses three different sales ratios to calculate allocation percentages, depending upon the functional costs it is allocating. The following table summarizes the sales ratios for utility-level functional cost pools. The percentages in 2006 and 2007 were the same.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	IV. Service Company Overview	Duke Energy-Kentucky

Sales Ratio Allocation Percentages					
Entity	Rates, Marketing, and Environmental	Generation Dispatch and Fuels	Wholesale Power Operations		
DE-Indiana	19.46%	41.40%	28.72%		
DE-Kentucky	4.95%	4.04%	n/a		
DE-Ohio regulated	27.20%	n/a	n/a		
DE-Ohio non-reg, (NANRG)	n/a	n/a	54.61%		
DE-Carolinas	48.39%	54.56%	16.67%		
Total	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%		

The sales ratio that the Service Company uses for rates, marketing/sales/demand side management, and environmental affairs is based on Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) Form 1 data for megawatt hour sales; gas sales from the Midwest utilities are converted to equivalent kilowatt hours. The Service Company allocates costs for these functions to the former Cinergy utilities CG&E, ULH&P, and PSI, and to DE-Carolinas. The sales ratio that the Service Company uses for generation dispatch and fuels services is based on the same FERC Form 1 data, excluding DE-Ohio (because it has no regulated generation). Similarly, the sales ratio for wholesale power operations is based on FERC Form 1 data on non-requirements sales for resale for DE-Carolinas, DE-Ohio, and DE-Indiana (excluding DE-Kentucky because it has no sales for resale). Unlike the other two utilities, NANRG sales for resale are for the non-regulated generation business, although the relevant data still appear on DE-Ohio's FERC Form 1.

11. Service Company "Overhead"

The Service Company Utility Service Agreement does not explicitly discuss overhead costs; it states only that charges for services will be based on fully embedded costs. The DE-Carolinas affiliate transaction accounting manual mentions overhead, stating that Service Company charges will be based on fully distributed cost and include:⁵

- Labor and non-labor expenses
- Payroll taxes, fringe benefits, and incentives associated with labor expenses
- Overhead costs, such as management, administrative, facilities, telecommunications, computers, etc.
- Asset costs attributable to the Service Company, such as property tax, depreciation, property insurance, and cost of capital.

DEBS and DESS have significant overhead costs. The Service Company uses indirect approaches to account for and allocate these overhead costs. The Service Company spreads many of the overhead costs associated with shared service. *i.e.*, enterprise- and utility-level, functions to other business units by the way that it calculates certain allocation ratio percentages. Overhead costs associated with shared service employees are absorbed by other business units, not in proportion to the unit's actual use of the functional shared service, but in proportion to its own

⁵ Duke Energy uses the term "fully distributed cost" and "fully embedded costs" interchangeably.

overhead costs of the same type, such as those related to IT. While the Service Company does assign some overhead costs to governance employees or functions, it allocates those out for the most part using the general three-factor formula ratio.

The Service Company does not include overhead costs in direct labor charges to a business unit. Consequently, direct charges to a business unit for work performed on its behalf by a functional area such as accounting or legal consist only of fully loaded labor, which is not, by definition, fully allocated cost. As a general matter, the Service Company distributes overhead costs indirectly through one of the numerous functional cost pools.⁶ The amount of overhead costs that a given business unit receives for a shared service function, such as accounting, is based on how much of the cost pool that it receives using an allocation ratio, not on how much of the actual service it consumes. Stated differently, the business unit receives a portion of shared service accounting overhead costs for IT, for example, based on its own use of IT, not on its use of accountants.

Although most of the overhead costs for shared service employees have already been otherwise spread to the other business units, there are some relatively small overhead charges related to enterprise-level functions, such as office supplies or management costs. Typically, these nominal overhead costs are allocated in the same fashion as the allocation pool for the enterprise function. Even if a shared service employee directly charges all of his or her time, the employee's overhead would still be allocated via the cost pool. Direct charges for any enterprise-level functional services do not contain overhead.

The appendix to the Service Company Agreement states that the Service Company must maintain records of employee-related expenses and indirect costs for each functional group within the Service Company. It states that indirect costs should be directly assigned when identifiable to a particular activity, process, project, responsibility center, or work order. Liberty does not consider the allocation of all overhead costs using indirect methods to be appropriate.

The Service Company Agreement also states that charges under the contract "shall be at actual cost thereof, fairly and equitably assigned, distributed or allocated." The Service Company distributes overhead costs in such a way that it is extremely difficult to determine if the outcome is fair, *i.e.*, the cost of overhead is directly linked to cost causation or usage of services. In addition, the Service Company's method is not sufficiently transparent, and it is very difficult to verify through a document trail.

Under its approach, the Service Company does not know the all-in cost for any of the functions it performs. Liberty believes that the commitment by DE-Kentucky to maintain cost allocation procedures that accomplish the objective of preventing cross-subsidization imposes a requirement that the Service Company be able to do more than estimate the fully allocated cost of each of its services.

⁶ BDMS does not actually accumulate costs in an overhead pool and distribute them at month-end, as does FMIS. Instead, the BDMS system distributes a charge that would otherwise go into a pool as soon as it is booked, using the same allocation percentages that would apply to the relevant pool.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	IV. Service Company Overview	Duke Energy-Kentucky

The Service Company does assign to governance functions both its own overhead-type charges along with a portion of overhead costs such as IT or facilities costs that would otherwise be attributable to the DEBS and DESS shared service employees. In many cases, the Service Company can direct a share of these overhead costs to a specific governance pool, such as finance. If not, it essentially assigns the overhead costs into the Executive and Other governance pool. Therefore, all governance overhead costs, including the portion otherwise attributable to shared services, are allocated as if they had gone through a pool. Moreover, nearly all of the governance pools are allocated using the three-factor formula ratio. Direct charges for any governance-level functional services do not contain overhead. Previously, the Service Company distributed these overhead-type costs through the governance pools; it now allocates the overhead-type charges using the same percentage that would have been allocated from the governance pools.

The Service Company adopted its approach for handling overhead costs in order to "simplify" the process. It is hard to justify an overly simplistic approach to tracking and assigning overhead costs, much as it is difficult to justify an over-reliance on the use of general allocators to distribute Service Company costs. One cannot clearly correlate what a business unit like DE-Kentucky pays for a given service with how much it uses that service. Similarly, one cannot determine if DE-Kentucky is cross-subsidizing other business units through the charges that it pays for Service Company functions. If, as Liberty recommends below, the Service Company moves away from general allocators to a more sophisticated approach for pricing its functional services, such as activity prices, it will have to be more precise in tracking and assigning overhead costs.

C. Conclusions

1. Duke Energy does not maintain documentation sufficient to verify its compliance with Article I, Section 1.4 of the Service Company Utility Service Agreement. (Recommendation #1)

Within the context of an audit of this type, the only practical way to verify compliance is to determine that the company maintains documentation sufficient to give reasonable assurance of compliance. Otherwise, an independent and comprehensive organization and staffing study would be required. Liberty has undertaken reviews of that type, and therefore is familiar with the capability and resource requirements they impose. Such a study on a set of affiliates and work groups as large, dispersed, and complex as those here would require an undertaking significantly out of proportion to the resources devoted to this audit.

Duke Energy does not have documentation that provides a broad and deep enough basis for verifying that the Service Company was in compliance. Liberty's reading of the agreement is that the Service Company has an affirmative duty to comply, but given the state of documentation, that compliance cannot be verified.

Liberty believes that good utility practice does require a company to "maintain a staff trained and experienced in the design. construction, operation, maintenance and management of public utility properties." However, that standard does not require the maintenance of documentation that would on its face independently confirm the existence of such a staff. What makes such

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	IV. Service Company Overview	Duke Energy-Kentucky

documentation material here is the question of how the Service Company should be obliged to demonstrate compliance with the agreement. One way to do that would be to maintain sufficient documentation. Absent such documentation, Liberty can only conclude that compliance is not verified, but cannot conclude that compliance does not exist.

Decisions that Duke Energy has made to curtail its non-utility businesses, through disposition or otherwise, may have a bearing on the value, from a regulatory perspective, that such a study would produce. Good practice in a utility holding and service company structure calls for the organization and staffing of common resources to meet both utility and other needs, subject to the standard that utility costs and service quality should not suffer as a result. If this standard is not met, then the utility experiences net detriments, rather than net benefits, from a common approach to providing goods and services to multiple affiliates. It should never be the case that customers bear more costs as a result of commonality, absent benefits (clear, tangible, and material to or for customers) in the qualities of the goods and services provided.

Having made common organization and staffing decisions and commitments on that basis, one must recognize that, as affiliate businesses come and go, the bases underlying those decisions and commitments change. Particularly in the case of reductions in business scale or scope (here, for example, in the case of the Spectra disposition) it would be extremely rare for the organization and staffing of common service organizations to respond immediately. As scope and scale are lost, the numbers of personnel in many areas can be expected to contract. Reducing personnel numbers is expensive and generally cannot occur at a rate commensurate with the loss of resource-consuming affiliates or businesses.

Accordingly, one should expect at times closely following dispositions of non-utility businesses that there will be temporarily suboptimal organization structure and staff sizing for the remaining needs. Such dispositions are a significant phenomenon of late in the utility industry, and are true particularly at Duke Energy in the recent past. Moreover, at Duke Energy the utility sector now comprises a notably larger part of remaining needs. Therefore, however quickly and effectively Duke Energy is moving to make changes, one should expect inefficiencies that will in the near term increase utility costs, but eventually work their way out of the cost structure of the common service organizations.

It is not typical to find, and Duke Energy did not do so here, an assignment of any of the residual inefficiency costs to the parent or to the non-utility sector, thus leaving the utilities, like the remaining non-utility businesses, to bear them all. The utilities typically derive no benefit from the proceeds of the disposition or restructuring (*e.g.*, taking on an outside partner and changing to equity accounting) of other businesses or companies. The utilities should not have to bear the costs of inefficiency resulting from suboptimal staffing as the groups who provide services get resized and restructured. While it is easy to conclude that there are such inefficiencies and the utilities should not bear them, it would take a comprehensive organization and staffing study well beyond the scope of this engagement to measure the impact of that inefficiency and to postulate when it will have worked its way out of the system through restructuring and resizing the groups providing common support.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	IV. Service Company Overview	Duke Energy-Kentucky

In a ratemaking sense it is, however, true that the bearing of extra costs by the utility may not be of immediate consequence to customers. Whether customers bear any of those costs is a function of how recently rates were last reset or will be reset again.

2. The Service Company adopted generally appropriate conventions in its calculation of three-factor formula percentages.

The calculations of three-factor allocation percentages relied upon data from financial reports to derive net PP&E and gross margin figures and on accounting system reports to derive total labor dollars. The Service Company's calculations appeared reasonable in general, although there were slight differences in the time periods of the data it used for legacy Duke and legacy Cinergy companies.

3. The Service Company uses an effective set of allocation factors, but makes excessive use of general allocators. (*Recommendation #2*)

Liberty generally found the specific factors selected for enterprise and utility cost pools to correspond reasonably to cost causation, beneficiaries, and benefit levels. There is, however, a greater than necessary use of the three-factor formula ratio.

Whenever practical, costs should be accounted for and assigned on a direct basis; whenever indirect allocation is necessary, the allocation factor should correspond as nearly as possible to the cause of the costs or the beneficiaries of the services. The use of general allocators, such as the three-factor formula, should be minimized. Rather than using the three-factor formula to allocate most governance pools, the Service Company could charge functional governance pools to business units in proportion to their use of enterprise and utility-level services for the same function. This approach links a business unit's responsibility for governance-level function costs to its use of each function or service, not its gross revenues, total labor, or net PP&E. By adopting this approach, or one that accomplished the same purpose, the Service Company could limit its use of a general allocator for governance costs. The Service Company indicated that it found this alternative no more appropriate than the simpler three-factor allocation method.

One alternative approach that Liberty observed at another utility was to distinguish services, such as legal and IT, as "leveraged" services, which an affiliate can "buy." In this case, the holding company's service company accumulated costs in roughly 200 cost centers, which captured direct costs, employee overheads, vehicle costs, occupancy charges, and information system support costs. The service company calculated direct charges for specific activities using a standard rate, or activity-type price. The service company directly charged to the extent possible based on the activity price and usage, and allocated remaining costs in each cost center using one of the company's allocation ratios. The allocation ratios in this case were specific (*e.g.*, number of invoices, number of journal entries) because the activities were defined more precisely.

Liberty has observed much more robust approaches to assuring direct charging, including one that designated as many as 150 different services that a service company provided to itself, to affiliates, and to the parent. That company charged transactional services, such as invoice processing, on a per unit basis. It charged professional services, such as legal services, on a per hour basis. The service company used an activity-based costing process to identify the activities

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	IV. Service Company Overview	Duke Energy-Kentucky

associated with each of its services and to set an activity price for each unit of the service based upon the planned cost of the service and the agreed-upon demand for it.

Another example would be the use of time sheet estimates to allocate service company costs for the month, applying budgeted time estimates to actual monthly costs. Each quarter, one could use actual time sheet data to perform a true-up. Labor hours can drive the assignment of other departmental costs such as fringe benefits and overhead, which included cross-charges for such services as human resources and IT. The cost of any given service company function would in that case more closely represent the true cost of that function. If residual costs are minimized, they can then be allocated in the same proportion as direct charges.

The Service Company could improve its allocation of enterprise- and utility-level functional costs in several ways. First, however, it is extremely important that it directly charge or directly assign as much of these costs as possible. Liberty discusses the issue of whether or not the Service Company directly charges as much costs as possible in Chapter V of this report.

There are certainly other possible approaches to improve the link between the cost that a business unit pays for a shared service function and that unit's actual usage of that service. The Service Company could use a much more imaginative approach to pricing its demand-driven services than a general allocator. As an example, the Service Company could further refine the shared service functions into activities, allocating such activities as accounts payable by number of invoices, and financial accounting by number of journal entries. In any case, the Service Company should implement a protocol to directly charge or directly assign as much as possible, so that the amounts in any enterprise or utility allocation pool are truly residuals. And if the allocation pools are truly residuals, then they arguably could follow the proportion of direct charges each month. Liberty recognizes that the Service Company would need to realign the way it captures costs in order to significantly change its approach. For example, the Service Company cannot specifically identify the purpose of most direct charges to its affiliates, and does not accurately capture the overhead costs associated with its shared service functions.

Liberty believes that a change in method would not involve seeking approvals in various jurisdictions, because the language of the Service Company Agreement regarding fully embedded cost would not change. A change in method would arguably improve the calculation of the fully embedded costs specified in the agreement. Given the large amount of costs involved, the various jurisdictions will likely be amenable to a method that improves the link between cost causation and benefits.

4. The "spreading" approach used in calculating certain allocation percentages can cause charges for Service Company functions not to reflect fully embedded costs. (Recommendation #3)

In simplest terms, the Service Company's spreading approach attempts to assign each DEBS or DESS employee and associated overhead items such as PCs, servers, and CPU usage to the business units he or she supports. Liberty found that the spreading approach for determining certain enterprise and governance ratios involves a considerable degree of judgment and is at best an approximation.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	IV. Service Company Overview	Duke Energy-Kentucky

Because the Service Company does not assign any of certain enterprise-level costs to the Service Company shared service functions, the charges for a given function may not represent fully allocated costs. It is unclear why, for example, DEBS governance pools should receive a share of such costs as accounting, finance, and human resources, but the DEBS shared service functions should not. The costs of utilizing a Service Company employee should not depend upon whether the Service Company has labeled that employee as governance or shared services. In order to move away from over-use of the three-factor formula and significantly change its approach for charging demand-driven enterprise-level services, the Service Company may need to realign the way it captures costs. At present, the Service Company does not accurately distribute indirect, more specifically overhead, costs associated with its shared service functions in relationship to the directly assigned costs of the function, as specified in the Service Company Agreement.

5. The Service Company's method for distributing its overhead costs is simplistic, and does not provide a good match between a business unit's use of a service function and the cost that it pays for that function. (*Recommendation #4*)

The Service Company's treatment does not conform sufficiently to the intent of the Service Company Agreement, which states that indirect costs, which include overhead costs, should be directly assigned when identifiable to a particular activity, process, project, responsibility center, or work order. The Service Company uses an oversimplified approach to account for and allocate Service Company overhead costs by (a) spreading many of the overhead costs associated with enterprise-level functions to other business units by the way that it calculates allocation ratio percentages, and (b) failing to include overhead costs in direct labor charges to business units. The amount of overhead costs that a given business unit absorbs for a shared service function is based on how much of the cost pool that it receives using an allocation ratio, not on how much of the actual service it consumes. Similarly, all governance-level overhead costs flow to a pool, and the Service Company allocates nearly all of the governance pools to business units using the three-factor formula ratio.

An illustrative example may be helpful. If a DE-Carolinas engineer performed work for DE-Kentucky in 2006, DE-Carolinas charged the affiliate fully allocated cost, which in this case included labor, labor loaders, plus overhead loaders including administrative, facilities, supervisory, and corporate services costs. The fully loaded cost represents the opportunity cost of DE-Carolinas using the same engineer to perform work in-house. If that same engineer moved to DEBS in 2007 and performed the same work for DE-Kentucky, however, the Service Company would directly charge the affiliate labor plus labor loaders, but not overhead. It is not clear why the cost for the same engineer should be different. The overhead associated with that engineer is now spread over all business units through various allocation percentages for areas such as IT or human resources; the overhead is not linked directly to the affiliate's use of the engineer.

Liberty undertook in this and the prior audit considerable effort to fully understand the Service Company's approach to distributing its overhead costs. The information that Liberty was able to obtain from the Service Company was insufficient to fully uncover all of the potential issues with the approach. However Liberty believes that the Service Company's approach for handling overhead costs is far from transparent, and leaves one unable to determine whether DE-Kentucky is cross-subsidizing other business units in the charges it pays for individual services. or for Service Company charges combined.

D. Recommendations

1. Identify and implement a program that Duke Energy and stakeholders consider appropriate for assessing whether the Service Company complies with Article I, Section 1.4 of the Service Company Utility Service Agreement. (Conclusion #1)

The wording of the agreement is straightforward in describing the burden that the Service Company has assumed. Duke Energy does not, however, have a formal method for determining whether it is meeting that burden. The way to address this gap is to commence a formal program of studying the needs of the business units and whether the complements of the Service Company do in fact meet the needs of the entities they serve. Recognizing that compliance by means other than an agreed-to set of documentation will require independent study, Duke Energy should work with stakeholders to determine what degree of comfort about compliance with this agreement provision is to be obtained.

2. Narrow the use of the three-part formula allocator. (Conclusion #3)

The Service Company should establish an expedited program for identifying substantially more costs for direct charging and should create a layer of more specific allocation factors to address as many remaining costs as possible before applying its three-part formula allocator. It should also consider as an alternative converting its method to an activity-based costing approach, which is more in line with best practices used at other utilities. Oversimplified methods using general allocators do not allow the precision necessary to demonstrate that DE-Kentucky pays no more than fully embedded costs for each individual service.

3. Eliminate the effect of spreading overhead costs from the calculation of allocation percentages. (*Conclusion #4*)

The Service Company calculates many of its ratios in such a way that it spreads what would otherwise be overhead costs associated with shared service functions to the other business units. As a result, overhead costs associated with shared service employees are absorbed by other business units, not in proportion to the unit's actual use of the functional service, but in proportion to its own overhead costs. Service Company charges to business units therefore do not reflect fully embedded costs for individual functions or services. The effect of spreading overhead costs needs to be eliminated from the calculation of allocation percentages.

4. Develop a method to fairly assign Service Company overhead costs. (Conclusion #5)

The Service Company should develop a new method to track and assign Service Company overhead costs that result in a good match between a business unit's use of a service function and the cost that it pays for that function. In order to move away from an over-reliance on general allocators, the Service Company will need a more sophisticated approach for pricing its functional services, and will have to be more precise in tracking and assigning the overhead component of cost.

Many of the overhead-type costs that the Service Company currently spreads by way of its allocation percentage calculations or allocates by other methods could be converted into peremployee-hour rates and applied as a component of a Service Company overhead loader. The Service Company could more closely approximate the fully embedded cost for its services by

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	IV. Service Company Overview	Duke Energy-Kentucky

converting certain IT, human resources, facilities, depreciation, and capital costs to overhead rate components. For example, the Service Company allocates approximately \$14 million in capital costs associated with DEBS employee space in DE-Carolinas buildings to business units using the governance three-factor formula ratio. There is no clear relationship between a business unit's share of these costs and its consumption of Service Company functions. These capital costs are known in advance and could be converted into a per hour rate in a straightforward fashion. Each DEBS employee hour, whether directly charged to a business unit or charged into an allocation pool, could carry with it the appropriate share of this type of overhead cost.

If the Service Company does not pursue a new approach and were to continue its approach of spreading overhead charges in a fashion that is not linked to usage of services or cost causation in any discernible way, Liberty recommends that it be required to make a showing that its approach yields equitable results, and results comparable to more direct, less simplified approaches. Similarly, the Service Company should be required to make a showing that its charging method results in fully allocated costs for each function that it provides.



V. Service Company Charges

A. Introduction

Charges from the Service Company to the business units totaled \$1.5 billion in 2007. The next table summarizes the charges from DEBS to the individual business units.

新学会 計算的 1	新的保险法律法	新社会社会
	新达公式 1994年	
新新政策		
國家在臺灣議	和公共改变	

The next table summarizes the charges from DESS to the individual business units during 2007.

新生成 写达的		科学习的 学生
國防衛星的總統		
		新学校 主要
	關於的同時	
		党和社会和 在

Data on DEBS charges originate from FMIS, the legacy Duke Power accounting system, and data on DESS charges originate from BDMS, the legacy Cinergy accounting system. Service Company charges to DE-Kentucky totaled approximately \$48 million, which is consistent with the amount reported in the company's Financial Statements and Auditor's Report for 2007.

B. Findings

1. Charges Not Addressed by the Service Agreement

Some charges for goods and services that flow through the Service Company are not expressly covered by the Service Company Utility Service Agreement, although they are reflected in the Service Company accounting data. Many may accurately be described as inter-company charges. As such, the dollar figures in the charts above may be misleading.

Most of these charges are between DEBS and DE-Carolinas. For example, in the first quarter of 2007, DEBS directly charged DE-Carolinas nearly \$50 million for employee benefits and pension costs, including items such as "other post-employment benefits", which generally consist of retiree health benefits and are commonly termed "OPEB." Phantom stock and employee savings plans represent other benefit costs that comprise the \$50 million. The service agreement defines the human resources function as one that, among other things, "processes payroll and employee benefits payments." It is not clear whether this language refers only to the mechanics of processing payments, or whether it is meant to imply that the human resources group should pay the bills and then subsequently charge the relevant business units. In either event, the \$50 million in charges does not represent the costs incurred directly to process payments, but the pass through of the payments themselves.

As another example, DE-Carolinas was directly charged \$1.5 million during the first quarter of 2007 for liability insurance by the DEBS Engineering and Construction–Power Production function. Processing liability insurance is not within the functional definition for this group in the service agreement. The Service Company merely selected this responsibility center to use as the source of the charges.

Midwest costs for similar items typically had been recorded directly on the books of the utilities, and did not pass through DESS. However, during 2007, the Service Company began to flow some of these costs through DEBS. For example, DEBS directly charged the legacy Cinergy companies approximately \$400,000 per month for workers' compensation amortization expense. The consolidation of DEBS and DESS will cause this use of the Service Company as a conduit for such costs to continue. The Service Company plans to flow most employee benefits costs through DEBS; however, the associated obligation would remain on the utility's balance sheet.

2. Correlation between Functions and Responsibility Centers

Wherever practical, costs should be accounted for and assigned on a direct basis so that the beneficiary of the goods or services provided pays its costs. A company should make reasonable efforts to maximize the use of direct assignment over allocation.

Normally, Liberty examines how service company departments capture monthly costs associated with a specific shared service function, and then in turn how it charges these costs out to business units. Duke Energy Service Company departments do not precisely correspond to service functions as defined in the service agreement. The alignment is somewhat closer for more traditional support functions such as accounting or finance. Service Company responsibility centers do not, however, line up with those services that had traditionally been performed at the

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	V. Service Company Charges	Duke Energy-Kentucky

utility level but have now moved to the Service Company. Engineering and construction provide examples. Here, such services can be performed by a wide number of centers, and each center can perform more than one service (*e.g.*, distribution engineering and construction and distribution planning). In these cases, one cannot match up the departments on an organizational chart with the Service Company shared services on a one-for-one basis. Multiple responsibility centers may be involved, either directly or indirectly, in the provision of services. The Service Company indicated that the list of services in the agreement were not intended to reflect how it would be organized from an internal management perspective, but to describe in general the nature of the service being provided.

The Service Company analyzes and tracks charges by both the originating center and the business units receiving the charges. Business units typically keep track of the dollars charged to them. Direct charges show up on each unit's budget as a separate item, as would any other cost. The Service Company does not separately track or capture costs at a "departmental" level. Instead, it looks at the total costs charged out by a responsibility center during the month, which by default must be the same as the total costs that had been incurred by that center during the month.

Liberty generally can examine a company's department-level accounting information and determine, in a relatively straightforward fashion, how much a utility paid for legal services. finance, or other shared services in a given month. This ability conforms to the general view that functional collection of costs promotes efforts to manage the costs for services received, whether from internal, service-company, or third-party sources. Duke Energy's approach and structure do not operate in this fashion. The Service Company has assigned each responsibility center to one of the Service Company functions in order to derive estimates of services provided under each function. The Duke Energy approach does not, however, clearly identify the nature of a direct charge from a responsibility center. Direct charges from a legal responsibility center that reports to the general counsel could represent, for example, charges for legal services or for internal auditing. A direct charge from an employee in the engineering and technical services staff might be for transmission and distribution (T&D) planning, T&D operations, or T&D engineering and construction services. Similarly, one cannot predict how a given employee in a responsibility center time into any functional cost allocation pool or to any business unit.

3. DEBS Direct and Allocated Charges

Liberty examined DEBS direct charges and allocated charges for governance and shared services for the audit period of 2007. The next table summarizes the direct and allocated charges to each business unit.



Final Report Public Version	V. Servi	ce Company Cha		lerger-Related Ag Duke Energy-K	
		<u>是这些</u> 关于这			
		State In 19			
Red Sheet	能研究的发		1995 - 1995 - 1		

Viewed on an overall basis, DEBS directly charged to client companies approximately 40 percent of its total charges. Direct charges to DE-Kentucky for services totaled **services** in the audit period, or less than one percent of total DEBS direct charges. The bulk of the direct charges went to DE-Carolinas.

Liberty examined DEBS charges in more detail by major cost category for a sample month to test how well it performed in maximizing the direct charging of labor costs. The next table summarizes the labor and non-labor components of DEBS direct and allocated charges for October 2007.

		Maxima selata takan Maxima selata takan Maxima selata takan	~	
	國國際 的复数			
	新的现在分			
计图1223年 2018年4月14日	的時代這個部分	ANN CARE AND		
	antina na para sa sa s a sa		in the second	

The table shows that DEBS directly charged approximately 38 percent of its total charges, and approximately 43 percent of its loaded labor. The next table shows that a much higher percentage of charges coming to DE-Kentucky were allocated rather than directly charged.

-	相關性		
用的标识和 和			
公司 在1993年3月1日		服使服务	

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	V. Service Company Charges	Duke Energy-Kentucky

Liberty examined allocated charges in more detail to confirm that DE-Kentucky received a percentage of charges consistent with established Service Company allocation percentages. The next table summarizes total DEBS allocated charges for October 2007.

RUG STATE

Of the total **control** in DEBS allocated charges in October 2007, **control** related to governance-level functions. Liberty recalculated DE-Kentucky's portion of DEBS allocated governance costs for the month to confirm that charges were consistent with its 2007 allocation percentages, which the next table summarizes.

	想是我们的		赦 任死亡
			Marka A
			a for della sin Maria 1825 e
His Church			
	認知識認識		
			编辑的
			医
		認識的	
		<u>集大部分</u> 日本 11月	
	规制的和新		

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	V. Service Company Charges	Duke Energy-Kentucky

Liberty found that DE-Kentucky's total charges from pools allocated using the three-factor formula ratio and from the human resources governance pool, allocated using the number-of-employee ratio, were consistent with 2007 allocation percentages.

Of the total **DEBS** allocated charges in October 2007, **DEBS** allocated to enterprise-level functions. Liberty recalculated DE-Kentucky's portion of DEBS allocated enterprise costs for the month to confirm that charges were consistent with DE-Kentucky's 2007 allocation percentages, as the next table summarizes.

			記述会
	的建筑和	影響線的	
		教授这次	
States -			
	新自然的分		704%.
			建水合
			Real Maria
			1999 (S. 1997)
	關係的原		

Liberty's calculated figures were consistent with the amounts charged for the month to DE-Kentucky from enterprise-level allocation pools.

Final Report				
Public	Version			

Allocated charges from utility-level pools totaled **DE-Kentucky's** in October 2007. Liberty recalculated DE-Kentucky's portion of DEBS allocated utility service costs for the month to confirm that charges were consistent with DE-Kentucky's 2007 allocation percentages, which the next table summarizes.

			A CONTRACTOR		
			能 得。有		
是这些你们的。""你们的你们。" 第二章					
的 是我们的问题是是可能的问题。	a the second	建 物			
			教会 教		
	雪彩郁		Arthurst Barton Arthurst Barton Charton Arthurst		
			and a start of the		

Public Version V. Service Co	V. Service Company Charges		ergy-Kentucky
	NERATE CREAT		

Liberty's calculated figures were consistent with the amounts charged for the month to DE-Kentucky from utility-level allocation pools.

4. DESS Direct and Allocated Charges

Liberty examined DESS direct charges and allocated charges for governance and shared services for the audit period of 2007. The next table summarizes the direct and allocated charges to each business unit.

教 法的印刷和			
			新教教教
ST ES AND			
新教授教授		影响的小时间	
			教授 法教教教
	的自己的问题。		
新教 上的大学教			
的外部 的	MARKAR K		

DESS directly charged to client companies approximately 40 percent of its total charges. Direct charges to DE-Kentucky for services totaled **Exception** in the audit period, or approximately seven percent of total DESS direct charges.

Liberty examined DESS charges in more detail by major cost category for a sample month in order to assess performance in directly charging labor. The next table summarizes the labor and non-labor components of DESS direct and allocated charges for October 2007.

			中国人名法德
素調整			
	家的版		
			和自治的

In this month, DESS directly charged approximately 48 percent of its total charges, and approximately 59 percent of its loaded labor. The next table shows that DE-Kentucky received a higher percentage of total charges as direct rather than allocated charges.

anta anta anta Anta anta anta Angelesian anta anta			

Liberty examined DESS allocated charges in more detail to confirm that DE-Kentucky received a percentage of governance and shared service charges consistent with established Service Company allocation percentages. The next table summarizes total allocated charges for October 2007.

Of the total **determined** in DESS allocated charges in October 2007, **determined** related to governance-level functions. Liberty recalculated DE-Kentucky's portion of DESS allocated governance costs for the sample month to confirm that charges were consistent with DE-Kentucky's 2007 allocation percentages for three-factor and number-of-employees governance ratios, which the next table summarizes.

		<u></u>
	\$45.A	
19. 国际市场中的改革的	12.20	BURKE
	这些法 定	
	教教院	

	ŝ	
和自然的		
	國語語意	

Liberty's calculated figures were consistent with the amounts charged to DE-Kentucky for the month.

Of the total **definitions** in DESS allocated charges in October 2007, **definitions** related to shared service functions. Liberty recalculated DE-Kentucky's portion of DESS allocated shared service (*i.e.*, enterprise- and utility-level) costs for the sample month to confirm that charges were consistent with DE-Kentucky's 2007 allocation percentages, which the next table summarizes.

and a second second second second		
	化的研究	
	於外族	
的主要是因为非常非关键和分组成的。可能在		

inal Report ublic Version	V. Service Com	pany Charges	Audit of Merger- Dul	Related Agreement & Energy-Kentuck
	ute provinsi se u provinsi se			
			<u> </u>	
		翻译的		

Liberty's calculated figures were consistent with the amounts charged to DE-Kentucky for the month.

Of the **Midwest-only** in allocated shared service charges, DESS charged **Midwest-only** (nearly half) to Midwest-only allocation pools. DESS used well over 50 allocation pools. DESS structures these pools based on how the charges are allocated, rather than on the specific Service Company function or activities they may include. The reason for the large number of pools is threefold:

- DESS created specific pools that are allocated by a large number of factors (*e.g.*, number of employees, circuit miles) that mirror those of regular shared service pools
- DESS created specific pools that pertain to specific subsets of Midwest entities
- DESS created specific pools that are similar in all other aspects except the way in which the charges are ultimately allocated between a utility's gas and electric operations.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	V. Service Company Charges	Duke Energy-Kentucky

As examples, the Midwest-only pools designated by the LOB codes R20 and R21 are both allocated to DE-Indiana, DE-Kentucky, and DE-Ohio based on Midwest-only three-factor formula percentages; the further split between electric and gas for DE-Kentucky and for DE-Ohio are based on labor and number of customers, respectively. The Midwest-only allocation pool designated by the LOB code R30 is allocated to DE-Indiana, DE-Kentucky, and DE-Ohio, as well as NANRG.

Liberty recalculated DE-Kentucky's portion of the Midwest-only charges, using allocation percentages provided by the Service Company, which the next table summarizes.

	j	
MINER CONTRACT	1.599 (1.199) 	
	244771	
和時期	建 酸盐:	
國統		
		1944 1944
識態		
御 家		
		ga ser c

1	1	ſ	ı ı
建设 公式在1000月2日2月1日			
	建物质		161926
相关之前,这些这种发展的			STARS.
			諸な
		102March	
	1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 -		

Liberty's calculated figures were consistent with the amounts charged to DE-Kentucky for the month.

5. Direct and Allocated Charges for Traditional Business Functions

Liberty reviewed sample month's charges from individual business functions in order to evaluate Service Company performance in maximizing the percentage of costs directly charged. There is no clear alignment between Service Company functions and departments; therefore, a more straightforward departmental analysis was not practicable.

The next table summarizes October 2007 direct and allocated charges identified by the Service Company as related to the legal function.

			Sector Photo-	
	关系统理论	Jan Harr	Tare ide	

May 19, 2009
Final Report Public Version		Audi V. Service Company Charges			t of Merger-Related Agreements Duke Energy-Kentucky		ents icky	

The October 2007 data indicate that the Service Company allocates significantly more legal loaded labor than it directly charges. Approximately 70 percent of loaded labor costs are allocated to business units. Charges for outside services and contract labor constitute the largest non-labor cost category for the legal function. The Service Company directly charged or directly assigned nearly 90 percent of those costs to client companies.

The next table summarizes October 2007 direct and allocated charges identified by the Service Company as related to the IT function.

	in an					
and Bro						
				网络制造物的	新行动的动力	
KARE				教育学生		
					6-23.3 M	
	派的名称				的時期時代	
		承达教训会	ESSEL SE			
		<u>Anatos</u>				

In October 2007, the Service Company allocated significantly more IT loaded labor than it directly charged. Approximately 84 percent of loaded labor costs are allocated to business units. Charges for outside services and contract labor constitute one of the largest non-labor cost categories for the IT function. The Service Company directly charged or directly assigned only 20 percent of those costs to client companies. Similarly, the Service Company directly charged or assigned about 40 percent of hardware and software purchase and maintenance expenses.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	V. Service Company Charges	Duke Energy-Kentucky

6. Direct and Allocated Charges for Utility-Related Shared Services

Liberty reviewed sample month's charges from individual utility-related functions, in order to test Service Company performance in maximizing the percentage of its costs directly charged. The next table summarizes October 2007 direct and allocated charges identified by the Service Company as related to the power engineering and construction function.

	REALING AND			
			\$ \$\$	國際政府探
機關條				
3490-SP				關語的認識
		建物建筑		

The October 2007 data indicate that the Service Company directly charges the majority of loaded labor, allocating only approximately 10 percent to business units. Charges for outside services and contract labor constitute one of the larger non-labor cost categories for this function. The Service Company directly charged or directly assigned nearly 95 percent of those costs to client companies.

The next table summarizes October 2007 direct and allocated charges identified by the Service Company as related to the rates function.

		and a second s	13年1月1日日 19月1日日 19月1日日
	的全体	權利的	



The Service Company directly charged approximately 60 percent of loaded labor. The Service Company directly charged or directly assigned approximately 90 percent of charges for outside services and contract labor to client companies.

7. Service Company Cost of Capital

The Service Company recovers from business units the depreciation expense associated with DEBS assets, most of it through an allocation pool that it distributes using the enterprise three-factor formula ratio. However, the Service Company separately identifies certain DEBS assets as related to achievement of the merger, and recovers the depreciation associated with those assets as part of a cost-to-achieve pool. It allocates this portion by using the governance three-factor formula ratio.

The Service Company added a considerable number of assets during 2007. DEBS assets net of depreciation at year-end 2007 were \$254 million, compared to \$121 million as of year-end 2006. DEBS depreciation expense for 2007 totaled \$28.7 million. Liberty's review of Service Company inter-company charge data substantiated that DEBS monthly depreciation expense of approximately \$2 million was accurately allocated to the business units, including DE-Kentucky.

As of year-end 2007, DESS capital assets had a value net of depreciation of \$52 million; software comprises the majority of this value. During 2006, the Service Company had allocated all depreciation costs associated with DESS capital assets to Midwest business units only. The justification was that only one set of service company assets -- in particular financial systems -- was needed to run a corporation. Therefore, the reasoning went, the depreciation associated with the duplicate systems on the Cinergy side should not be spread to all business units. In 2007, the Service Company began to accelerate the depreciation on certain DESS financial systems identified for replacement in the transition to PeopleSoft, and re-categorized the depreciation associated with those assets as part of its merger cost-to-achieve. Of the \$18.1 million in DESS depreciation expense during 2007, \$4.3 million was treated as a cost-to-achieve. It was allocated to business units using the governance three-factor formula ratio. The remainder of the depreciation costs was charged exclusively to Midwest entities. Liberty's review of Service Company inter-company charge data substantiated that DESS monthly depreciation expense was allocated as described to the business units, including DE-Kentucky.

8. Facilities Rate of Return Allocation Pool

DE-Carolinas calculates capital charges associated with its owned facilities in North Carolina. It calculates the amount of depreciation, property tax, property insurance, and cost of capital (net book value times the allowed rate of return) associated with each of the buildings. DE-Carolinas directly charges its non-Service Company affiliates for their share of these costs based on occupied square footage in individual buildings. The amount of these capital costs that would otherwise be assignable to DEBS is placed into a Service Company Facilities Rate of Return

	ted Agreements
Public Version V. Service Company Charges Duke Er	nergy-Kentucky

(Facilities ROR) governance pool. This pool is not specifically addressed in the Service Company Agreement, but is nonetheless an indirect cost of providing the service functions.

During 2007, DEBS allocated this pool to all business units, including DE-Kentucky, based on the governance three-factor formula. In 2006, it used the governance number-of-employees ratio. DE-Carolinas provided supporting documentation showing its calculation of 2007 capital costs per square foot for approximately 25 facilities. The analysis compared the annual cost per square foot for each facility to market-based rates for that facility. DE-Carolinas's cost was higher than market for all but one facility, *i.e.*, a small garage. The DE-Carolinas calculation of capital costs used the market rate for that one facility and its actual cost for the remainder. This approach is consistent with the requirement that DE-Carolinas charge the higher of cost or market. Arguably, DE-Kentucky is paying higher than fully embedded cost for its share of that one facility; the effect, however, is *de minimis*, as the total cost for this facility is extremely small (approximately \$400 per year).

The DEBS share of the capital costs is \$1.0 million per month. DEBS also is responsible for \$0.15 million per month in depreciation associated with the alternative data center located at the McGuire nuclear station, which brings the monthly cost to \$1.15 million. Of the total facilities ROR pool charges of \$13.8 million in 2007, DE-Kentucky received 2.81 percent. Liberty's review of Service Company inter-company charge data substantiated that the monthly Facilities ROR expense of \$1.15 million was accurately allocated to the business units, including DE-Kentucky.

Liberty sought to determine whether the Facilities ROR pool charges in 2007 reflect the movement of approximately 2,000-2,100 employees from DE-Carolinas to DEBS effective in January. Accounting personnel reported that the company performs routine studies to calculate ROR governance pool charges. The study to determine 2007 charges conducted in early 2007 used 2006 data. The 2007 charges therefore do not reflect the space occupied by the utility employees moved to DEBS; the additional space will not be incorporated into charges until the study for 2008, which will use 2007 data. Charges to DE-Kentucky in 2007 were lower than they otherwise would have been if DEBS had incurred the cost of the additional space.

The Service Company collects similar costs for legacy Cinergy buildings; however, it does not include property insurance (reportedly only \$20-30 thousand per year) in its calculations. The Service Company provided a summary showing the derivation of capital costs of \$9.43 million associated with the Cinergy Plainfield facilities and \$9.72 million associated with the Cinergy Cincinnati facilities. DESS occupies 92.09 percent of the Plainfield facilities and \$9.65 percent of the Cincinnati facilities, which translates into costs of \$8.69 million and \$8.71 million, respectively. Accounting personnel use journal entries each month to assign the relevant portion of these costs to the business units, based on square footage. The Service Company conducts an analysis of how DESS personnel support the various business units, and assigns square footage to business units accordingly. DE-Kentucky receives 5.4 percent of the charges associated with the Cincinnati facilities and 6.0 percent of the charges associated with the Plainfield facilities. Liberty's review of Service Company inter-company charge data with accounting personnel substantiated that the DESS monthly facilities expense of \$1.5 million was accurately allocated to the business units.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	V. Service Company Charges	Duke Energy-Kentucky

9. Spectra Transition Agreement

The Service Company had separate service agreements with Duke Energy Field Services and with the Canadian portion of Duke Energy Gas Transmission for shared services in 2006. Charging costs across the U.S./Canadian border has tax implications. The Service Company identified the costs relevant to the Canadian portion of DEGT, and charged them to the U.S. portion of DEGT, which in turn billed them to DEGT Canada. Both affiliates comprised part of the Spectra gas portfolio spun off by Duke Energy in January 2007. The Service Company entered into a new, short-term agreement with Spectra for 2007, under which it typically priced individual services on a flat-fee rather than hourly basis. The Service Company sent Spectra an invoice for the work each month, and then credited back the charges to the appropriate responsibility center or cost allocation pool. Spectra also provided a small amount of services to the Service Company during 2007; the Service Company charged the costs to the appropriate business group or allocation pool. The Service Company billed Spectra \$15.2 million during 2007. The transition agreement with Spectra ceased as of year-end 2007.

Liberty's audit of DE-Carolinas included a review with accounting personnel of the processing of charges to Spectra under its 2007 transition service agreement. Liberty was satisfied that the Service Company was appropriately billing Spectra for services under the contract, that it was being appropriately billed for services performed by Spectra, and that it was accounting for the charges paid by or to Spectra correctly.

10. Gas Company Spin-off Costs

During 2007, Duke Energy incurred costs of approximately \$17.7 million in connection with the spin-off of the gas business. ⁷ Duke Energy recorded these costs in the Special Projects responsibility center at the Service Company level. The Service Company generally included these costs in the Executive and Other governance pool, which it allocated to all business units, including DE-Kentucky, by applying the three-factor formula ratio. DE-Kentucky received an allocation of 2.81 percent of these costs. or \$0.5 million.

11. Examination of Senior Executive Labor Charge Distribution

Liberty's audit of DE-Carolinas examined time reporting data for the top executives of the corporation, the majority of which were part of the Service Company, to evaluate whether they charged their time in a reasonable fashion. Liberty had identified a number of errors; work in this audit sought to determine if and how the Service Company had corrected these errors.

The group of 64 executives that Liberty had originally reviewed in its audit of DE-Carolinas included the CEO, the executives that directly report to the CEO, and the direct reports of the CEO's direct reports. This group included positions such as group executive, president, senior vice president, and vice president. Accounting personnel provided data from FMIS covering the July 2006 to May 2007 period and data from BDMS covering the January to May 2007 period.

Liberty's audit of DE-Carolinas found that Duke Energy's costs to achieve the spin-off during 2006 were approximately \$58.0 million. plus \$9.4 million in capitalized software

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	V. Service Company Charges	Duke Energy-Kentucky

The accounting group sets up in its payroll system for each employee a default salary distribution, which specifies the percentage of salary that should be charged to specific business units or Service Company allocation pools. Unless the employee submits a time report specifying otherwise, salary is charged according to the default distribution. Two senior executives positively reported time during the period.

Liberty found that seven senior executives, including the DE-Carolinas President and six executives in nuclear-related areas, directly charged all of their time to DE-Carolinas in the time period. Unlike most other executives, they are not part of the Service Company for payroll purposes. Another ten senior executives directly charged their time to Midwest utilities or NANRG for the entire time period, consistent with their areas of responsibility. The senior executive in charge of new generation projects directly charged his time to DE-Carolinas, DE-Indiana, and NANRG. Liberty found the treatment for these 18 executives to be reasonable.

In all, 22 senior executives charged their time exclusively to one of the Service Company governance-level pools, such as human resources, accounting, and public affairs, throughout the time period. Liberty found this approach reasonable.

Of the remaining 24 senior executives originally reviewed by Liberty in its audit of DE-Carolinas, two charged their time to a single business entity; the rest charged into one or more pools in 2006. The Service Company uses an allocation method that is more accurately described as direct assignment to distribute the labor charges for three of the executives in the last group. The legacy Cinergy organization developed this approach in order to distribute salary costs for certain employees to both O&M and capital accounts, and distribution percentages were developed based on an analysis of the activities supported by these executives. Accounting personnel indicated that the direct assignment method will disappear when the legacy Cinergy organization is converted to FMIS in 2008. In roughly half the cases, the default salary distributions for this group of executives had changed from 2006 to 2007. Liberty had asked accounting personnel to determine why these executives' salary distributions had either changed or, in a few cases, did not appear to comport with the job title. They found that the salary distributions for nine senior Service Company executives contained errors, as summarized on the next table.

#	Salary Distribution - July 2006 to May 2007	Required Correction
1	50/50 Exec. Utility and Exec. Enterprise	All time to Exec Enterprise as of 1/07
2	100% DEC 2006; Mkt./Cust. Serv. Utility 2007	All time to Mkt. pools 2006 post-merger
3	Exec. Utility in 2006; Exec. Gov. 2007	All time to Exec. Utility in 2007
4	Mkt./Cust. Serv. Utility 2006; Exec. Gov. 2007	All time to Exec. Utility 2006 post-merger
5	Legal Utility 2006: 100% DEC 2007	All time to Legal Utility pool as of 1/07
6	Plan. Gov. 2006; Power Plan/Fuel Util. as of 2/07	All time to Utility pools 2006 post-merger
7	HR Gov. 2006; Exec. Enterprise as of 3/07	Time to Exec. Enterprise as of 1/07
8	HR Gov. 2006; Exec. Enterprise as of 3/07	Time to Exec. Enterprise as of 1/07
9	Cinergy holding company	Time to a legal pool as of 1/07

Executive Salary Distribution Errors

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	V. Service Company Charges	Duke Energy-Kentucky

There was no one reason for the errors. In most cases, the executive's job function changed either after the merger with Cinergy, effective April 2006, or after the gas spin-off, effective January 2007, but the default distribution was not revised. In one case, a senior legal executive's time was charged to DE-Carolinas beginning in 2007 because of an inadvertent change.

Accounting personnel stated that the problems in time reporting due to the gas spin-off should have affected senior executives only, because they were the ones most affected by the divestiture. Liberty estimated that the net effect on charges to the business units would be relatively modest. The errors in most cases involved charges made into one allocation pool in lieu of another; the allocation percentages for the pools were similar. Liberty recommended in the DE-Carolinas audit revisions to the default salary distribution for the nine senior executives whose labor had been charged incorrectly, and the issuance of journal entries to correct the distribution of labor charges to the business units for the appropriate time period.

The Service Company subsequently corrected the salary distributions in the payroll system. In December 2007, accounting personnel also issued journal entries of approximately \$1.5 million to correct seven of the executive pay errors. Accounting did not make journal entries associated with two of the errors that affected 2006 charges because the books had already been closed.

12. Examination of Service Company Employee Time Reporting

Liberty's audit of DE-Carolinas included a review of time reporting data for approximately 140 exempt management and non-management Service Company employees. Liberty undertook this review to evaluate whether their time charge appeared to correspond to work performed. The survey was intended to provide a check on Liberty's initial analysis about the extent to which Service Company employees directly charge their time. Liberty's analysis covered a significant portion of the period of this audit, and the findings from its analysis remain relevant and valid.

In that prior audit, Liberty selected approximately 60 employees performing Service Company utility-related functions, primarily engineering and technical services (*e.g.*, substation and transmission engineering), along with materials management, warehousing, and customer service. Many of these employees were still part of DE-Carolinas for payroll purposes during 2006. Liberty selected the balance of the employees from more traditional Service Company functions, such as human resources, accounting, finance, legal, and internal auditing. Accounting personnel provided eleven months of data from FMIS and BDMS for selected employees for the July 2006 to May 2007 period.

Liberty did not find examples of time reporting that appeared on their face to be wholly inconsistent with job titles. Liberty's overall observation after that review of time reporting data was consistent with the conclusion it reached earlier from analyzing Service Company charges. That conclusion is that the Service Company does not directly charge as much labor as one would expect.

In the traditional business functions, Liberty reviewed data for approximately 20 legal and auditing employees. All of the auditors charged to the internal audit governance pool. The employees in the legal groups, which covered such areas as commercial operations, regulatory, labor and employment, and litigation, did not follow a distinct pattern in charging their time.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	V. Service Company Charges	Duke Energy-Kentucky

Overall, roughly half were able to charge all or a majority of their time to specific business units, such as to the Midwest utilities or to DE-Carolinas. The other half charged all or a majority of their time to allocation pools. There was no obvious correlation between job responsibilities and time reporting. Two attorneys in the commercial operations area, for example, were able to directly charge only 10 to 30 percent of their time; the rest went to pools. One attorney in the labor and employment area was able to directly charge roughly 75 percent of his time, while another in that area charged nearly 70 percent to governance and enterprise pools.

In most cases, there was no obvious correlation between how a manager in the legal area and his or her direct reports charged time. For example, one senior management employee in the regulatory area charged time primarily to the legal utility pool. The manager's three direct reports charged nearly all of their time to the Midwest or to DE-Carolinas, consistent with their job responsibilities. In another case, a managing attorney in the FERC area charged the majority of his time to the legal utility pool; one of his direct reports charged all of his time to DE-Carolinas, and the other charged to various utility, enterprise, and governance pools.

Liberty reviewed time reporting data for approximately 40 employees at various levels in the organizations that perform human resources, finance, and accounting functions. With few exceptions (*e.g.*, employees responsible for DE-Indiana and non-regulatory accounting), these employees charged all time to allocation pools. Liberty expected that mid-level managers, such as those responsible for asset accounting revenue analysis or wholesale accounting, would have been able to distinguish at least some portion of their time as relevant to only one particular business unit.

In the IT area, Liberty reviewed time reporting data for approximately a dozen employees. The majority were management level employees, who charged nearly all of their time into one specific IT pool. In the case of employees in the areas of IT operations and data center management, this result appeared logical. Management level employees in the applications areas, as well as project managers and application developers, also charged the majority of their time into pools. Liberty expected that some employees would have been able to directly charge at least some portion of their time.

Liberty also sampled time data for a small number of employees in areas such as environmental affairs, strategy and business planning, and real estate. These employees charged into allocation pools in their respective areas. The commercial business employees that Liberty selected for review charged their time exclusively to Duke Energy Americas or the Midwest only, which appeared to be appropriate.

Liberty's test work disclosed a clear tendency for the time of Service Company employees in traditional functions to flow to allocation pools as the default labor distribution. Liberty did not observe an expected level of separate identification of the beneficiaries of specific assignments. Liberty did identify one error in time reporting in this area. Liberty questioned accounting personnel why the director of general accounting for the Midwest charged her time exclusively to the Midwest while the director for the Carolinas charged his time to the utility accounting services pool. Accounting personnel stated that the Carolinas director assumed the job at the beginning of 2007, but his default labor distribution had not been updated. They stated that the

default distribution would be changed so that his time is charged exclusively to DE-Carolinas, and that accounting personnel would issue journal entries to correct the effects of the error. During this audit, accounting personnel provided a copy of the correcting journal entry, which resolved the issue.

The primary focus of Liberty's review of utility-related functions was the employees in the engineering and technical services functions. Liberty's general conclusion was that Service Company employees in the engineering and technical services functions directly charged or directly assigned a higher proportion of their time (as compared with some employees discussed below), and did not rely as much on allocation pools. A number of the selected engineering and technical services employees were legacy Cinergy employees whose time was distributed using a direct assignment method, which is based on an analysis of what efforts the employee supports. Three of these were higher level management, whose labor charges were spread based on capital projects, or between operations and maintenance (O&M) and capital. Another ten legacy Cinergy employees, engineers, and project managers had some or all of their time distributed using direct assignment, with the balance generally being directly charged to business units.

Liberty also surveyed some of the other utility-related functions. A large portion of the selected employees were those that moved from DE-Carolinas to DEBS in 2007. Liberty also selected legacy Cinergy employees for examination. This portion of Liberty's testing of time found that employees in the utility-type services make better use of direct charging than employees in the traditional business functions, but still overuse allocation pools in some areas.

Liberty selected two employees from the Midwest field operations (warehousing) organization. Both reported all or nearly all of their time exclusively to Midwest pools. One employee charged about five percent of his time to a materials management utility pool, which Liberty found appropriate. Liberty also reviewed time reporting data for a few materials management employees. One employee, a legacy Duke Power service technician, directly charged his time exclusively to DE-Carolinas, and another employee, a legacy Cinergy sourcing specialist. charged the majority of his time to the Midwest. This treatment appeared to be appropriate. Two employees, one of which was a buyer, charged their time exclusively to a materials management enterprise-level allocation pool.

Liberty also selected approximately two dozen management and non-management employees from various areas in the utility-level customer service and marketing function. The majority of employees, including those in the receivables, billing, customer support, revenue services, energy data management, and call center areas, charged their time exclusively to the utility-level meter reading and payment processing pool. Two legacy Duke Power employees charged the majority of their time to DE-Carolinas, with a small amount going to the pool.

Liberty identified a few errors in time reporting of employees in utility-related functions. In one instance, an employee moved from an engineering position to one in the customer service area during 2006, but his time distribution was not updated to reflect the change until the beginning of 2007. During 2006, the default time distribution for two employees in the power quality area of the power delivery organization had been to DE-Carolinas customer service. The distribution changed to a Service Company customer service pool in 2007. Accounting personnel confirmed

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	V. Service Company Charges	Duke Energy-Kentucky

that the change was made in error, and that the employees' time should have been charged to DE-Carolinas rather than the pool. Accounting indicated it would issue journal entries to correct the error. During this audit, accounting confirmed that it corrected the default time distributions for these employees in September 2007. It did not, however, correct the dollar impact of the error. Accounting personnel estimated that DE-Kentucky had been incorrectly charged \$11,000 through the pool. The Service Company should have made the corrections in 2007; the books are, however, closed for the year.

13. Examination of Service Company Accounts Payable Charges

A significant portion of the charges that DE-Kentucky receives from the Service Company relates to invoices that represent accounts payable. In some cases, a utility is directly charged for an entire invoice amount; in other cases, it is directly assigned only a portion. Accounts payable also charges invoices into the Service Company functional allocation pools, of which DE-Kentucky receives a percentage. Liberty's prior audit of DE-Carolinas involved the selection of a number of vendors and invoices for a focused review in order to gain insight into the effectiveness of the Service Company's processing of invoices. The vendors that Liberty selected included primarily accounting and law firms, construction-related companies, computer equipment and service companies, outside programming firms, banking and financial firms, and consultants.

In most cases, Liberty identified no issues with the way that the Service Company had distributed the charges for these invoices, and encountered only a few relatively minor errors. Liberty did identify, however, a potential problem in the handling of some IT invoices. Liberty found that two invoices from a vendor had been charged to a pool allocated using enterprise three-factor formula percentages, although the invoices appeared to be related to IT server services, which are allocated on the basis of the number of servers. Two other invoices from another vendor had been charged to the utility-level IT server pool. They might have been more appropriately charged to the enterprise-level IT management and support services pool because the work related to application maintenance and support services rather than servers. Allocation percentages among the various IT pools can vary significantly; therefore, the selection of which pool to use can affect the portion of invoice charges ultimately allocated to the utility. For example, DE-Kentucky's share of the utility-level IT server pool in 2007 was 6.91 percent, compared to 2.99 percent for the enterprise-level management and support pool.

DEBS transaction testing in this audit involved the selection of an \$89,000 charge into the IT management and support services pool, which is allocated using the enterprise three-factor formula ratio. Liberty substantiated that DE-Kentucky was allocated the correct portion of the charge. Liberty asked Service Company accounting personnel to investigate why the supporting invoices, which were for server maintenance, were charged to this pool, rather than, for example, the IT server pool. Accounting reported that the person who assigned the invoices believed they were charged to the appropriate pool, but agreed that the rationale was not apparent given the nature of the invoices.

C. Conclusions

Final Report

Public Version

1. A significant amount of costs that flow through the Service Company to business units do not relate to the costs of providing services under the Service Company Utility Service Agreement. (Recommendation #1)

Some charges that flow through the Service Company do not fit the categories expressly covered by the Service Company Utility Service Agreement. For example, the DEBS human resources group directly charged DE-Carolinas nearly \$50 million for employee benefits costs such as OPEB, phantom stock, and employee savings plans in the first three months of 2007. These charges are not for services provided by the Service Company, and do not relate to Service Company labor. They simply comprise other costs passed through the Service Company. Similarly, the DEBS Engineering and Construction–Power Production function charged DE-Carolinas \$1.5 million for liability insurance, which is not part of that group's defined purpose. A significant amount of Service Company charges to business units reflect similar pass-through costs.

During 2007, this issue primarily concerned DEBS and DE-Carolinas. Many pass-through costs were typically recorded directly on the books of the Midwest utilities, and did not flow through DESS. However, the Service Company more recently began to flow some otherwise pass-through costs for the Midwest business units through DEBS. For example, in 2007 DEBS directly charged the Midwest business units a total of approximately \$5 million for workers' compensation amortization expense. After the consolidation of DEBS and DESS, the Service Company plans to flow more pass-through costs, including most of those related to employee benefits, through DEBS.

2. Liberty's test work verified correct calculation and charging of DE-Kentucky for its share of allocation pools.

Review of data for a sample month substantiated that DEBS and DESS correctly calculated the amounts charged to DE-Kentucky for governance-, enterprise-, and utility-level allocation pools, based on the predefined allocation percentages. Liberty also substantiated that DESS correctly calculated the amounts allocated to DE-Kentucky from the Midwest-only allocation pools.

3. Overall, the Service Company does not make sufficient use of direct charging for labor costs. (*Recommendation #2*)

Liberty examined how much loaded labor costs DEBS and DESS charged directly to business units rather than allocating them. Overall, DEBS directly charged approximately 40 percent of loaded labor charges to business units, and DESS directly charged approximately 60 percent. Thus, the Service Company as a whole directly charged as much governance and shared service labor as it allocated, as the next table summarizes.





Moreover, the Service Company's approach to tracking and charging Service Company costs does not result in a good match between a business unit's use of a service function and the cost that it pays for that function. Even when the Service Company directly charges a business unit for labor, these charges do not reflect fully allocated costs, in that they do not include applicable overhead. Therefore, even an increase in the amount of direct charging would not fully solve the overall problem.

Liberty discusses this issue in more detail in other sections of this report. Liberty has stated that the Service Company requires a more sophisticated approach for pricing its functional services. Liberty believes a sound approach should enable one to determine: (a) whether the Service Company is maximizing the effective use of direct charging, (b) whether the costs of individual functional services provided by the Service Company are lower than other alternatives, and (c) whether DE-Kentucky is cross-subsidizing other business units in the charges it pays for individual services.

4. For the traditional, business-type shared services that it provides, the Service Company charges a reasonably sufficient portion of non-labor costs directly, but does not make sufficient use of direct charging for labor costs. (Recommendation #2)

Traditional business-type shared services include such functions as accounting, finance, human resources, and IT. Liberty examined charges from DEBS and DESS that the Service Company identified as related to the legal function. In October 2007, the Service Company directly charged approximately 55 percent of its total overall costs to client companies. Liberty found that the Service Company was able to directly charge or assign a relatively large portion (90 percent) of charges for outside services and contract labor. It performed less well with labor charges. The Service Company directly charged only 30 percent of its loaded legal labor costs for the month.

Liberty also examined the charges from DEBS and DESS that the Service Company identified as related to the IT function. The Service Company directly charged to business units only 20 percent of general IT costs, and the same percentage of the loaded labor cost portion. It allocated approximately 80 percent of the costs for outside services and contract labor, and approximately 60 percent of hardware and software purchases and maintenance. Liberty recognizes that a considerable portion of IT costs relate to activities that are appropriately allocated to all companies or users, such as data center operation and maintenance of standard hardware and software. However, groups like legal and IT are generally able in service company contexts to directly charge employee time, because these groups generally tend more often to work on distinctly identifiable projects or activities.

5. From the perspective of utility-type shared services that it provides, the Service Company has been effective in directly charging those total costs.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	V. Service Company Charges	Duke Energy-Kentucky

Liberty examined charges from DEBS and DESS that the Service Company identified as related to the power engineering and construction function. In October, 2007, the Service Company directly charged approximately 90 percent of its total overall costs, and loaded labor cost in particular, to client companies. Liberty found that the Service Company was able to directly charge or assign a relatively large percentage, 95 percent, of charges for outside services and contract labor.

Liberty also examined the charges from DEBS and DESS that the Service Company identified as related to the rates function. The Service Company directly charged to business units approximately 60 percent of rates function costs in general, and loaded labor costs in particular. Liberty found that the Service Company was able to directly charge or assign a relatively large percentage, 90 percent, of charges for outside services and contract labor.

As might be expected, DEBS and DESS each provided these services to its associated legacy utility organization. All DEBS direct charges for these services were made to DE-Carolinas, and essentially all DESS direct charges were made to Midwest companies.

6. The Service Company does not charge business units, including DE-Kentucky, for all costs associated with DEBS assets on a per transaction/unit basis.

The Service Company Utility Service Agreement states that services will be priced at fully allocated costs, defined as direct costs, indirect costs, and costs of capital. The agreement specifically lists property insurance, depreciation, amortization, and compensation for the use of capital as examples of the cost of doing business. DEBS recorded a cost of debt for construction work in process throughout 2007, and beginning in May 2007 recorded both a debt and equity cost of capital. During 2007, the Service Company allocated to business units \$28.7 million of depreciation costs. Costs of insurance, and property related taxes, unless specifically associated with a DEBS project, are not assigned to construction work in process, but are allocated to client companies as an operating expense using an approved allocation method.

7. The Service Company charges the majority of DESS capital costs to legacy Cinergy companies.

During 2006, the Service Company allocated all depreciation costs associated with DESS assets to Midwest business units only, having concluded that only one set of service company assets was needed to run a corporation and that the depreciation associated with duplicate systems should not be spread to all business units. In 2007, the Service Company began to accelerate the depreciation on DESS financial systems, and re-categorized the depreciation associated with those assets as part of its merger cost-to-achieve. Of the \$18.1 million in DESS depreciation expense during 2007, the majority (\$13.8 million) was allocated exclusively to Midwest entities. Depreciation associated with cost-to-achieve assets of \$4.3 million was allocated to all business units, including legacy Duke Power companies, using the governance three-factor formula ratio.

8. The Service Company adequately recovers from client companies the cost of its occupancy in legacy Duke Power and Cinergy facilities.

DE-Carolinas calculates capital charges, including depreciation, property tax, property insurance, and cost of capital, associated with each of its facilities in North Carolina. The portion of these

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	V. Service Company Charges	Duke Energy-Kentucky

capital costs that DE-Carolinas would otherwise assign to DEBS are recovered through a "Facilities ROR" governance pool, which the Service Company allocates to all business units using the three-factor formula ratio. Similarly, the legacy Cinergy utilities calculate capital charges associated with the Plainfield and Cincinnati facilities. The portion of these capital costs associated with the space occupied by DESS personnel are allocated to business units based on an analysis of how DESS personnel support the various business units.

The calculation of the DEBS Facilities ROR charges for the year 2007 is based on year 2006 data, and does not reflect the movement of approximately 2,000 employees from DE-Carolinas to DEBS. DE-Carolinas will therefore not recover from the Service Company the capital costs associated with the incremental square footage occupied by these employees. This translates into a savings for DE-Kentucky.

9. The Service Company correctly applied the proceeds from the service contract with Spectra to offset costs that it allocates to DE-Kentucky and other business units.

In 2007, the Service Company billed Spectra \$15.2 million under a short-term agreement that generally priced individual services on a flat-fee rather than hourly-charge basis. Spectra also provided a small amount of services to the Service Company.

During the prior audit of DE-Carolinas, Liberty reviewed the arrangement with accounting personnel, and determined that the Service Company was appropriately billing Spectra for services under the contract and crediting the charges to the appropriate responsibility center or cost allocation pool. Liberty was also satisfied that the Service Company was being appropriately billed for services performed by Spectra, and that it was charging the costs to the appropriate business function or allocation pool.

10. The original distribution of labor charges for several senior executives reviewed by Liberty in its audit of DE-Carolinas contained errors that were subsequently addressed appropriately.

During a prior audit of DE-Carolinas, Liberty found the distribution of labor charges for nine Service Company senior executives to contain errors. Typically, the job functions of these executives changed either after the merger or after the gas spin-off, and their fixed salary distributions were not updated in the payroll system. Accounting personnel corrected the salary distributions and subsequently issued journal entries to correct seven of the executive pay errors. Accounting personnel did not make journal entries associated with two of the errors that affected 2006 charges because the books had already been closed. Liberty believes the actions taken were reasonable and resolve the issue.

11. Service Company employees rely too heavily on the use of default time distributions to allocation pools rather than positive time reporting. (*Recommendation #3*)

Liberty's review during the previous audit of Service Company time reporting data reinforced its conclusion that the Service Company employees do not directly charge as much labor as they can. A large percentage of the employees that Liberty reviewed, particularly those associated with the more traditional Service Company functions such as accounting or auditing, charged all or nearly all of their time into allocation pools. Liberty found it remarkable that so many

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	V. Service Company Charges	Duke Energy-Kentucky

employees were unable to identify at least some amount of work during an entire 11-month period that applied to only one business entity. While it may be true that an employee's work benefits, for example, all utilities, it arguably does not do so every hour of every day.

12. Audit work disclosed a number of cases in which labor allocations were incorrect as a result of the Service Company failing to update default distributions to conform to organization, position, or job duty changes. (Recommendation #3)

Duke Energy and its subsidiaries have undergone major changes recently to combine operations as a result of the merger and as a result of non-utility business changes. It is understandable that gaps or errors will result in how time is allocated when organizations, positions, incumbents, and job descriptions change. Nevertheless, it is important to apply controls that are effective in minimizing the time that such gaps or errors remain. Liberty's examination of employee time reporting identified a number of examples where errors occurred due to a lack of updating.

13. There is not a sufficiently clear rationale for including certain IT invoices in a given Service Company allocation pool. (Recommendation #4)

During its prior audit of DE-Carolinas, Liberty examined a sample of Service Company invoices and found that four invoices for IT services may have been charged to the incorrect IT allocation pool. Because of the difference in allocation percentages among the twelve defined Service Company IT pools, DE-Kentucky received a higher percentage of the charges than it otherwise might for two invoices and received a lower percentage than it otherwise might for two other invoices. During its transaction testing in this audit, Liberty encountered two invoices charged to the IT management and support services pool that were allocated using the enterprise threefactor formula ratio, although the invoices indicated that they were for server maintenance. Service Company personnel involved in testing could not explain the rationale for this assignment; there is reason to question the consistency in handling of certain IT invoices.

14. The costs incurred to accomplish the spin-off of the gas business are not related to the costs to provide regulated utility service.

Any benefits associated with the spin-off of the gas business will accrue to shareholders of Spectra and Duke Energy, and not ratepayers. The costs that the company incurred to effectuate the spin-off are not part of the cost of providing utility service.

D. Recommendations

1. Limit Service Company charges, to the extent possible, to those covered by the Service Company Utility Service Agreement. (Conclusion #1)

Liberty believes that the Service Company should reduce the amount of charges that it processes as pass-through costs that have no relation to the functions it provides under its agreement with the business units. Liberty recognizes that the Service Company may want to flow some charges, such as those for outside legal and auditor bills, through the Service Company to better identify and manage the full cost of these functions. The process for handling any pass-through costs that are not directly related to the functions that the Service Company provides could be made clear as part of a company's affiliate transaction accounting manual.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	V. Service Company Charges	Duke Energy-Kentucky

Liberty has learned, however, that the company plans to file an amended Service Company Agreement that will make explicit areas in which it plans to treat specific pass-through costs as part of a given service function. For example, the definition of services performed by the human resources function will be expanded to include the payment of certain employee benefits expenses.

Liberty believes that amending the Service Company Agreement in such a way as to clearly define all pass-through costs covered by the agreement would be a positive step towards implementing its recommendation. There are downsides to this approach, however. The amount of direct charges flowing from the Service Company to the business units will significantly increase. These typically large pass-through costs cloud any assessment of whether the Service Company is truly maximizing the effective use of direct charging for the functions it has contracted to perform at fully distributed cost. It also makes it difficult to compare the cost of service company functions to the cost of third-party suppliers or self-provision. To that end, Liberty believes that the Service Company should separately identify its major categories of pass-through costs in any official reports of affiliate transactions.

2. Increase the percentage of labor that the Service Company directly charges to business units. (Conclusions #3 and #4)

Liberty's examination of shared services in general, and traditional business-type shared services in particular, disclosed that the Service Company did not make sufficient use of direct charging for its labor costs. It is not unreasonable to expect the Service Company to directly charge or directly assign from two-thirds to three-quarters of its labor costs. For groups like legal and IT, which tend to work on defined projects, the percentage can be higher. Liberty recognizes that the Service Company may not be able to attain these levels unless it moves to a more sophisticated approach for pricing its functional services, such as activity-based costing.

3. Routinely review the appropriateness of Service Company employee default labor distributions and encourage employees to do more positive time reporting. (Conclusions #11 and 12)

The Service Company should review on an annual basis the default labor distributions for Service Company employees to determine if they are still appropriate. Recent organization changes due to the shift of two thousand people from DE-Carolinas to the Service Company and the recent gas business spin-off underscore the need for the Service Company to ensure that each employee's default labor distribution accurately reflects the work assignments of the individual. The errors that Liberty identified during its limited review of employee time reporting during the prior audit indicate the merit in assuring timely correction.

As discussed in an earlier chapter of this report, a Duke Energy internal report indicated that training programs were needed to educate personnel in how to charge time directly assignable to a utility or non-utility company, and that this finding applied to both utility personnel and Service Company personnel. The internal auditor's recommendation lends support to Liberty's conclusion that Service Company employees in general did not directly charge labor as much as they could.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	V. Service Company Charges	Duke Energy-Kentucky

There should be a structured and comprehensive program for assuring that default time distributions have been made current in light of recent organization, position, and job duty changes. It should include instructions to managers and supervisors to be aware of the potential in their areas of responsibility and to examine likely sources of a lack of updating based on changes specific to their areas. It should also include sufficient testing by accounting personnel to identify the likely magnitude and principal locations of errors, and should incorporate methods for more detailed examinations of those errors including a means for the prompt correction of any problems found. After a baseline effort across the board, the program can be scaled back to periodic testing in areas of known significant change, accompanied by periodic communication to managers and supervisors of the need for attentiveness when changes occur in their areas of responsibility.

4. Develop formal written guidelines to describe into which of the twelve Service Company IT allocation pools the various types of IT invoices should be charged. (Conclusion #13)

The dollar impact of misallocation of invoice charges for IT services can be significant. To provide consistency and clarity in the method by which IT-related invoices are charged into the various Service Company allocation pools, the Service Company should develop formal written guidelines.

To monitor how well invoices are being handled on an on-going basis, the company should include a review of invoices flowing through the Service Company in its next internal audit of affiliate transactions.



VI. Operating Agreements

A. Introduction

Liberty reviewed the two merger-related agreements covering services among utilities and affiliates, the Operating Companies Service Agreement and Operating Company/Non-utility Companies Service Agreement. Liberty sought to determine whether DE-Kentucky and its affiliates were following the terms of the agreements, including those regarding pricing. Liberty also sought to determine whether Duke Energy had established a defined Service Request process for all work performed under these agreements, and whether the process has been consistently followed.

Not surprisingly, the majority of transactions are among the utilities, with DE-Ohio as both the largest provider of services and the largest receiver of services. While DE-Kentucky performs work for non-utility affiliates, it is fairly unusual for a non-utility affiliate to provide services to the utility. In this chapter, Liberty provides an overview of charges among affiliates under the agreements. Liberty also discusses an additional component of fully embedded cost, *i.e.*, utility overhead, and examines transactions that fall under the DE-Carolinas Code of Conduct condition.

B. Findings

1. Inter-company Charges involving DE-Kentucky

Liberty asked for reports showing affiliate transactions between DE-Kentucky and its affiliates during the audit period. Accounting personnel provided inter-company charge data from BDMS, but the data were not limited specifically to work performed under the Operating Agreement and Non-utility Agreement. No other available reports focused specifically on transactions under the agreements. DE-Kentucky is not required to identify, quantify, and report to the KyPSC its transactions under the merger-related agreements.

The inter-company data reflect charges flowing through inter-company payables and receivables accounts that originated from the labor, accounts payable, inventory, and vehicle charge systems. The data cover more than affiliate transactions. For example, invoices for Midwest utilities are paid from the same location and therefore some portion of the accounts payable charges consist only of pass-through costs. In other words, beyond serving as a conduit for the pass-through of costs others incur for providing goods or services, the charging affiliate adds no other value. The data also include both system-generated and manual journal entries that were made for various purposes. For example, included in the journal entries are approximately \$59,000 in interest received by DE-Kentucky from DE-Ohio and approximately \$143,000 in interest paid to DE-Ohio and DE-Indiana. Accounting personnel indicated that as a general matter inventory and accounting entries are typically not parts of work performed under the two agreements.

Accounting procedure is to reflect all transactions under the two merger-related agreements as inter-company charges through the company payables and receivables accounts. Liberty was therefore satisfied that the data provided captured the transactions that are the subject of this

Final Report	A	udit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	VI. Operating Agreements	Duke Energy-Kentucky

audit.⁸ Liberty was not able to adequately screen the data to remove charges that did not relate to affiliate transactions in general and to the two merger-related agreements in particular. This inability affected Liberty's transaction testing process, as the next chapter of this report discusses.

The following tables summarize inter-company charges involving DE-Kentucky. The first shows DE-Kentucky as the service provider or originator of the charges, and the second shows DE-Kentucky as the client or receiver of the charges.

	就被探索性		和日本在	
	關於使用的			
				Manadasi ing kanalang kanalang Kanalang kanalang kana

				与 动有效数据		
and the second	elisedige di kase		kHA	akosarin teretus	entra inclus	and the second second
		調整				
				Name of Case o		

Nearly all of the **Sector** in inter-company charges originating with (or "from") DE-Kentucky involved affiliated utilities. Loaded labor accounted for approximately 50 percent of DE-Kentucky's total charges to affiliates.

Nearly all of the **DE-Chio** in inter-company charges to DE-Kentucky originated from utility affiliates (DE-Ohio in particular). Loaded labor accounted for less than 30 percent of the charges to DE-Kentucky from affiliates.

⁸ Liberty later identified a journal entry charge by DE-Kentucky to DE-Carolinas, made to true up for an overhead loader, which was not included in the inter-company data.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	VI. Operating Agreements	Duke Energy-Kentucky

The BDMS data includes charges to and from legacy Cinergy entities, and charges from DE-Kentucky to legacy Duke Power affiliates. Accounting personnel provided separate reports showing FMIS-originated charges to DE-Kentucky, *i.e.*, charged by DE-Carolinas or another legacy Duke Power affiliate. The next chart summarizes charges from DE-Carolinas to DE-Kentucky during the audit period.



Liberty asked the company to explain the nature of the negative journal entries. Accounting personnel explained that the contract labor charges of were made by a DE-Carolinas responsibility center, but should have originated from a Service Company center. Accounting used journal entries to reverse the charges. While researching the journal entries, accounting personnel discovered that DE-Kentucky had been over-credited by \$864.

DE-Carolinas was the only legacy Duke Power affiliate that charged DE-Kentucky during the audit period.

2. Service Request Process

The Operating Agreement and Non-utility Agreement state that all services should be performed in accordance with Service Requests issued by the client company and accepted by the service provider. Duke Energy developed a formal Service Request Form (SRF), which records the requestor, provider, description of service, approvals, estimated costs, accounting codes, and scheduled start and end dates for specific work performed subject to the agreements. The company also developed a Service Request Form Database to keep track of such requests.

Duke Energy found that its affiliates were not consistently using SRFs to document requests for service under the agreements. The absence of SRFs was notable in particular for work provided by DE-Ohio to DE-Kentucky. The sharing of employees between those affiliates occurred regularly well before the merger, with crews routinely being dispatched to both Ohio and Kentucky. Neither affiliate set up SRFs for this type of routine work. This issue was identified in an internal audit report, which Chapter III of this report discusses.

Duke Energy developed a process for institutionalizing the use of SRFs, conducted training for relevant personnel in early 2007, and formalized the process for administering SRFs. The Financial Planning and Reporting group now has the responsibility for FE&G-related transactions and for enforcing the use of SRFs. The group was responsible for manually reviewing reports of inter-company charges in 2007 to identify those charges that actually reflected affiliate transactions, as opposed to inter-company charges for other reasons. The group also had responsibility for tying those charges to SRFs. The group identified some SRFs that had

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	VI. Operating Agreements	Duke Energy-Kentucky

to be created after the fact. Chapter III of this report describes this review process in the section discussing the corporation's internal audit report.

The Service Request Form application was part of a web-based system until November 2007, when the company moved it to the corporate IT electronic form system that all Duke Energy employees can now access through a common platform. The new electronic form now incorporates a box which can be checked "to confirm that this Service Request will not result in impairment of Service Provider's utility responsibilities or business operations."

An SRF cannot be cancelled or rescinded in the system after it has been finalized and approved. If the original estimate for the dollar value of work is too low, for example, the requestor must submit another SRF for the additional work, because one cannot change the dollar amount on an approved SRF. The process to rescind an SRF is manual. The client company must communicate that the SRF has been rescinded and then the administrator of the SRF system indicates on future reports that this SRF is no longer considered approved for future transactions. No SRFs were rescinded in 2007. ⁹

Duke Energy affiliates created approximately 70 SRFs during 2007. Liberty requested a printout from the database of all 2007 SRFs that included DE-Indiana or DE-Kentucky as one of the parties. The following tables summarize these SRFs.

		10月1日日期,10月1日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日	
Mandal Barta (1947) and a state of the state			
		教室的基础分析中的基础的考虑的	
		表示于这些LIK在1441.0000000000000000000000000000000000	
#1994年1月4日的日本市场和19		和14名,在14月1日,19月1日,19月1日,19月1日,19月1日,19月1日, 19月1日———————————————————————————————————	金属等于
。 1993年1月1日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日日	鐵路	这 些这些是我们的是一个时间,我们就是我们	民的基本
一位的第三人称单数 网络斯斯斯斯斯斯斯斯斯			然会 天
<u>现了这些关系。这些人们就能够得到的</u> 是			这些这些
<u>就是这个资源</u> 在在1973年的			(新日本)。 在1115日
的时候,这些这些"你们是是 ^这 的"			

⁹ Several SRFs were rejected prior to approval, and in some cases replaced with new ones. As examples, SRF 232 was replaced with SRF 234, and SRF 244 was replaced with SRFs 245 and 246.

Final Report Public Version	VI. Operating Agreements		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements Duke Energy-Kentucky		
		·····································			
品ですべき。 は、 学校の学校 は、 教育の 教育の 教育の 教育の 教育の 教育の 教育の 教育の					

10.04 10.05				

		STATE AND A
		1000-000
		50×1700
	an energy and a second as a second second second	
n de fine en la composition de		建建筑的 公
		a a constant
		表記錄錄線家

Some of these 36 SRFs involving DE-Indiana and DE-Kentucky displayed no activity or had no charges associated with them. Given the relatively small number of SRFs, Liberty conducted its review of the service request process for both utilities combined. All but one of the SRFs involved the use of "loaned employees" as defined under the agreements. The remaining one, which did not include labor, consisted of DE-Indiana's receipt of surge protection equipment on behalf of Duke Energy One.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	VI. Operating Agreements	Duke Energy-Kentucky

Liberty selected a sample of ten from these SRFs, and asked for a copy of the original request forms.¹⁰ Liberty's review of the original forms found that they contained all required information. However, in some instances, the work, project, or activity codes were marked as "TBD" or "various." This convention appeared to be appropriate for these SRFs given the nature of the request, *e.g.*, as-needed O&M support or storm support. The Operating Agreement and Non-utility Agreement state that Service Requests should be as specific as practicable in defining the required services. Liberty found the work descriptions to be adequate.

Liberty used this same sample of ten SRFs to review other provisions of the agreements. Liberty confirmed that loaned employees performing work under these SRFs continued to be paid the same payroll and benefits by their home organization while on loan to a client company. In each case, the loaned employee(s) worked under the direction, supervision, and control of the client company as appropriate to complete the work requested. Management provided for each selected SRF an affirmative statement that acceptance and completion of the services did not result in the impairment of the service provider's utility responsibility or business operations. There was no necessity to withdraw loaned employees. None of the work resulted in claims nor involved any deficiencies. The work performed complied with the work as described in the SRF.

Liberty sought to compare the original cost estimate for work performed under an approved Service Request to actual charges. As noted earlier, Liberty cannot identify which inter-company charges pertain to work under the Operating Agreement and Non-utility Agreement. Similarly, Liberty was typically unable to identify the actual charges associated with a given Service Request.

The Financial Planning and Reporting accounting group is responsible for manually reviewing reports of inter-company charges to identify which were actually affiliate transactions and tying those charges to SRFs. Group personnel identify inter-company charges that are potentially associated with each SRF. These charges can originate from the labor, inventory, accounts payable, and vehicle systems, and from journal entries. In some cases, specific work codes were included on the original SRF, and accounting personnel can use these codes to trace charges associated with a specific SRF. The work codes are not specified beforehand for larger blanket-type SRFs. Such SRFs can ultimately involve a large number of codes. In such cases, the group must rely on other code block fields, such as LOB, to identify potential charges to identify those not associated with the SRF. This after-the-fact analysis is time consuming and involves a good deal of judgment. In essence, there is no way to precisely track charges associated with individual SRFs.

Liberty requested a copy of the company's analysis of charges associated with SRFs. Several SRFs (*e.g.*, SRF 229 and 231) had no charges associated with them. SRFs are often set up in advance to cover potential work, *i.e.*, the provision of storm support work by customer service, which ultimately proves not to be needed. This proactive approach to SRFs is appropriate. Liberty found that in several cases the dollars charged for work performed under an SRF exceeded the initial estimate. As examples, charges for support during an ice storm provided by

¹⁰ Liberty selected ten SRFs from the web-based system: 226, 231, 238, 245, 247, 251, 259, 269, 270, and 281.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	VI. Operating Agreements	Duke Energy-Kentucky

DE-Kentucky and DE-Indiana to DE-Carolinas (SRFs 241 and 242 respectively) totaled \$579 thousand, although the estimated cost under the SRFs was \$450 thousand. Charges from DE-Kentucky and DE-Indiana to DE-Carolinas for support during a wind storm (SRFs 269 and 270) totaled \$1.67 million, although the estimated cost was \$1.2 million.

Other cases were more extreme. The accounting group provided its estimate of charges for three specific SRFs that involved as-needed O&M work at East Bend, Miami Fort #6, and Woodsdale performed by DE-Ohio on behalf of DE-Kentucky. The following table summarizes the estimated cost authorized in each SRF and the actual charges.



Accounting personnel explained that some of the charges under work codes associated with these SRFs did not pertain to what it would consider actual work performed under the Operating Agreement. For example, charges to DE-Kentucky under SRF 245 included pass-through charges for DE-Kentucky's share of coal purchases for Miami Fort.

There are other examples. Liberty's transaction testing disclosed a \$260 thousand charge from DE-Indiana to a non-utility affiliate that was part of charges under SRFs 259/283, but actually related to an asset transfer. Such asset transfers are not covered by the Non-utility Agreement. Article I, Section 1.1(c) explicitly states: "For the avoidance of doubt, affiliate transactions involving sales or other transfers of assets, goods, energy commodities (including electricity, natural gas, coal and other combustible fuels) or thermal energy products are outside the scope of this Agreement." Accounting personnel indicated that there were no clear guidelines regarding treatment of pass-through charges or for determining whether inventory transfers should be covered by SRFs or by other types of agreements.

As noted earlier, affiliates did not make consistent use of SRFs during 2007. Accounting reviewed inter-company charges and developed a list of work activities involving DE-Indiana and DE-Kentucky that should have been covered by SRFs but were not. This analysis produced an estimate of \$13.7 million of charges incurred under the agreements that should have been covered by formal Service Request. All of the work identified fell under the Operating Agreement. Liberty summarized the types of activities into broad categories, as shown in the next table.





As a general matter, work that involves a non-utility affiliate should be covered by an SRF. Liberty's review of inter-company charge data found that DE-Kentucky provided \$125 thousand of work to KO Transmission; it appears that this work was not covered by an SRF.

3. Overhead

In principle, an inter-company billing rate should leave the billing company at least no worse off by having lost the benefit of an employee's time spent serving another entity. Meeting this test in the case of labor requires that the employing company secure reimbursement for the employee's direct salary, with adjustments to account for non-productive time, such as vacation, holiday, and sick time; payroll taxes; and employer costs for benefits, such as pensions and medical and dental coverage. It also means that billing rates should include an additional loader for overhead costs.

Chapter III of this report discusses Liberty's conclusion that the accounting systems were appropriately calculating labor rates and labor loaders. with one exception, *i.e.*, that BDMS does not include incentives in labor charges outside the home company. The Operating Agreement and Non-utility Agreement state that charges for utility-related work must be priced at fully embedded costs. The utility must apply some amount for overhead to its fully loaded labor charges to meet this standard.

During 2007, the FE&G Group developed a standard overhead labor cost multiplier rate for use by DE-Kentucky and the other utilities for work charged outside the utility. Because of the unique staffing arrangement between DE-Ohio and its subsidiary DE-Kentucky, whereby some

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	VI. Operating Agreements	Duke Energy-Kentucky

overhead such as supervision is shared, the FE&G Group also developed somewhat lower overhead rates applicable only to work performed between these two utilities, with separate rates for electric and gas. The components of the FE&G overhead cost multipliers are summarized in the following table.



Liberty reviewed with accounting personnel the derivation of the components of the overhead loaders, and found the approach reasonable. The cost of capital portion of fully embedded cost, for example, is reflected in the facilities component. DE-Ohio and DE-Kentucky elected to staff some employee that provide service to both utilities on the DE-Ohio payroll; therefore, the FE&G Group determined it need apply only a portion of the cost of Service Company governance and shared services in overhead for electric work between the two utilities. The FE&G Group also conducted an analysis to develop a multiplier specific to gas work between DE-Ohio and DE-Kentucky. The group concluded that it could eliminate the supervisory component because supervisors directly charge their time to such work as needed.

To calculate a fully embedded labor rate for work charged to an affiliate, DE-Kentucky applies to base wage rate a labor cost multiplier, in order to reflect fringe benefits, payroll taxes, unproductive time, and incentives, and the overhead multiplier. For example, if a DE-Kentucky non-exempt employee had a base hourly labor rate of \$30 per hour, the fully embedded cost for this employee (assuming the work was performed for an affiliate other than DE-Ohio) would be \$97.05 per hour, *i.e.*, \$30 multiplied by the sum of 1.2864 and 1.9487, which is DE-Kentucky's labor cost multiplier rate for 2007.

During much of 2007, the Midwest utilities did not apply overhead to direct charges in utility-toutility transactions, although they typically did apply overhead to charges to non-regulated affiliates. Charges from DE-Kentucky to affiliated utilities were therefore consistently priced at less than fully allocated costs. The legacy Cinergy utilities started using the new FE&G overhead multiplier in the third quarter of 2007. The BDMS system cannot incorporate the overhead multiplier into its labor loadings; accounting must therefore use journal entries to record the overhead component of charges. Accounting personnel issued journal entries to charge overhead costs for the labor that DE-Kentucky had charged to affiliates up through November. They also issued journal entries to reflect the difference between the new FE&G rate and the one the utility

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	VI. Operating Agreements	Duke Energy-Kentucky

had applied to labor charges to non-regulated affiliates, which had been 14.91 percent. Accounting personnel also used journal entries to record overhead for December.

Liberty reviewed the journal entries and found that Midwest accounting had correctly calculated and applied overhead for labor charges from DE-Kentucky to affiliates that went through the labor system. It did not, however, calculate and apply overhead to labor charges that were recorded as journal entries. Some labor and labor loaders were charged to DE-Carolinas using journal entries, because early in the year BDMS was not set up to bill DE-Carolinas directly through payroll charges. Accounting personnel had to use journal entries to move the correct amount of labor and loaders to DE-Carolinas, breaking charges into separate entries by resource type (union labor, fringe benefits, etc.). Accounting also used a journal entry to credit DE-Kentucky for labor charges from DE-Ohio, which should have had a credit for overhead applied.

Liberty calculated the overhead amount that otherwise should have been applied, as summarized on the following table.

	energia de la contra		
		都的內部	
1			

Accounting personnel agreed that overhead should have been applied to the labor charged through journal entries. The shortfall to DE-Kentucky was due to overhead not collected from DE-Carolinas plus due to an overhead credit not received from DE-Ohio. The company indicated that it would likely not issue journal entries to fix the problem because the books were already closed for 2007.

Unlike BDMS, FMIS automatically applied an overhead loader to labor charges originating in DE-Carolinas but charged outside the utility. Until August 2007, DE-Carolinas applied a loader of 83.19 percent, which was based on a 2005 analysis that utilized 2004 data. Liberty inquired whether DE-Carolinas had made journal entries to correct the shortfall between the old and new overhead rates. Accounting personnel stated that the new rate was implemented in mid-year. The change in the overhead loader in FMIS to the new rate came in August 2007; journal entries were needed to true-up for the difference in rates for July. There were no labor charges to DE-Kentucky in July and therefore no true-up was needed.

The overhead multiplier rate used during the first half of the audit period is therefore different between BDMS and FMIS. DE-Carolinas charged DE-Kentucky a total of the in labor during the first half of 2007, so the shortfall due to the difference between the overhead rates of .8319 and 1.2864 is minimal.

The Non-utility Agreement states that labor charges from non-regulated affiliates providing services to DE-Kentucky must also reflect fully embedded cost. When non-utility affiliates charged labor to DE-Kentucky, they applied standard labor loaders, but no overhead. Accounting personnel acknowledged that DE-Kentucky was therefore charged less than fully embedded

0.44



Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	VI. Operating Agreements	Duke Energy-Kentucky

All of the work performed by DE-Kentucky involved mutual assistance for two separate storms, and was covered by two separate SRFs.¹¹ Charges from DE-Kentucky for one of the storms were above \$100,000, and as such this set of charges constitutes a transaction subject to the DE-Carolinas conditions.

The Code of Conduct requires that DE-Carolinas must pay the lower of fully distributed cost or market for goods and services it receives. DE-Kentucky charged, or intended to charge, fully embedded costs for these services.¹² Liberty asked if DE-Carolinas had determined that fully embedded cost was lower than market for this work. DE-Carolinas provided a copy of its analysis of market rates for utilities working an emergency event. The company calculated the cost per man-day of seven utilities, including Cinergy, for assistance during a December 2005 ice storm, the average of which was \$1,501 per man-day. It escalated the rate by three percent to derive an estimated December 2006 rate of \$1,554. It also calculated the average cost for support from the Cinergy utilities during a February 2007 ice storm at \$1,316 per man-day. The company concluded that the affiliate's rate was the lower of cost or market. Based on its review of intercompany charge data, Liberty concluded that the total Midwest charges used in the analysis reflect the otherwise missing overhead discussed above.

DE-Carolinas also charged DE-Kentucky for services during the audit period. None of the transactions were large enough to trigger the provisions of the Code of Conduct and therefore could correctly be priced at fully embedded cost.

C. Conclusions

1. DE-Kentucky received an excess credit from DE-Carolinas due to a journal entry error.

Charges to DE-Kentucky for contract labor that should have originated from a DEBS responsibility center were mistakenly charged from a DE-Carolinas responsibility center. Accounting personnel used journal entries to credit the utility for the charges from DE-Carolinas, but mistakenly over-credited DE-Kentucky by \$864. The error is not sufficiently large to justify reopening the books for 2007.

2. Duke Energy affiliates did not consistently issue formal Service Requests for work performed under the Operating Agreement and Non-utility Agreement, but corrective actions have been initiated.

During the audit period, Duke Energy affiliates did not make consistent use of formal Service Requests for work performed under the agreements. Approximately \$14 million of services provided under these two agreements that should have been covered by Service Request Forms was not. The corporation has taken steps during the audit period to institutionalize the use of Service Request Forms, and has assigned organizational responsibility for ensuring their use. Liberty believes that no recommendation is required in this area; however, in the next audit, the auditor should verify if the corporation has achieved 100 percent compliance.

¹¹ Liberty has assumed that the overhead true-up not listed under the mutual assistance project code was for labor charged for mutual assistance.

¹² As discussed above, the utility charged some labor and loaders to DE-Carolinas using journal entries, and accounting did not retroactively apply overhead to these charges.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	VI. Operating Agreements	Duke Energy-Kentucky

3. Duke Energy cannot accurately identify charges associated with each Service Request. *(Recommendation #1)*

The Financial Planning and Reporting accounting group is responsible for manually reviewing reports of inter-company charges and for identifying those that relate to specific SRFs. The group identifies potentially relevant charges through the use of work codes or other code block fields. Nevertheless, it must ultimately rely upon operating personnel to review the potential charges to identify those that are not applicable to the SRF. The process is time consuming, and involves a great deal of judgment; accounting personnel acknowledge that the results may not always be accurate.

4. In several cases, actual charges for work performed subject to Service Requests exceeded approved estimates. (*Recommendation #1*)

Liberty observed a number of instances in which total charges associated with specific Service Requests exceeded the estimated cost established at the time the SRF was approved. For example, accounting personnel estimated that the work performed by DE-Ohio for DE-Kentucky subject to three SRFs totaled \$41.6 million compared to the \$11.7 million initially approved. Liberty identified other examples that were less extreme. The company related that for cases in which actual work will exceed the initial estimate, the requestor should issue another Service Request Form for the additional work. For example, SRF 283 was issued to cover additional charges for work originally requested in SRF 259. This protocol was not followed in several cases.

5. Duke Energy's guidelines regarding the types of charges that can be covered by a Service Request were not consistently followed. (*Recommendation #2*)

The company's written guidelines on SRFs specify that only the labor and materials associated with providing the requested service should be charged to work codes covered by an SRF. However, Duke Energy affiliates issued charges under work codes associated with Service Requests that do not actually relate to work performed under the Operating Agreement or Non-utility Agreement. For example, DE-Ohio passed through charges for coal purchases to DE-Kentucky, which accounting personnel ultimately associated with an SRF. DE-Indiana transferred a \$260 thousand asset to Cinergy Utility Solutions using project and work codes associated with an SRF. In neither case were actual services being performed under the agreements. Similarly, accounting personnel indicated that the company had not yet decided whether inventory issuances and transfers should be covered by SRFs or by other types of agreements.

6. DE-Kentucky did not charge overhead for certain labor charges.

Some of the labor charges from DE-Kentucky to affiliates did not flow through the labor distribution system, but instead were recorded by accounting personnel via journal entries. Accounting did not retroactively apply overhead to the labor charges recorded in this fashion. Therefore, the labor was charged at less than fully embedded cost. For DE-Kentucky, this resulted in a total shortfall of \$32,577 of overhead that it did not collect from DE-Carolinas and DE-Ohio. Liberty believes that most or the entire shortfall specifically related to charges under the Operating Agreement.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	VI. Operating Agreements	Duke Energy-Kentucky

Accounting personnel indicated that correcting this error would not merit reopening the books for 2007, and Liberty agrees that the amounts are not significantly large enough to do so.

7. DE-Kentucky retroactively applied the FE&G overhead loader to labor charges for the entire year, but DE-Carolinas applied it only for the latter half of the year.

The legacy Duke Power accounting system, FMIS, automatically applies an overhead loader. DE-Carolinas had been applying an overhead multiplier rate of .8319, which was based on an analysis done in 2005. DE-Carolinas trued up for the difference between the old rate of .8319 and the new rate of 1.2864 beginning with July 2007 charges. It did not make corrections to labor charges made to affiliates during the first half of 2007. Accounting trued up overhead charges from BDMS at the new rate for the entire year. DE-Carolinas charged DE-Kentucky a total of \$595.95 in labor during this period; the difference is minimal. Given the small dollar values involved, correcting this situation would not merit reopening the books for 2007.

8. Duke Energy utility affiliates generally charged overhead as part of fully embedded costs for work under the Service Agreements, but non-utility affiliates did not.

Non-regulated affiliates applied labor loaders to labor directly charged to DE-Kentucky, but no overhead. During the audit period, DE-Kentucky received approximately \$100 in labor charges from a non-regulated affiliate, and was not charged overhead. Liberty believes it was reasonable not to devote the resources to deriving overhead costs for such small and infrequent charges. The effect is *de minimis*.

9. The pricing of transactions between DE-Kentucky and DE-Carolinas satisfied the conditions of the North Carolina Code of Conduct.

The Code of Conduct requires that DE-Carolinas must pay the lower of fully distributed cost or market for goods and services purchased from affiliates for transactions over \$100,000. All of the work performed by DE-Kentucky during the audit period was associated with providing mutual assistance for two separate storms subject to two separate Service Requests. Charges from DE-Kentucky for one of the storms were above \$100,000, and as such this set of charges constitutes a transaction subject to the DE-Carolinas conditions.

DE-Carolinas provided an analysis indicating that the average cost per man-day from the Midwest utilities during a February 2007 ice storm was more than \$200 per man-day lower than the market rate, which it derived from actual rates that it paid for similar work in 2005 inflated to the current year. Liberty found the analysis reasonable, and concluded that charging fully distributed costs for the work was appropriate.

None of the transactions involving charges from DE-Carolinas to DE-Kentucky were large enough to trigger the provisions of the Code of Conduct and were priced at fully embedded cost.

D. Recommendations

1. Develop a method to precisely identify charges associated with individual Service Requests. (Conclusions #3 and #4)

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	VI. Operating Agreements	Duke Energy-Kentucky

Parties should be able to identify all charges associated with work performed subject to a Service Request. Liberty recommends that the corporation develop an accounting process that will allow it to accurately identify all costs associated with individual SRFs. For blanket-type SRFs that are issued without specific work codes, for example, the company could maintain a reference table of all project and work codes ultimately created for work associated with each request, and adopt a policy to ensure that no extraneous charges, such as pass-through costs, are charged to these codes. Codes on this reference table could then be used to identify relevant charges in the accounting system. If all relevant work is covered by SRFs, Duke Energy would be able to quantify the affiliate transactions subject to the Operating and Non-utility Agreements.

Liberty also identified instances in which charges for services were significantly higher than those authorized by the Service Request. Allowing service providers and requestors to accurately track charges will permit the parties to recognize situations in which a supplemental SRF is required because cost estimates for work have increased.

2. Clarify the guidelines for the types of charges that are appropriate to Service Requests covered by the Operating Agreement and Non-utility Agreement and implement training for all relevant personnel. (Conclusion #5)

Asset transfers and many pass-through costs are not services as they were envisioned by the Operating and Non-utility Agreements, although they were treated as such by some personnel. The corporation should review its guidelines as to the types of charges that may be covered by Service Requests to determine if they are sufficiently clear and detailed. It should conduct adequate training to ensure that the guidelines are well understood and consistently applied. Liberty also recommends that the internal audit group include a review of compliance in its next audit.



VII. Transaction Testing

A. Background

Liberty conducted a series of transaction tests to verify the effective implementation of methods to price, account for, and report affiliate transactions. Liberty selected its test items from company-provided data for the January to December 2007 audit period. The systems, pricing, and procedures are the same for DE-Indiana and DE-Kentucky; therefore, Liberty conducted its testing for both utilities simultaneously. Liberty presents the results of that combined testing in this chapter of the report.

B. Findings

1. Service Company Charges

The primary purpose of Liberty's testing of transactions with DE-Indiana and DE-Kentucky was to determine whether the Service Company's practices for charging the utilities for governance and shared services were consistent with the processes and procedures as described to Liberty and with the Service Company Agreement.

Liberty conducted extensive transaction testing of Service Company charges during its audit of DE-Carolinas, a portion of which covered the first quarter of 2007. Liberty identified some accounting issues requiring correction, but concluded that there were no serious issues and that the level of error was consistent with expected levels of human error inherent in such a process. Liberty was therefore comfortable in testing a smaller number of charges for this audit, and focused more heavily on charges in the second, third, and fourth quarters of 2007.

The discussion of Liberty's testing of transactions between the Service Company and the utilities in this section is divided into two parts: (1) direct charges, and (2) allocated charges. Liberty tested transactions amounting to approximately \$2.2 million of direct charges and \$6.1 million of allocated charges.

2. Direct Charges

Liberty selected 28 direct charge test items, which the following table summarizes, from the 2007 audit period, and reviewed them with accounting personnel during testing sessions.

Item	Function	Charge Type	DEI/ DEK
DE		SS Charges	
1	Gen. and Trans. Planning	Labor and loaders	DEI
2	IT PC Network & Software	Outside services	DEI
3	Finance	Journal entry	DEl
4	Legal	Primarily labor and loaders	DEI
5	Gen./Trans. Right of Way	Labor, loaders, contract labor	DEI
6	Call Center	Primarily labor and loaders	DEI

Direct Charge Categories Tested

7	Power Engr. & Construct.	Accounts payable	DEI
8	Rates	Accounts payable	DEI
9	Environ., Health & Safety	Primarily labor and loaders	DEK
10	IT PC Network & Software	Outside services	DEK
11	Accounting	Journal entry	DEK
12	Human Resources	Incentives	DEK
13	IT PC Network & Software	Outside services	DEK
14	IT PC Network & Software	Outside services	Both
15	Trans. Engr. & Construct.	Contract labor	Both
16	IT PC Network & Software	Contract labor	Both
	DE	BS Charges	
17	T&D Engr. & Construct.	Labor loaders	DEI
18	IT	Labor, loaders, contract labor	DEI
19	Marketing/Cust. Service	Accounts payable	DEI
20	Marketing/Sales	Outside services	DEI
21	Facilities	Outside services	DEI
22	Power Plan. & Operations	Labor loaders	DEK
23	Marketing/Cust. Service	Outside services	DEK
24	Facilities	Rent	DEK
25	Power Plan. & Operations	Labor and loaders	DEK
26	Accounting	Workers' comp. insurance	Both
27	Facilities	Rent	Both
28	Accounting/Finance	Journal entries	Both

Items #1, #4, #5, and #9 involve labor and associated labor loaders charged by DESS. Item #25 and a portion of Item #18 involve labor and associated labor loaders charged by DEBS. Item #25 involves labor charges associated with an exempt employee spot bonus, to which unproductive and incentives loaders are not applied. The accounting personnel produced adequate supporting documentation, and validated the charges and loader calculations. DESS records incentives using higher level journal entries rather than applying a loader to labor charges for individual transactions. Liberty did not verify incentive charges for individual DESS test items. Many of these test items also contain incidental charges for employee expenses, accounts payable, vehicles, or materials. Accounting personnel provided support sufficient to verify a Libertyselected sample of these items.

Item #6 involves direct charges for labor and labor loaders by a Midwest call center that takes calls for new service. The call center's costs are typically charged into an allocation pool and spread to the Midwest utilities, which treat them as an expense. Accounting personnel explained that staff at the call center had been instructed to directly charge a small percentage of time specifically for support of new service calls. The charges associated with new service calls must be separately identified because they are capitalized.

Final Report Public Version

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	VII. Transaction Testing	Duke Energy-Kentucky

Item #12 was a journal entry made to recognize special pay incentives and associated payroll taxes. Items #3 and #11 involve journal entries used by DESS to clear out indirect labor pool costs, such as those for unproductive time, fringe benefits, and payroll taxes. Accounting personnel explained that DESS uses year-end journal entries to true up for differences between the loader rate initially used and actual costs for the year. DESS then directly assigns the difference to business units based on how DESS charges its labor during the year.

Item #22 involves a true-up adjustment for incentive loader rates. A DEBS engineering and technical services group wanted to true up the incentive amounts it had charged out on its labor year-to-date. The accounting group performed an analysis to determine the amount of incentives that had been charged to individual business units, and then charged a pro-rated amount of the adjustment to each unit. Item #17 charges are associated with a similar incentive true-up adjustment by a power delivery group.

Items #2, #10, #13, #14, #16, #20, #21, and #23 are charges for outside services. The accounting personnel provided copies of the invoices, and usually included a cover sheet identifying the responsibility centers that originated and received the charge, along with the account number and resource type. For the most part, the accounting personnel were able to reconcile the charges.

Liberty found an exception, constituting an error, in Item #23, which involves an invoice for outside services for a Midwest call center, a portion of which was directly assigned to DE-Kentucky. When asked how the charges on the invoice had been divided among the Midwest utilities, accounting personnel explained that the direct assignment percentage was based on number of customers. The correct percentage for DE-Kentucky was 10.77 percent; however, accounting personnel discovered that DEBS had inadvertently used the DE-Ohio percentage to calculate DE-Kentucky's directly assigned charges in this case. Rather than being assigned approximately 11 percent of the invoice, DE-Kentucky was overcharged approximately \$100 thousand, and noted that the Service Company would likely not correct the error as the 2007 books were already closed.

Items #15 and a portion of Items #5 and #18 relate to contract labor charges, and Items #7, #8, and #19 relate to accounts payable, and accounting personnel again were able to provide copies of the invoices and reconcile the charges.

Item #24 involves charges for facility lease payments paid by DEBS on DE-Kentucky's behalf. Accounting personnel provided a detailed list of leases that indicated the proportion that should be directly assigned to each business unit, and reconciled the charges. Item #27 involves rent-related credits to DE-Indiana and DE-Kentucky. The majority of the amount reflects credits for facilities rent that the real estate group collected on the utilities' behalf. A small portion was a credit to DE-Indiana for a rental payment returned by the landlord. Accounting personnel were able to provide adequate documentation and support the charges for these items.

Item #26 involves the direct assignment to the utilities of the monthly amortization of workers' compensation insurance expenses. Accounting personnel explained that the insurance company provides the business unit percentage distribution, which is based on number of eligible

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	VII. Transaction Testing	Duke Energy-Kentucky

Items #2 and #10 are charges for contract labor, Items #11, #13, and #14 relate to charges for outside services, and Items #17 and #18 relate to accounts payable charges. Accounting personnel provided copies of the invoices supporting the charges, and usually included a cover sheet that showed the responsibility centers that originated and received the charge, along with the account number and resource type. In the case of split invoices, accounting was able to explain how the percentages were derived. Overall, the accounting personnel were able to reconcile the charges.

Item #3 pertains to two sets of journal entry charges to a Midwest-only allocation pool. One set of journal entries was used to recognize expense for 401K incentive matching amounts. Accounting personnel stated that the company recognizes an expense, and then performs a trueup after the actual incentives are paid out in the next year. The other set of journal entries relate to amortization of software and other improvements at a Cincinnati office building. Accounting personnel explained that the nature of these costs were such that the benefit would not be shared across the corporation, and thus were appropriately charged only to Midwest entities through the pool.

Item #4 consists of journal entries used to charge to an accounting allocation pool costs such as depreciation and taxes associated with one of the company's headquarters buildings in Cincinnati. Item #19 involves charges to an environmental, health and safety pool for the space the group occupies at the McGuire station. Item #9 consists of journal entries used to charge an accounting allocation pool for interest expenses arising from the Money Pool Agreement.

Item #6 consists of stock material charges to a Midwest-only meter lab pool. Accounting personnel confirmed that the materials were used by workers throughout the Midwest service territories and was therefore appropriately charged to that pool.

Item #5 relates to a payment of penalty and interest charges resulting from a late payment for withholding to the State of Indiana. Accounting personnel were unable to explain why this charge was assigned to a Midwest-only pool, when the withholding applies to DESS employees. Item #16 involves journal entries to record the expense for phantom stock, which is a long-term incentive for executives.

For all test items, Liberty substantiated that DE-Indiana and DE-Kentucky received the appropriate percentage of each charge from the allocation pools.

4. Operating Agreement and Non-utility Agreement Transactions

The primary objective of Liberty's testing in this area was to determine whether the company's practices were consistent with the processes and procedures as described to Liberty, and with the Operating Agreement and Non-utility Agreement. As part of testing, Liberty examined whether:

- Prices for services provided from DE-Indiana or DE-Kentucky to affiliated utilities, or from affiliated utilities to DE-Indiana or DE-Kentucky, were at fully embedded cost
- Prices for products and services provided by DE-Indiana or DE-Kentucky to non-utility affiliates, or from non-utility affiliates to DE-Indiana or DE-Kentucky, were at fully embedded cost

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	VII. Transaction Testing	Duke Energy-Kentucky

- Charges were subject to a service agreement
- Charges were accurately calculated and recorded.

As discussed in Chapter VI of this report, accounting personnel provided Liberty with data on inter-company charges that involved DE-Indiana or DE-Kentucky, but were not able to separately identify those that pertained to the two merger-related agreements. Liberty could therefore not screen out from its sample population charges not covered by these agreements. The problem is most relevant to transactions among the utilities, and in particular those between DE-Kentucky and DE-Ohio, because of the existence of substantial contracts between the two parties. The next chart summarizes inter-company changes involving DE-Indiana and DE-Kentucky as either provider or client; BDMS processed all charges.



To allow for the possibility that some selected test items would not be covered by the Operating Agreement or Non-utility Agreement, Liberty increased the sample size. Liberty selected for testing thirty-seven groups of charges totaling approximately **constrained**, and reviewed them with accounting personnel during testing sessions. The following table summarizes these 37 groups.

Item	From	То	Charge Type
DE Ke	ntucky as Provider	•	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
1	DE-Kentucky	KO Transmission	Labor and loaders
2	DE-Kentucky	KO Transmission	Accounts payable
3	DE-Kentucky	Duke Energy One	Labor and loaders; vehicles; journal entries
4	DE-Kentucky	DE-Carolinas	Journal entries
5	DE-Kentucky	DE-Carolinas	Primarily labor and loaders
6	DE-Kentucky	DE-Ohio	Accounts payable
7	DE-Kentucky	DE-Ohio	Labor and loaders

Charge	Categories	Tested	
	Caregoineo	reorea	
	1		
----------------------	-------------------	----------------------	--
8	DE-Kentucky	DE-Indiana	Accounts payable
9	DE-Kentucky	DE-Indiana	Accounts payable
10	DE-Kentucky	DE-Indiana	Inventory
DE-Ke	ntucky as Client		
			Labor and loaders;
11	DE-Indiana	DE-Kentucky	inventory; journal entries
12	DE-Indiana	DE-Kentucky	Accounts payable
13	DE-Ohio	DE-Kentucky	Labor and loaders
14	DE-Ohio	DE-Kentucky	Primarily labor and loaders and AP
15	DE-Ohio	DE-Kentucky	Primarily inventory
16	DE-Ohio	DE-Kentucky	Labor and loaders; AP and inventory
17	DE-Ohio	DE-Kentucky	Labor and loaders; AP; inventory; journal entries
18	DE-Ohio	DE-Kentucky	Labor and loaders; inventory
	diana as Provider		
19	DE-Indiana	DE-Ohio	Accounts payable
20	DE-Indiana	DE-Ohio	Labor and loaders
21	DE-Indiana	DE-Ohio	Accounts payable
22	DE-Indiana	DE-Ohio	Labor and loaders; journal entry
23	DE-Indiana	DE-Ohio	Inventory
			Labor and loaders;
24	DE-Indiana	DE-Ohio	vehicles
25	DE-Indiana	DE-Kentucky	Labor and loaders
26	DE-Indiana	DE-Kentucky	Accounts payable
27	DE-Indiana	Cinergy Power Gen	Labor and loaders
28	DE-Indiana	Cinergy Power Gen	Journal entry
29	DE-Indiana	Duke Energy One	Journal entry
30	DE-Indiana	DE-Carolinas	Journal entry
DE-Indiana as Client			
31	DE-Ohio	DE-Indiana	Labor and loaders; vehicles; inventory
32	DE-Ohio	DE-Indiana	Accounts payable
33	DE-Ohio	DE-Indiana	Primarily labor and loaders
34	DE-Ohio	DE-Indiana	Primarily labor and loaders and inventory

35	DE-Kentucky	DE-Indiana	Accounts payable; inventory
36	Cinergy Capital & Trading	DE-Indiana	Labor and loaders
37	Cinergy Corp	DE-Indiana	Journal entries

Items #1, #7, #13, #20, #25, #27, and #36, along with portions of Items #3, #5 #11, #14, #16, #18, #22, #24, #31, #33, and #34, involve charges for labor and associated loaders. Accounting personnel were able to validate the charges and loader calculations. Overhead was not included as part of the test item charges, as it was applied later during a true-up procedure. Item #36, however, involves labor-related charges from Cinergy Capital and Trading. Non-utility affiliates did not charge overhead (see Chapter VI of this report), which Liberty believes was reasonable under the circumstances. Many of these test items also contained charges for vehicles, inventory, or accounts payable, but it was generally not clear if these charges were related to the work performed or if they were stand-alone charges.

Item #4 involves a series of manual journal entries to charge DE-Carolinas for mutual assistance. Accounting personnel indicated that these charges were made in February 2007, before the BDMS labor system was set up to bill DE-Carolinas directly. Accounting personnel used journal entries to move the correct amount of labor and loaders to DE-Carolinas, using separate line items to identify each resource type.

Items #2, #6, #8, #9, #12, #19, #21, #32, and portions of Item #14 consist of pass-through invoice charges. The accounting personnel provided copies of the invoices, often with a cover sheet showing the responsibility centers that originated and received the charge, along with the account number and resource type. In the case of split invoices, accounting was able to explain how the percentages were derived. Overall, the accounting personnel were able to reconcile the charges.

A portion of item #3 involves a journal entry credit of approximately \$31 thousand for revenues collected by DE-Kentucky on behalf of Duke Energy One. Item #37 and a portion of Item #11 involve journal entries for interest expense charges under the Money Pool Agreement from Cinergy Corp. to DE-Indiana in one case and from DE-Indiana to DE-Kentucky in the other case. Item #29 involves a journal entry credit to Duke Energy One from DE-Indiana for rent collected on the affiliate's behalf. Item #28 was a journal entry for \$260 thousand that Liberty later learned related to a transferred capital asset. Item #30 consists of journal entries that reflect the true-up for overhead that accounting applied to labor charged by DE-Indiana to DE-Carolinas through November. Accounting personnel were able to provide supporting documentation and reconcile the charges in these items.

Items #10, #15, and #23, along with portions of Items #16, #18, #31, and #34, involve charges for transfers of inventory items, which are asset transfers. In cases, the inventory items did not relate to work being provided under the two merger-related agreements. Item #15 involved inventory charges totaling \$776 thousand, the largest single item being \$640 thousand. Accounting personnel indicated that DE-Ohio had purchased transformers and then transferred

Final Report Public Version	VII. Transaction Testing	Audit of Merger-Related Agreements Duke Energy-Kentucky

some to DE-Kentucky. In this case, however, DE-Ohio placed the transformers into its own inventory first, rather than simply splitting the invoice charges.

Some of the test items were affiliate transactions, but not those related to the merger-related agreements. Item #35 involves inventory and accounts payable charges from DE-Kentucky to DE-Indiana; they were not related to the Operating Agreement. Item #26 involved accounts payable charges from DE-Indiana to DE-Kentucky not related to the Operating Agreement. Item #17 involves charges to DE-Kentucky from DE-Ohio subject to one of the facilities agreements between the parties, the majority of which related to coal. The majority of item #22 involved a journal entry charge from DE-Indiana to DE-Ohio that was not related to work provided under the Operating Agreement.

Liberty also reviewed the details of several labor-related charges from DE-Carolinas to DE-Indiana and DE-Kentucky, *i.e.*, charges that originated in FMIS rather than BDMS. The next table summarizes total charges from DE-Carolinas for labor and associated loaders.

新国际和国际	

Liberty sought to substantiate that DE-Carolinas applied the appropriate payroll loaders for payroll taxes, unproductive time, incentives, and fringe benefits, and that it applied the correct percentage for overhead. Liberty selected eight separate charges for testing, as listed on the next table.

Item	Month	То
1	January	DE-Indiana
2	March	DE-Indiana
3	March	DE-Indiana
4	April	DE-Indiana
5	May	DE-Indiana
6	May	DE-Indiana
7	November	DE-Indiana
8	January	DE-Kentucky

Liberty found that DE-Carolinas did not apply a loader for unproductive time to the January charges in Items #1 and #8. Accounting personnel explained that there was an error in how the loader was calculated for the particular DE-Carolinas responsibility center. Accounting personnel had later identified the error and corrected the mistake for all labor charged from this center; however, they did not in turn assign a portion of the correction to the labor charged out to affiliates. Consequently, DE-Indiana and DE-Kentucky were charged less than fully embedded cost. Assuming an average unproductive rate of 10 percent, the shortfall was approximately \$300 for DE-Indiana and \$85 for DE-Kentucky for these items. DE-Carolinas also failed to apply the

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	VII. Transaction Testing	Duke Energy-Kentucky

overhead loader at the time of the original charges, but corrected the error with a journal entry later in the year.

Liberty found that DE-Carolinas did not apply payroll taxes for Items #2 and #4. Accounting personnel explained that there was an error in how the particular responsibility center was identified in the system and the payroll tax processing step was never applied. DE-Carolinas did not fix the error until May. DE-Indiana was therefore charged less than fully embedded cost. The shortfall was approximately \$100 for these items.

Liberty found that DE-Carolinas calculated the overhead loader dollars for Items #3 and #6 on an incorrect basis as the result of an error. The overhead loader percentage should be applied to labor charges; in this case, FMIS correctly calculated it, but applied the loader to both labor and unproductive charges (because the unproductive charges were incorrectly assigned a labor resource code) so that the overhead amount was overstated. DE-Indiana was therefore charged more than fully embedded cost by approximately \$850 for this item.

Liberty substantiated that DE-Carolinas correctly calculated labor loaders for Items #5 and #7.

C. Conclusions

1. Service Company transaction testing identified relatively few errors, only one of which significantly affected the utilities' books.

Liberty selected and tested nearly fifty categories of charges to DE-Indiana and DE-Kentucky from the Service Company. In nearly all cases, the charges were correct and adequately supported.

Liberty identified only one significant error related to an invoice for outside services for a Midwest call center. The Service Company directly assigns to Midwest utilities a portion of charges for such services based on number of customers. For the sample invoice, DEBS had inadvertently used the DE-Ohio percentage to calculate DE-Kentucky's directly assigned charges. This error resulted in an overcharge to DE-Kentucky of approximately \$100 thousand. Accounting personnel indicated that the Service Company would likely not correct the error as the 2007 books were already closed.

2. Testing of transactions subject to the Operating Agreement and Non-utility Agreement and processed within BDMS identified no significant errors.

The majority of charges to and from DE-Kentucky and DE-Indiana under the Operating Agreement and Non-utility Agreement are processed within BDMS. Liberty selected and tested nearly forty categories of inter-company charges involving DE-Indiana, DE-Kentucky, and non-Service Company affiliates processed through BDMS. A large portion of them related to transactions under these two merger-related agreements. Liberty found that the charges were correct and adequately supported.

3. Labor charges from DE-Carolinas to DE-Indiana and DE-Kentucky contained a significant number of errors. (*Recommendation #1*)

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	VII. Transaction Testing	Duke Energy-Kentucky

Liberty selected and tested eight separate sets of loaded labor charges from DE-Carolinas to the two Midwest utilities. Liberty found during its testing that DE-Carolinas had errors in six of the eight charges. In two cases, the utility did not apply a loader for unproductive time, and in two other cases, it did not apply a loader for payroll taxes. These errors meant that the client utility was charged less than fully embedded cost. For two other test items, DE-Carolinas calculated an incorrect overhead amount due to the use of an erroneous resource code such that the client utility was charged more than fully embedded cost. Given the high proportion of errors in the sample, it is reasonable to assume that there were other errors in how FMIS calculated loaded labor charges during the audit period.

D. Recommendations

1. Implement a more rigorous quality control review process for the calculation of loaded labor charges in FMIS. (Conclusion #3)

Given the relatively high percentage of errors that Liberty identified during testing, the current process to review the calculation of fully loaded labor in FMIS is not sufficiently rigorous. Duke Energy should develop and institute enhancements to its quality control procedures in order to test all aspects that may influence the accuracy of the calculation of labor loaders, including manual inputs and the logic of computer algorithms. Liberty also recommends that the internal audit group include a review of FMIS labor loader calculations in its next audit. This is particularly important since the Midwest will convert to FMIS in mid-2008 and the impact of such errors could become more widespread and significant.

VIII. Utility Money Pool Agreement

A. Background

Liberty reviewed the Utility Money Pool Agreement and the operation of the money pool for reasonableness to DE-Kentucky and its customers. DE-Kentucky entered into the Utility Money Pool Agreement as of January 2, 2007 to manage its cash and working capital requirements. The terms of the agreement are substantially similar to a prior agreement dated April 3, 2006. That earlier agreement itself replaced a pre-merger utility money pool at the Cinergy companies. The parties to the new agreement are Duke Energy, Cinergy, DE-Kentucky, DE-Carolinas, DE-Ohio, Miami Power, KO Transmission Company, DEBS, and DESS. According to the agreement:

The parties from time to time have the need to borrow funds on a short-term basis. Some of the parties from time to time have funds available to loan on a short-term basis. The parties desire to establish a cash management program (the "Utility Money Pool") to coordinate and provide for certain of their short-term cash and working capital requirements.

The intent of the money pool is to use corporate cash more efficiently by pooling the daily excesses and deficits of funds among the utility entities and their supporting service companies. Borrowing from the other participants allows the members to save transaction costs and letter-of-credit fees, and to incur borrowing costs lower than the costs of borrowing directly from the financial markets. The money pool also consolidates the smaller external borrowing programs of the individual utilities into one "name" program through Duke Energy. The parent has a better-established market for its commercial paper, which also currently produces somewhat better pricing and borrowing availability.

B. Findings

1. 2007 Money Pool Borrowing and Investing

The following table summarizes DE-Kentucky money pool investments and borrowings for 2007, and provides their weighted average interest rate.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	VIII. Money Pool Agreement	Duke Energy-Kentucky

2. DE-Indiana and DE-Kentucky Monthly Money Pool Activity

The following table presents the average borrowing and investment balances (in thousands of dollars) for DE-Kentucky for each month in 2007.



3. Liberty's Testing of Money Pool Operations

On June 6, 2008, Duke Energy provided to Liberty a demonstration of the daily operations of the utility money pool. Liberty tested the daily money pool information for nine selected sample days. The purpose of the operational money pool testing was to determine compliance with Sections 1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 2.1 and 2.2 of the Utility Money Pool Agreement. which govern daily operation of the money pool.

Liberty reviewed, discussed, and verified nine randomly selected "Daily Detail Packages" for money pool operations for February 26, March 13, April 23, May 9, July 19, September 10, October 22, November 13, and December 14, 2007. The following list describes the tests that Liberty performed:

- Test 1: Review and verify the daily determinants and calculation of the net amount of borrowing or investing required by the utility for each of the sample days. Liberty reviewed and verified the "Current Position" summary sheet for each of the sample days. The net amount of borrowing or investing required is determined by netting the cash opening balance, automated clearinghouse funds in and out, cash concentration account receipt collections, and wire transfers and controlled disbursements sent out.
- Test 2: Review and verify the internal money pool funds available and external funds available for each of the sample days. Liberty verified that internal funds are offered from the utility "lending companies" for each day, as available: the remainder of funds required by the money pool is provided by Duke Energy.
- Test 3: Review and verify the rates on invested and borrowed funds in the money pool for each of the sample days. Liberty verified that rates applied matched the market rate surveys for each date.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	VIII. Money Pool Agreement	Duke Energy-Kentucky

- Test 4: Verify that the amounts of money pool borrowings involving multiple fund sources were determined for each borrower in the same proportion as each source of funds bears to the total available funds. Liberty verified each daily calculation of internal and external funds available and allocated to borrowers.
- Test 5: Verify that the interest rate for internal loans in the money pool was the highest quality commercial paper composite rate for each day in the sample. Liberty verified that the internal funds rates for each sample day matched the "Top Tier Dealer" commercial paper rates, 30-day maturities from Bloomberg.
- Test 6: Verify that the interest rate for "external" loans in the money pool is equal to the lending party's composite borrowing rate for each day in the sample. The Duke Energy loan rates for each date matched the calculation of weighted average Duke Energy commercial paper outstanding.
- Test 7: Review and verify the movement of required funding into or out of the utility for each of the sample days. Liberty verified funds movements through the daily "Money Pool Net Fund Movement" report for each date.
- Test 8: Verify the authorization of the borrowing party's Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, or designee to make each sampled decision to borrow or invest. Liberty verified the delegations of borrowing authority from utility financial officers to Duke Energy cash management employees.

4. Liberty's Testing of Other Agreement Requirements

The Utility Money Pool Agreement also includes a number of other requirements related to money pool operation. Specific requirements for interest expense, interest income and their financial records verification, loan amount verification on financial records, fees and expenses charged to the utilities, verification of compliance with borrowing limits, and other miscellaneous requirements were reviewed and tested. Liberty also reviewed, discussed, and verified the borrowing and investment balances and interest income and expense from money pool operation in 2007.

- Test 9: Verify that the borrowing and investment balances in the Duke Energy "T-man" money pool system tie to the December 31, 2007 notes to audited financial statements. Liberty verified the utility's borrowing balances from the money pool system at December 31, 2007 with: a) general ledger balances; and b) money pool balances in footnotes to its Financial Statements and Auditor's Report for 2007.
- Test 10: Verify that the utility did not exceed its borrowing limits in 2007. Liberty verified that the borrowing limits, as stated in the revolving credit agreements, were not exceeded in 2007.
- Test 11: Review and verify that the interest expense and interest income recorded in the utility's general ledger tie to the utility's money pool records. Liberty verified that 2007 interest income and expense in the general ledger tied to the amounts in the money pool records.
- Test 12: Review money pool investing activity for February 26, March 13, May 9, July 19, and September 10, 2007. Verify the determination of lending sources, amounts invested, and interest rate for each sample day selected. Liberty verified that the investment procedures were in compliance with agreement Section 2.2.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	VIII. Money Pool Agreement	Duke Energy-Kentucky

- Test 13: Determine if fees and costs charged to money pool participants are a passthrough of actual money pool costs. Liberty verified that the utility pays a commitment fee monthly in proportion to their commitment from the Duke Energy revolving credit agreement. Internal money pool operational costs are charged through the Service Company.
- Test 14: Determine the form of promissory notes or legal document evidencing borrowings/investments between money pool participants. Promissory notes are provided to money pool participants only upon request, in accordance with Section 1.8 of the agreement. No parties requested promissory notes in 2007.
- Test 15: Verify that no defaults or amendments to the money pool occurred in 2007. Verified that no defaults occurred during 2007. The Utility Money Pool Agreement was amended on January 2, 2007 to reflect the name changes to the parties; no other substantive changes were made.

C. Conclusions

1. The Utility Money Pool Agreement and the operation of the money pool are beneficial to DE-Kentucky.

The money pool is structured through the Utility Money Pool Agreement to provide lower-cost working capital funds to the participating utilities. Rather than individually accessing the capital markets for short-term funding needs, the money pool provides the utilities with a source of funds, when available from other money pool utilities. Pricing equals the Top Tier Dealer commercial paper rate in the market. This rate is lower by one percent or more, when compared to what the financial markets would offer the individual utilities. The lending utility receives the same investment rate under the money pool. This rate is higher than that available from conservative market investments.

The Duke Energy commercial paper program provides funds (at its cost) when funds are not available from the money pool utilities. The interest rates on these "external" funds are not as low as rates from the utilities, but are lower than stand-alone utility borrowing rates. The money pool also allows its borrowers to avoid certain transaction costs of accessing external capital markets.

2. The utility money pool operations during 2007 met the borrowing, investment, and funds allocation requirements of the Utility Money Pool Agreement.

Liberty's testing of Duke Energy's operation of the money pool determined that it meets the requirements of the Utility Money Pool Agreement. The agreement has specific limitations for the participants that are allowed to borrow and invest in the money pool. The utilities and utility-related subsidiaries of the holding companies may borrow from the money pool. The holding companies may invest in but may not borrow from the money pool.

An important requirement of the agreement is the allocation of the available utility funds to other money pool utilities as loans. When utility funds are available for loans, the borrowing utilities are allocated the use of these lower-cost funds in proportion to their borrowing needs as a percentage of the total money pool borrowing needs. The application of this allocation method serves to fairly divide the lowest cost "internal funds" among the utilities requiring funding. DE-Kentucky borrowed funds from the money pool late in 2007. At this time internal utility funds were not available. However, the rate on the Duke Energy "external funds" was only slightly above the internal rates that would have applied during that period.

3. The money pool records for loan and investment balances outstanding and interest expense and income for DE-Kentucky in 2007 were consistent with its accounting records and financial statements.

Liberty's testing of the loan balances and investment balances of DE-Kentucky confirmed that the financial information in the money pool records and reports tied to the general ledgers, as well as to the Financial Statements and Auditor's Report for 2007.

4. The operation of the money pool meets the other requirements of the Utility Money Pool Agreement.

Liberty determined that the operations of the money pool complied with the following additional requirements of the agreement:

- DE-Kentucky did not exceed borrowing limits as expressed in the revolving credit agreements.
- DE-Kentucky borrowings were from the allocation of utility internal funds, when available. As noted previously, internal utility funds (from CG&E) were not available when DE-Kentucky required short-term funding in late 2007.
- The money pool passes revolving credit commitment fees and money pool administrative charges to the utilities at cost.
- Promissory notes are available to money pool borrowers and lenders upon request.
- No defaults or substantive amendments to the agreement occurred in 2007.

D. Recommendations

Liberty has no recommendations in this area.

IX. Income Tax Agreement

A. Background

DE-Kentucky entered into the Agreement for Filing Consolidated Tax Returns and for Allocation of Consolidated Income Tax Liabilities and Benefits (Tax Sharing Agreement) with Duke Energy as of April 1, 2006. Duke Energy and its "members" under the Duke holding company organization agree to join annually in the filing of a consolidated federal income tax return and to allocate the federal tax liabilities and benefits among the members. The Tax Sharing Agreement governs the consolidated filing and allocation of federal and state income taxes.

Liberty's evaluation included:

- An examination of the agreement's fairness and reasonableness to DE-Kentucky
- The conformity of 2007 quarterly tax estimations, annual tax provision, and tax payment processes with the agreement's "separate company" principles
- Verification that DE-Kentucky 2007 income tax expense as reported in audited financial statements was consistent with the annual provisions for income taxes.

B. Findings

1. The Tax Sharing Agreement

a. Agreement Language

The Tax Sharing Agreement states that, "The consolidated tax shall be allocated among the members of the group utilizing the separate corporate taxable income method..." The agreement defines "Separate Return Tax" as the tax on corporate taxable income or loss of an associate company as though such company were not a member of the consolidated group. DE-Kentucky therefore undertakes responsibility for paying income taxes in the same amount that would be due if it were totally separate from the Duke Energy group of entities.

This "stand-alone" requirement means that the calculation of DE-Kentucky's individual federal and state tax liabilities should be the same as if DE-Kentucky filed such returns as an independent company. If any Duke Energy member's tax liability should exceed its stand-alone liability, the excess gets reallocated to members whose liability is less than their stand-alone liability. Any consolidated tax liabilities still remaining are assigned to Duke Energy.

The Tax Sharing Agreement requires Duke Energy to make calculations for estimated tax payments to comply with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Code on behalf of the members. Duke Energy is also responsible for paying the consolidated federal income tax liability to the IRS. Duke Energy may charge or refund to the members their share of the federal tax liability consistent with the Duke Energy tax payment dates set forth in the IRS Code. After Duke Energy files the consolidated income tax return, it must then charge or credit the members for the difference between their prior payments (or credits) and their tax liability, as filed. This process is known as the "true-up" of the tax liability among the agreement participants.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	IX. Income Tax Agreement	Duke Energy-Kentucky

State and local income tax liabilities also get allocated among Duke Energy members in accordance with the same "stand alone" principles used for federal income taxes. Tax return adjustments made by the IRS and state tax authorities, or by Duke Energy due to amended returns or claims for refund, are allocated in the same manner as if the adjustments were part of the original consolidated return.

b. Duke Energy Income Tax Procedures and Policies

Duke Energy does not have written procedures or policies specifying how to implement the Tax Sharing Agreement. However, Duke Energy does conduct regular implementation activities, which include quarterly income tax estimates, estimated payments, tax provisioning and the allocation of consolidated taxes with the specific intent of meeting the requirements of the agreement.

Duke Energy prepares independent income tax calculations for each of its member entities from a stand-alone, bottom-up perspective. It makes quarterly calculations of estimated tax liabilities for the member entities, which then form the basis for making periodic estimated tax payments. Annual tax provisioning takes place following the close of the books at end of the calendar year, using the full year of actual financial information. The annual tax provisioning process provides the calculation of the calendar year federal and state income tax liability of each Duke Energy member and the consolidation of all income tax responsibilities at the holding company, acting as the tax-paying entity for all of the members.

2. 2007 Income Tax Testing

a. Income Tax Estimates

The tax department at Duke Energy prepares quarterly estimates of federal and state tax liabilities for DE-Kentucky and other tax member companies. The estimating process begins with DE-Kentucky's book Income before Income Tax. The tax department makes the numerous additions and deductions required for income tax purposes in order to produce the resulting Federal Taxable Income before State Income Tax and Federal Loss Carryforward. The tax department then deducts the separately-calculated estimate of state income tax for the quarter, to produce Federal Taxable Income, to which it then applies the federal tax rate of 35 percent to determine the current federal tax liability. Current income taxes are the amounts currently due and payable under income tax regulations; they do not include the deferred tax portion of total income taxes. The state income tax estimate results from a separate, but similar calculation, using the specific additions and deductions specified in state tax regulations.

The quarterly tax estimates accumulate during the year, *i.e.*, the second, third and fourth quarter estimates use year-to-date financial information for DE-Kentucky. The next table presents the quarterly federal and state income tax estimates (in millions of dollars) for DE-Kentucky for 2007.

	Q1	Q2YTD	Q3YTD	Q4YTD
Income Before Income Taxes	\$20.9	\$27.1	\$38.5	\$51.9
Federal Income Tax Estimate (Current)	6.5	7.2	9.1	13.2

DE-Kentucky 2007 Quarterly Income Tax Estimates and Payments

Indiana State Income Tax Estimate (Current)	(1.1)	(1.1)	(1.5)	(2.2)
Tax Payments to Parent		7.7		8.5

b. Accounting Entries and Payments

DE-Kentucky records on its books current and deferred income taxes in the following accounts:

- Current Taxes
 - o Account 236000 Taxes Accrued, Prepaid and Charged during the Year
 - o Account 400900 Income Taxes
- Deferred Taxes
 - Account 410100 Provision for Deferred Income Taxes
 - Account 411100 Provision for Deferred Income Taxes
 - Account 410200 Provision for Deferred Income Taxes
 - Account 411200 Provision for Deferred Income Taxes
 - Account 190000 Accumulated Deferred Income Taxes
 - Account 281000 Accumulated Deferred Income Taxes Accelerated Amortization Property
 - Account 282000 Accumulated Deferred Income Taxes Other Property
 - Account 283000 Accumulated Deferred Income Taxes Other.

DE-Kentucky records entries on its books twice each year to reflect the payment of estimated income taxes to the IRS and the state. DE-Kentucky makes entries on its books to release the income tax liabilities from DE-Kentucky and transfer them to Cinergy; Cinergy in turn releases the tax liabilities to Duke Energy. DE-Kentucky concurrently records an account payable to Cinergy, which in turn records a payable to Duke Energy. The payables become cash payments for the income tax liabilities when inter-company accounts are settled on a monthly basis. DE-Kentucky made an income tax payment of \$7.7 million in July 2007 to Cinergy/Duke Energy to pay for estimated current tax liabilities for January through June. DE-Kentucky made an additional payment of \$36.7 \$0.8 million in December 2007 to pay for estimated current tax liabilities for July through November.

c. Annual Income Tax Provision and Verification

The estimates of DE-Kentucky federal and state current income taxes for the fourth quarter serve as the annual provision for income taxes. For 2007, the current federal income tax provision for DE-Kentucky was \$13,249,840; the state tax provision was \$2,179,672.

Duke Energy also prepares an effective tax rate reconciliation for the tax year. This calculation includes pre-tax book income, reconciling items and deductions for tax purposes, deferred taxes, and total federal and state book income taxes. The reconciliation is prepared on a company-specific basis, and is consolidated for the tax-paying entity. Liberty compared the DE-Kentucky-specific tax information in this reconciliation and the annual tax provision to the audited financial information from DE-Kentucky's Financial Statements and Auditor's Report for 2007. DE-Kentucky's "Statement of Operations" entries for pre-tax income of \$52 million and total income tax expense (including both current and deferred taxes) of \$18 million were consistent

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	IX. Income Tax Agreement	Duke Energy-Kentucky

with both the annual tax provision and the detailed tax reconciliation statement for DE-Kentucky.

The following chart summarizes (in millions of dollars) the key components of the DE-Kentucky federal income tax reconciliation.

DE-Kentucky 2007 meome Tax Components		
Federal Pre-tax Income	\$51.922	
Gross Federal Tax @ 35%	\$18,173	
Permanent Reconciling Items, Tax Effected	\$(0.578)	
Additional Reconciling Items, Tax Effected	\$(1.282)	
Federal Tax Effect of State Taxes	\$(1.152)	
Federal Income Taxes, Total ¹	\$15.161	
State Income Taxes, Total ²	\$3.291	
Total Income Taxes, per General Ledger	\$18.452	

DE-Kentucky 2007 Income Tax Components

Includes an estimated \$13.5 million in current taxes, remainder in deferred taxes

² Includes an estimated \$(2.2) million in current taxes

d. Tax Return and True-ups

DE-Kentucky has made two estimated income tax payments for the 2007 tax year. Duke Energy was preparing the consolidated 2007 income tax returns at the time of this report; the return will be filed on September 15, 2008. The differences between the estimated tax payments and the tax liabilities as filed in the returns will be calculated after filing. These "true-ups" of the 2007 tax liabilities will be recorded on the DE-Kentucky books in the fourth quarter of 2008.

3. Tax Return Amendments and Adjustments

a. Tax Return Amendments

Three amended corporate tax returns were filed for DE-Kentucky during 2007. Each of the amendments addressed the outcome of federal income tax audits for the DE-Kentucky federal tax returns in 1997, 1998, and 1999. The following table summarizes the net changes in federal income tax liability resulting from these amendments.

Return Year	DE-Kentucky Tax Liability Change
1997	\$1,759 in reduced tax
1998	\$16,573 in reduced tax
1999	\$34,833 in additional tax

b. Other Agreement Verifications

Sections 3b, 3c and 3d of the Tax Sharing Agreement address the allocation of environmental taxes, alternative minimum taxes, and general business credits and foreign tax benefits. The environment tax described in Section 3b has not existed since 1996, and is not applicable to DE-Kentucky's 2007 taxes. Duke Energy has indicated that none of the Section 3c alternative minimum taxes generated by Cinergy or Duke Energy have been allocated to DE-Kentucky or

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	IX. Income Tax Agreement	Duke Energy-Kentucky

any of the Duke Energy utilities. Duke Energy also stated that DE-Kentucky did not generate any Section 3d business or foreign tax credits in 2007.

The Tax Sharing Agreement was amended effective January 2, 2007. The purpose of the amendment was to reflect that some members changed names after the original agreement signing as of April 1, 2006, and to revise the list of signatories. No substantive changes to the agreement came with this amendment. Duke Energy is currently considering, but has not yet committed, to make another amendment to the agreement. The company also reports that no other amendments occurred and there were no new or departing group members following the spin-off of Spectra Energy on January 1, 2007.

C. Conclusions

1. The Tax Sharing Agreement is structured in a manner that is fair, reasonable, and equitable for DE-Kentucky and its customers.

The Tax Sharing Agreement entered into by DE-Kentucky provides for federal and state income taxes to be allocated among the members of the Duke Energy consolidated group under the separate "corporate taxable income method". This method ensures that DE-Kentucky will pay the same amount of income taxes as if it were a stand-alone company, and is fair to DE-Kentucky and its customers.

2. The 2007 quarterly tax estimations, annual tax provision, and tax payment processes performed for DE-Kentucky are consistent with the "separate company" principles of the Tax Sharing Agreement.

The quarterly tax estimates and annual tax provisioning for DE-Kentucky use the utility's standalone financial information from its accounting records to calculate current tax liabilities. These estimates and provisions for 2007 were based on DE-Kentucky's actual financial results for each quarter and at year-end. Two tax payments were made to the parent companies in 2007 that were consistent with the estimates for the cumulative tax liabilities for the year at the time of the payments.

3. DE-Kentucky's 2007 income tax expense as reported in its audited financial statements is consistent with the annual provisions for income taxes.

The pre-tax income and total income tax expense (including current and deferred taxes) included in the DE-Kentucky income tax provisions and tax reconciliations matches that included in the company's audited financial statements.

4. Amendments to the 1997, 1998 and 1999 DE-Kentucky federal income tax returns filed in 2007 resulted in small changes to tax liabilities.

Federal income taxes due increased about \$16,500 due to the three return amendments.

5. The 2007 consolidated tax return was not yet been by Duke Energy as audit field work ended.

Final Report		Audit of Merger-Related Agreements
Public Version	IX. Income Tax Agreement	Duke Energy-Kentucky

The Duke Energy consolidated tax return was to be filed on September 15, 2008. True-up entries to adjust the final income taxes due from income statement amounts to the level represented in the return filing were to occur in the fourth quarter of 2008.

D. Recommendations

Liberty has no recommendations in this area.